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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the proxy statement related to thestegt's 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholders are incotedray reference into P
[l of this annual report.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STA TEMENTS

We are including the following discussion to infowar existing and potential security holders gelheraf some of the risks al
uncertainties that can affect our company and ke talvantage of the “safe harbor” protection famfrdlooking statements that applica
federal securities law affords.

From time to time, our management or persons aaim@ur behalf may make forwaldeking statements to inform existing ¢
potential security holders about our company. gifitements other than statements of historicak famtluded in this report regarding
financial position, business strategy, plans andaives of management for future operations, itrgusonditions, and indebtedness cove
compliance are forward-looking statements. Wheaduis this report, forwartboking statements are generally accompanied byses
phrases such as “estimate,” “project,” “predictijefieve,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “target,” “plan,"intend,” “seek,” “goal,” “will,” “should,”
“may” or other words and similar expressions that comiey uncertainty of future events or outcomes. #teztontemplating or maki
assumptions about, actual or potential future satemket size, collaborations, and trends or opagatesults also constitute such forward
looking statements.

Forward-looking statements involve inherent riskd ancertainties, and important factors (many oicilare beyond our compaisy’
control) that could cause actual results to diffeterially from those set forth in the forwdabking statements, including the following: cr
oil and natural gas prices, our ability to raiseaocess capital, general economic or industry ¢immdi, nationally and/or in the communitie:
which our company conducts business, changes inintieeest rate environment, legislation or regulatcequirements, conditions of 1
securities markets, changes in accounting pringjpbelicies or guidelines, financial or politicaistability, acts of war or terrorism, ot
economic, competitive, governmental, regulatory #uthnical factors affecting our company’s operaigroducts and prices.

We have based any forwalabking statements on our current expectations assumptions about future events. While
management considers these expectations and assnsnpd be reasonable, they are inherently sulifecignificant business, econon
competitive, regulatory and other risks, contingesi@nd uncertainties, most of which are diffi¢alpredict and many of which are beyond
control. Accordingly, results actually achievedyndiffer materially from expected results in thegatements. Forwardoking statemen
speak only as of the date they are made. You dhmisider carefully the statements in “ltem 1AskRFactors”and other sections of tl
report, which describe factors that could causeaotwal results to differ from those set forthhie forwardlooking statements. Our comp:
does not undertake, and specifically disclaims, abljgation to update any forwatdeking statements to reflect events or circumste
occurring after the date of such statements.

Readers are urged not to place undue reliancees® ttorwardeoking statements, which speak only as of the datbis report. W
assume no obligation to update any forwimking statements in order to reflect any eventimumstance that may arise after the date o
report, other than as may be required by appliciaweor regulation. Readers are urged to carefeyew and consider the various disclos
made by us in our reports filed with the Unitedt&aSecurities and Exchange Commission (the “SE@irh attempt to advise interes
parties of the risks and factors that may affectbusiness, financial condition, results of opematand cash flows. If one or more of these
or uncertainties materialize, or if the underlyiagsumptions prove incorrect, our actual results way materially from those expectec
projected.




GLOSSARY OF TERMS
Unless otherwise indicated in this report, natg@d volumes are stated at the legal pressure lhabe state or geographic are:
which the reserves are located at 60 degrees HaditerCrude oil and natural gas equivalents aterdened using the ratio of six Mcf
natural gas to one barrel of crude oil, condensatetural gas liquids.

The following definitions shall apply to the tecbai terms used in this report.

Terms used to describe quantities of crude oil andatural gas:

“ Bbl.” One stock tank barrel of 42 U.S. gallons ligualume used herein in reference to crude oil, eosdte or NGLs.

“ Boe.” A barrel of oil equivalent and is a standard corienused to express oil, NGL and natural gas velsimn a comparable
§?K:\(/3all.ent basis. Gas equivalents are determinddruthe relative energy content method by usingdhie of 6.0 Mcf of gas to 1.0 Bbl of

“ Boepd.” Boe per day.

“ Btu or British Thermal Unit” The quantity of heat required to raise the tempeeadf one pound of water by one degree Fahrer

“ MBbl.” One thousand barrels of crude oil, condensate@Ls.

“ MBoe.” One thousand Boes.

“ Mcf.” One thousand cubic feet of natural gas.

“ MMBDbI.” One million barrels of crude oil, condensateNssLs.

“ MMBoe.” One million Boes.

“ MMBtu.” One million British Thermal Units.

“ MMcf.” One million cubic feet of natural gas.

“ NGLs.” Natural gas liquids. Hydrocarbons found in natugak that may be extracted as liquefied petroleas and natur
gasoline.

Terms used to describe our interests in wells andceeage:

“ Basin.” A large natural depression on the earth’s sigfia which sediments generally brought by wateuawlate.

“ Completion” The process of treating a drilled well followed e installation of permanent equipment for thedpigion of crud
oil, NGLs, and/or natural gas.

“ Conventional play” An area that is believed to be capable of producingle oil, NGLs, and natural gas occurring in it
accumulations in structural and stratigraphic traps

“ Developed acreagé. Acreage consisting of leased acres spaced or afdégto productive wells. Acreage included in spganits
of infill wells is classified as developed acreagé¢he time production commences from the initiallin the spacing unit. As such, the addi
of an infill well does not have any impact on a gamy’s amount of developed acreage.




“ Development well. A well drilled within the proved area of a crudd, MGL, or natural gas reservoir to the depth otigraphi
horizon (rock layer or formation) noted to be proiike for the purpose of extracting proved crudeNGL, or natural gas reserves.

“ Dry hole.” A well found to be incapable of producing hydroaarb in sufficient quantities such that proceedmftbe sale of sut
production exceed production expenses and taxes.

“ Exploratory well” A well drilled to find and produce crude oil, NGlay, natural gas in an unproved area, to find a resgrvoir in
field previously found to be producing crude oilGNs, or natural gas in another reservoir, or t@eata known reservoir.

“ Field .” An area consisting of a single reservoir or mutiptservoirs all grouped on, or related to, theesardividual geologic:
structural feature or stratigraphic condition. Theld name refers to the surface area, althoughmay refer to both the surface and
underground productive formations.

“ Formation.” A layer of rock which has distinct charactedstthat differs from nearby rock.

“ Gross acres or Gross wells. The total acres or wells, as the case may behich a working interest is owned.

“ Held by operations. A provision in an oil and gas lease that extendsstlated term of the lease as long as drilling atjmars ar
ongoing on the property.

“ Held by production’ A provision in an oil and gas lease that extendssthated term of the lease as long as the propestjuces
minimum quantity of crude oil, NGLs, and naturatga

“ Hydraulic fracturing.” The technique of improving a wedl’production or injection rates by pumping a migtef fluids into th
formation and rupturing the rock, creating an eitd channel. As part of this technique, sand threo material may also be injected into
formation to keep the channel open, so that floidsatural gases may more easily flow through timétion.

“ Infill well. " A subsequent well drilled in an established spacinig to the addition of an already establisheddpative well in th:
spacing unit. Acreage on which infill wells arelldd is considered developed commencing with thigal productive well established in 1
spacing unit. As such, the addition of an infiglindoes not have any impact on a company’s amoiudéveloped acreage.

“ Net acres!” The percentage ownership of gross acres. Net aceedeemed to exist when the sum of fractionalevsmip workin
interests in gross acres equals one (e.g., a 10%nganterest in a lease covering 640 gross asreguivalent to 64 net acres).

“ Net well.” A well that is deemed to exist when the sumratfional ownership working interests in gross weljuals one.
“NYMEX.” The New York Mercantile Exchange.
“ OPEC.” The Organization of Petroleum Exporting Courgrie

“ Productive well.” A well that is found to be capable of producing togérbons in sufficient quantities such that proseieom th
sale of the production exceed production expensesaxes.

“ Recompletion” The process of treating a drilled well followed the installation of permanent equipment for thedpigtion o
crude oil, NGLs or natural gas or, in the case dfyahole, the reporting of abandonment to the eppate agency.




“ Reservoir.” A porous and permeable underground formation coimgia natural accumulation of producible crude W{ELs and/c
natural gas that is confined by impermeable rockater barriers and is separate from other resesvoi

“ Spacing.” The distance between wells producing from thme reservoir. Spacing is often expressed in tefrasres, e.g., 48ere
spacing, and is often established by regulatoryeigs.

“ Unconventional play. An area believed to be capable of producing cruld®&GLs, and/or natural gas occurring in cumulaicha
are regionally extensive but require recently depetl technologies to achieve profitability. Thaseas tend to have low permeability and
be closely associated with source rock as thisdscase with crude oil and natural gas shale, tigide oil and natural gas sands and coa
methane.

“ Undeveloped acreag€ Leased acreage on which wells have not been drdledompleted to a point that would permit
production of economic quantities of crude oil, NsGLand natural gas, regardless of whether suchagerecontains prow
reserves. Undeveloped acreage includes net aele by operations until a productive well is esistied in the spacing unit.

“ Unit.” The joining of all or substantially all interestsa reservoir or field, rather than a single tréziprovide for development a
operation without regard to separate property @sis: Also, the area covered by a unitizationexrgent.

“ Wellbore.” The hole drilled by the bit that is equipped fatural gas production on a completed well. Adatbed well or borehole.
“ West Texas Intermediate or WTIA light, sweet blend of oil produced from thelfis in West Texas.

“ Working interest” The right granted to the lessee of a property par for and to produce and own crude oil, NGlegural gas ¢
other minerals. The working interest owners bearetkploration, development, and operating costsithier a cash, penalty, or carried basis.

Terms used to assign a present value to or to clégsour reserves:

“ Possible reserves. The additional reserves which analysis of geoseieaed engineering data suggest are less likelye
recoverable than probable reserves.

“ Pre-tax PV-10% or PV-10. The estimated future net revenue, discounted ateaaf 10% per annum, before income taxes anc
no price or cost escalation or de-escalation im@Ence with guidelines promulgated by the SEC.

“ Probable reserves. The additional reserves which analysis of geoseieacd engineering data indicate are less likelyd
recovered than proved reserves but which togetitarproved reserves, are as likely as not to beveed.

“ Proved developed producing reserves (PDP’sReserves that can be expected to be recoveredgthedsting wells with existir
equipment and operating methods. Additional crmijeNGLs, and natural gas expected to be obtaithexzligh the application of fluid injecti
or other improved recovery techniques for suppldingrthe natural forces and mechanisms of primagovery are included inptovec
developed reserveshly after testing by a pilot project or after thgeration of an installed program has confirmedubh production respor
that increased recovery will be achieved.

“ Proved developed non-producing reserves (PDNP’sProved crude oil, NGLs, and natural gas reservaisate developed behi
pipe, shutin or that can be recovered through improved regowaly after the necessary equipment has beeali@dt or when the costs to
so are relatively minor. Shin-reserves are expected to be recovered fromaihptetion intervals which are open at the timehaf eéstimat
but which have not started producing, (2) wellst tvare shuin for market conditions or pipeline connections,(8) wells not capable
production for mechanical reasons. Behjipe reserves are expected to be recovered fromszionexisting wells that will require additio
completion work or future recompletion prior to tstart of production.




“ Proved reserves The quantities of crude oil, NGLs and natural gasich, by analysis of geosciences and engineeratg, ¢an t
estimated with reasonable certainty to be econdlyigaoducible, from a given date forward, from kmo reservoirs, and under exist
economic conditions, operating methods, and govemmregulations, prior to the time at which contsgaroviding the right to operate exp
unless evidence indicates that renewal is reaspraditain, regardless of whether deterministic mybpbilistic methods are used for
estimation. The project to extract the hydrocagomst have commenced or the operator must berraalyocertain that it will commence 1
project within a reasonable time.

“ Proved undeveloped drilling locatioh. A site on which a development well can be drilledsistent with spacing rules for purpc
of recovering proved undeveloped reserves.

“ Proved undeveloped reservesr “ PUDs.” Reserves that are expected to be recovered fromwedls on undrilled acreage,
from existing wells where a relatively major expiurk is required for development. Reserves onilladracreage are limited to those drill
units offsetting productive units that are reastynabrtain of production when drilled. Proved ressr for other undrilled units are claimed ¢
where it can be demonstrated with certainty thatehs continuity of production from the existingp@uctive formation. Estimates for pro»
undeveloped reserves will not be attributable tp @areage for which an application of fluid injectior other improved recovery techniqu
contemplated, unless such techniques have beergaifective by actual tests in the area and irséime reservoir.

() The area of the reservoir consideasdproved includes: (A) the area identified bylidigl and limited by fluic
contacts, if any, and (B) adjacent undrilled parsi@f the reservoir that can, with reasonable o#ytabe judged to be continuous w
it and to contain economically producible crude NIGLs or natural gas on the basis of availablesgience and engineering data.

(i) In the absence of data on fluid @an$, proved quantities in a reservoir are limitad the lowest know
hydrocarbons (“LKH")as seen in a well penetration unless geoscienagnesaring, or performance data and reliable teagy
establishes a lower contact with reasonable céytain

(iii) Where direct observation from wedknetrations has defined a highest known oil (“HK@levation and tt
potential exists for an associated gas cap, proiledserves may be assigned in the structuratijrdri portions of the reservoir onh
geoscience, engineering or performance data aiadbietechnology establish the higher contact wetisonable certainty.

(iv) Reserves which can be produced ecocally through application of improved recoverghaiques (including, b
not limited to, fluid injection) are included indlproved classification when: (A) successful testiy a pilot project in an area of
reservoir with properties no more favorable thathireservoir as a whole, the operation of arallest program in the reservoir or
analogous reservoir, or other evidence using religddchnology establishes the reasonable certaihthe engineering analysis
which the project or program was based; and (B)ptiogect has been approved for development byeadegsary parties and entit
including governmental entities.

(v) Existing economic conditions inclugéces and costs at which economic producibilitynfra reservoir is to |
determined. The price shall be the average duhiegl2month period prior to the ending date of the perodered by the repa
determined as an unweighted arithmetic averageeofitst-day-of-thenonth price for each month within such period, aslprices ai
defined by contractual arrangements, excludinglasoas based on future conditions.

“ Standardized measur& The estimated future net revenue, discounted ateaaf 10% per annum, after income taxes and vo
price or cost escalation, calculated in accordamith Accounting Standards Codification (“ASCY32, formerly Statement of Financ
Accounting Standards No. 69 “Disclosures AboutdDitl Gas Producing Activities.”
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NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013
PART I
Item 1. Business
Overview

We are an independent energy company engaged iactigsition, exploration, development and produrctdf oil and natural g
properties, primarily in the Bakken and Three Fditsnations within the Williston Basin in North Data and Montana. We believe
location, size and concentration of our acreagetiposin one of North America’s leading unconvemig oil-resource plays will provic
drilling and development opportunities that resalsignificant longterm value. Our primary focus is oil exploratiomdaproduction throuc
non-operated working interests in wells drilled arampleted in spacing units that include our aceealys a noreperator, we are able
diversify our investment exposure by participatinga large number of gross wells, as well as emgeimto more project areas by partne
with numerous experienced operating partners.dbiitian, because we can elect to participate oreb-by-well basis, we believe we he
increased flexibility in the timing and amount afracapital expenditures because we are not burdestedvarious contractual developm
agreements or a large operating support staffthByrwe are able to avoid exploratory costs irexitsy many oil and gas producers.

During 2013, we participated in the drilling andnmgaetion of 531 gross (40.0 net) wells in the VEilin Basin. At December
2013, we owned working interests in 1,758 gros$@4et) producing wells, consisting of 1,754 wedlsgeting the Bakken and Three Fe
formations and four exploratory wells targetingeattiormations. As of December 31, 2013, we leagguroximately 187,044 net acres,
located in the Williston Basin, of which approxiragt 107,999 net acres were developed.

As of December 31, 2013, our proved reserves w&r2 i@MBoe (all of which were in the Williston Bagias estimated by our third-
party independent reservoir engineering firm, Ry@eott Company, LP, which represents 25% growibuinproved reserves compared to
end 2012. As of December 31, 2013, 42% of ourrvesewere classified as proved developed and 908tiofeserves were oil. The followi
table provides a summary of certain informatioraregg our assets:

As of December 31, 2013

Productive Wells

Average
Daily
Production Proved % Proved
Net Acres Gross Net ) Reserves % Oil Developec  PV-10@
(Boe per (in
day) (MBoe) thousands
North Dakote 145,33! 1,672 134.7 13,44( 82,77 90% 42% $1,493,03:
Montana 41,70¢ 8€ 11.5 50€ 1,38¢ 88 67 28,25’
Total 187,04 1,75¢ 146.2 13,94¢ 84,16( 90% 42% $1,521,28

(1) Represents the average daily production over tee thonths ended December 31, 2(

(2) PV-10 is a norsAAP financial measure. For further informatiordareconciliation to the most directly comparable Z&FAmeasure, si
“ltem 2. Properties—Proved Reserve3Hie prices used to calculate this measure were789ter barrel of oil (WTI price) and $3.67
MMBtu of natural gas (Henry Hub price), which pscerere then further adjusted for transportatioraliguand basis differentials. T
average resulting price used as of December 38 2@% $88.00 per barrel of oil and $5.23 per Mcfiatural gas




Historically, we have acquired properties by pusthg@ individual or small groups of leases diredtiym mineral owners or from
landmen or lease brokers, as well as by purchdsiage packages in identified project areas coettobly specific operators. We have
increasingly focused our efforts on acquiring prtipe subject to specific drilling projects or inded in permitted or drilling spacing
units. We believe that our history of acquiring ahd gas interests in the Williston Basin, ourlyegrarticipation in the unconventional
development of the Bakken and Three Forks formatmmd the relationships we have established wihv#tious operators within the basin,
provide us a competitive advantage in our effartsdcure additional oil and gas properties withen\Williston Basin.

We seek to create value through strategic acreegeisitions and partnering with operators who haxperience in developing &
producing oil in our core areas. We have targsfgetific prospects and have consistently partieghan drilling programs in the Willistc
Basin. We have more than 25 experienced opergtartners that provide both technical capabilitiesl additional sources for acre
acquisitions. Additionally, through our particifmat in 1,758 gross (146.2 net) producing wells, weee assembled an extensive databa
information related to well performance for diffateareas of the Williston Basin, which helps usleat acquisition opportunities and
drilling programs of our operating partners.

Business Strategy

Our business strategy is to create value for oaredtolders by growing reserves, production and @ashon a cosefficient basis. Ke
elements of our business strategies include:

« Continue Participation in the Development of Ouidting Properties in the Williston Basin as a Nopédbator. Development of ot
existing position in the Williston Basin resourcé&ypis our primary objective. We plan to contintee concentrate our capi
expenditures in the Williston Basin, where we badi@ur current acreage position provides an ait@ceturn on the capital employ
on our mult-year drilling inventory of o-focused propertie:

« Diversify Our Risk Through N-Operated Participation in a Larger Number of Bakland Three Forks WellsAs a noneperator, w
seek to diversify our investment and operationak rihrough participation in a large number of oitllw and with multipl
operators. As of December 31, 2013, we have fatied in 1,758 gross (146.2 net) producing wellshe Williston Basin with ¢
average working interest of 8.3% in each gross,weith more than 25 experienced operating partn@/s. expect to contini
partnering with numerous experienced operatorssaavar leasehold positior

« Make Strategic Acquisitions in the Williston Basin Attractive Prices. We generally seek to acquire small lease positene
significant discount to the contiguous acreagetjors typically sought by larger producers. Astdrthis strategy, we consider ar
that are actively being drilled and permitted andere we have an understanding of the operatorsttaid drilling plans, capiti
requirements and well economics. Historically,veee acquired properties by purchasing individuamall groups of leases direc
from mineral owners or from landmen or lease brekas well as purchasing lease packages in ideshiifioject areas controlled
specific operators. We believe this acquisitiamtsgy will allow us to expand our operations dtaative prices. During 2013, 1
acquired 20,900 net acres at an average cost27$per acre. In addition, during 2013 we sepbratequired working interests in
gross (7.0 net) wells in undrilled locations in eiwe do not hold the underlying leasehold intesefstr a total cost of approximat
$9.0 million. During 2012, we acquired approxiniate7,590 net acres at an average cost of $1,788qgve, and earned an additic
6,450 net acres through fe-in arrangement:

» Maintain a Strong Balance Sheet and Actively Man@genmodity Price Risk Our goal is to remain financially strong, yetxilge,
through the prudent management of our balance siagtactive management of commaodity price volgtilkve employ an acti
commodity price risk management program to bett@ble us to execute our business plan over theeectiimmodity price cycle. O
current program includes a combination of swaps@stless collars on a significant percentage ofeapected production over a roll
24 to 36month horizon. The following table summarizes tiik derivative contracts that we have entered ifto each year as
December 31, 2013:




Costless Collars

Average Average
Contract Period Volume (Bbl) Floor Ceiling
2014 240,000 $ 90.0C $ 99.0¢

Swaps
Average

Contract Period Volume (Bbl) Price
2014 3,750,000 $ 90.4¢
2015 2,880,000 $ 89.0:

Industry Operating Environment

The oil and natural gas industry is affected by yntattors that we generally cannot control. Govegntiregulations, particularly
the areas of taxation, energy, climate change hadcehvironment, can have a significant impact oeratons and profitability. Significa
factors that will impact oil prices in the curreigcal year and future periods include: politicaldasocial developments in the Middle E
demand in Asian and European markets, and the tettevhich members of OPEC and other oil exportiagjons manage oil supply throt
export quotas. Daily WTI oil prices averaged $88p@r barrel in 2013 with a high of $110.53 perélain September and a low of $86.68
barrel in April. Additionally, natural gas pricesntinue to be under pressure due to concernsexomss supply of natural gas due to the
productivity of emerging shale plays in the Unitgthtes and continued lower product demand causedvgakened economy. Natural
prices are generally determined by North Americagppdy and demand and are also affected by impdriswefied natural gas. Weather ¢
has a significant impact on demand for naturalgijace it is a primary heating source.

Development

We primarily engage in oil and natural gas exploraind production by participating on a proporéitsnbasis alongside thighrty
interests in wells drilled and completed in spaaings that include our acreage. In addition, friimme-totime, we acquire working interests
wells in which we do not hold the underlying leasidhinterests from third parties unable or unwilito participate in particular wi
proposals. We typically depend on drilling parsés propose, permit and initiate the drilling oélls. Prior to commencing drilling, ¢
partners are required to provide all owners of pdjfural gas and mineral interests within the desigd spacing unit the opportunity
participate in the drilling costs and revenuesheaf well to the extent of their prata share of such interest within the spacing. uwMe asse:
each drilling opportunity on a case-bgse basis and participate in wells that we exjpesteet our return thresholds based upon our et
of ultimate recoverable oil and natural gas, experf the operator and completed well cost frowhgaroject, as well as other factors. At
present time we expect to participate pursuantitonmrking interest in a majority of the wells posed to us.

We do not manage our commodities marketing adtiwitnternally, but our operating partners genemalfyket and sell oil and natu
gas produced from wells in which we have an inter€r operating partners coordinate the transggiort of our oil production from our we
to appropriate pipelines or rail transport facti pursuant to arrangements that such partnerdiaiegand maintain with various part
purchasing the production. We understand thatpautners generally sell our production to a varmtpurchasers at prevailing market pr
under separately negotiated shiemm contracts. The price at which productiondkl gyenerally is tied to the spot market for dlllilliston
Basin Light Sweet Crude from the Bakken source rigkgenerally 442 API crude oil and is readily accepted into thipefine
infrastructure. The weighted average differemgglorted to us by our producers during 2013 wag8ger barrel below NYMEX pricing. O
weighted average differential was approximately.$84er barrel below NYMEX pricing during the faurjuarter of 2013. This different
represents the imbedded transportation costs inngdke oil from wellhead to refinery and will fluate based on availability of pipeline,
and other transportation methods.

Competition

The oil and natural gas industry is intensely cotitigpe, and we compete with numerous other oil aadural gas exploration a
production companies. Some of these companies $hatantially greater resources than we have.oNlgtdo they explore for and prodt
oil and natural gas, but also many carry on midstrand refining operations and market petroleumadhner products on a regional, nationz
worldwide basis. The operations of other companiay be able to pay more for exploratory prospecis productive oil and natural ¢
properties. They may also have more resourcesftoe] evaluate, bid for and purchase a greaterbeurof properties and prospects than
financial or human resources permit.




Our larger or integrated competitors may be bettde to absorb the burden of existing, and any gasino federal, state, and Ic
laws and regulations than we can, which would ashigraffect our competitive position. Our abilitydiscover reserves and acquire additi
properties in the future will be dependent upon ability and resources to evaluate and select ldaitaroperties and to consumrmr
transactions in this highly competitive environmeht addition, we may be at a disadvantage in pecody oil and natural gas properties
bidding for exploratory prospects, because we fiewer financial and human resources than other emieg in our industry. Should a lar
and better financed company decide to directly aetmpvith us, and be successful in its efforts,buginess could be adversely affected.

Marketing and Customers

The market for oil and natural gas that will bedarced from our properties depends on factors bepandontrol, including the exte
of domestic production and imports of oil and natgas, the proximity and capacity of natural ggelnes and other transportation facilit
demand for oil and natural gas, the marketing ofpetitive fuels and the effects of state and fddegulation. The oil and natural gas indu
also competes with other industries in supplyirgeéhergy and fuel requirements of industrial, comeiaéand individual consumers.

Our oil production is expected to be sold at prited to the spot oil markets. Our natural gasipotion is expected to be sold ur
shortterm contracts and priced based on first of thetmamdex prices or on daily spot market prices. k&g on our operating partners
market and sell our production. Our operating g include a variety of exploration and produttimmpanies, from large publictyadec
companies to small, privatelywned companies. We do not believe the loss ofsamyle operator would have a material adverse effecou
company as a whole.

Title to Properties

Our properties are subject to customary royalterests, liens under indebtedness, liens incidewiptrating agreements, liens
current taxes and other burdens, including othereral encumbrances and restrictions. Our credé@eagent is also secured by a first lier
substantially all of our assets. We do not belinat any of these burdens materially interferénwliie use of our properties or the operatic
our business.

We believe that we have satisfactory title to ghts in all of our producing properties. As istousary in the oil and gas indust
minimal investigation of title is made at the tirmkacquisition of undeveloped properties. In mosses, we investigate title only when
acquire producing properties or before commencewofeditilling operations.

Principal Agreements Affecting Our Ordinary Business

We do not own any physical real estate, but, iktear acreage is comprised of leasehold intesegigct to the terms and provisi
of lease agreements that provide our company tte to drill and maintain wells in specific geoghap areas. All lease arrangements
comprise our acreage positions are establishedj us@ustrystandard terms that have been established andimgbké oil and natural g
industry for many years. Some of our leases maydipiired from other parties that obtained the pabieasehold interest prior to «
acquisition of the leasehold interest.

In general, our lease agreements stipulate thrédoyear terms. Bonuses and royalty rates agotieted on a case-lyase bas
consistent with industry standard pricing. Onagedl is drilled and production established, theskzhacreage in the applicable spacing u
considered developed acreage and is held by produdDther locations within the drilling unit cted for a well may also be drilled at
time with no time limit as long as the lease isdhgy production. Given the current pace of drjlimn the Bakken play at this time, we do
believe lease expiration issues will materiallyeaffour North Dakota position.




Governmental Regulation and Environmental Matters

Our operations are subject to various rules, régus and limitations impacting the oil and natugak exploration and product
industry as whole.

Regulation of Oil and Natural Gas Producti

Our oil and natural gas exploration, production asldted operations are subject to extensive rafesregulations promulgated
federal, state, tribal and local authorities andrages. For example, North Dakota and Montanaireguermits for drilling operations, drillir
bonds and reports concerning operations and imptbss requirements relating to the exploration prmtuction of oil and natural gas. S
states may also have statutes or regulations aldgesonservation matters, including provisionstfa unitization or pooling of oil and natt
gas properties, the establishment of maximum mt@soduction from wells, and the regulation of cipg, plugging and abandonment of s
wells. Failure to comply with any such rules aadulations can result in substantial penaltiese fEgulatory burden on the oil and natural
industry will most likely increase our cost of dgibusiness and may affect our profitability. Altigh we believe we are currently
substantial compliance with all applicable laws asgulations, because such rules and regulatienfeguently amended or reinterpreted
are unable to predict the future cost or impactcomplying with such laws. Significant expenditun@sy be required to comply w
governmental laws and regulations and may havetariabadverse effect on our financial conditior aasults of operations.

Environmental Matter

Our operations and properties are subject to extenand changing federal, state and local laws esgllations relating -
environmental protection, including the generatisiorage, handling, emission, transportation asdhdirge of materials into the environm
and relating to safety and health. The recent tianghvironmental legislation and regulation gefigris toward stricter standards, and
trend will likely continue. These laws and regudas may:

« require the acquisition of a permit or other auitetion before construction or drilling commences &or certain other activities;
« limit or prohibit construction, drilling and othactivities on certain lands lying within wildernesmsd other protected areas; and
« impose substantial liabilities for pollution resndf from its operations.

The permits required for our operations may beestttip revocation, modification and renewal by isguauthorities. Governmen
authorities have the power to enforce their reguiat and violations are subject to fines or infiorts, or both. In the opinion of managem
we are in substantial compliance with current agglle environmental laws and regulations, and hevenaterial commitments for cap
expenditures to comply with existing environmengduirements. Nevertheless, changes in existingg@mental laws and regulations ol
interpretations thereof could have a significarpatt on our company, as well as the oil and nagaalindustry in general.

The Comprehensive Environmental, Response, Comfiensand Liability Act (“CERCLA”)and comparable state statutes im|
strict, joint and several liability on owners anpeoators of sites and on persons who disposed afranged for the disposal ofidzardou
substancesfound at such sites. It is not uncommon for thehleoring landowners and other third parties todlems for personal injury a
property damage allegedly caused by the hazarddistamces released into the environment. The BeResource Conservation and Reco
Act (“RCRA") and comparable state statutes govéra disposal of “solid waste” and “hazardous wasteti authorize the imposition
substantial fines and penalties for noncompliangithough CERCLA currently excludes petroleum froms definition of ‘hazardou
substance,” state laws affecting our operations imgoose cleanp liability relating to petroleum and petroleuntated products. In additic
although RCRA classifies certain oil field wastes‘aon-hazardous Such exploration and production wastes could blassified as hazarda
wastes thereby making such wastes subject to nramgent handling and disposal requirements.




The Endangered Species Act (“ESABeks to ensure that activities do not jeopardimegered or threatened animal, fish and
species, nor destroy or modify the critical habdatsuch species. Under ESA, exploration and prtidn operations, as well as actions
federal agencies, may not significantly impair @opardize the species or its habitat. ESA providesriminal penalties for willful violatior
of ESA. Other statutes that provide protectiomanémal and plant species and that may apply tooperations include, but are not necess
limited to, the Fish and Wildlife Coordination Adhe Fishery Conservation and Management Act, thgrdébry Bird Treaty Act and ti
National Historic Preservation Act. Although wdibee that our operations will be in substantiaingdiance with such statutes, any chanc
these statutes or any reclassification of a spedendangered could subject our company (directigdirectly through our operating partne
to significant expenses to modify our operationsauld force discontinuation of certain operatiaftsgether.

On April 17, 2012, the EPA finalized rules proposedJuly 28, 2011 that establish new air emissiamtrols for oil and natural g
production and natural gas processing operati@pecifically, the EPAs rule package includes New Source Performancel&tads to addre
emissions of sulfur dioxide and volatile organiongmunds (“VOCs”)and a separate set of emission standards to addazssdous &
pollutants frequently associated with oil and naltgas production and processing activities. Ogusti 5, 2013, the EPA issued final upd
to its 2012 VOC performance standards for storagks The rules establish specific new requiremergarding emissions from compress
dehydrators, storage tanks and other productiompednt. In addition, the rules revise leak detettiequirements for natural gas proces
plants. These rules may require a number of maatifins to the operations of our thjpdsty operating partners, including the installated
new equipment to control emissions from compressAtthough we cannot predict the cost to complyhwthese new requirements at
point, compliance with these new rules could resultignificant costs, including increased capigpenditures and operating costs, and ¢
adversely impact our business.

These new regulations and proposals and any odver n regulations requiring the installation of n
sophisticated pollution control equipment coulddavmaterial adverse impact on our business, sesltiperations and financial condition.

The Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972,tbe Clean Water Act (the “CWA”")Jmposes restrictions and controls on
discharge of produced waters and other pollutaritsnavigable waters. Permits must be obtainatisicharge pollutants into state and fec
waters and to conduct construction activities inersmand wetlands. The CWA and certain state atigunis prohibit the discharge of produ
water, sand, drilling fluids, drill cuttings, sedimt and certain other substances related to thanoilgas industry into certain coastal
offshore waters without an individual or generatibiaal Pollutant Discharge Elimination System desaje permit. In addition, the Clean Wi
Act and analogous state laws require individuahptsr or coverage under general permits for disasigf storm water runoff from cert;
types of facilities. Some states also maintairugdwater protection programs that require pernoitgdfscharges or operations that may im
groundwater conditions. Costs maydssociated with the treatment of wastewater ardioeloping and implementing storm water pollu
prevention plans. The CWA and comparable statatstgprovide for civil, criminal and administragipenalties for unauthorized discharge
oil and other pollutants and impose liability ontjes responsible for those discharges, for théscokcleaning up any environmental darn
caused by the release and for natural resourcegimasulting from the release.

The underground injection of oil and natural gastea are regulated by the Underground Injectiontit@bprogram authorized by t
Safe Drinking Water Act. The primary objectiveinfection well operating requirements is to ensilnee mechanical integrity of the inject
apparatus and to prevent migration of fluids frdma injection zone into underground sources of dnigkvater. Substantially all of the oil &
natural gas production in which we have interestléaseloped from unconventional sources that requydraulic fracturing as part of t
completion process. Hydraulic fracturing involthe injection of water, sand and chemicals undesgure into the formation to stimulate
production. Legislation to amend the Safe DrinkMter Act to repeal the exemption for hydrauliacturing from the definition
“underground injectionand require federal permitting and regulatory agndf hydraulic fracturing, as well as legislatigeoposals to requi
disclosure of the chemical constituents of thedBuused in the fracturing process, were proposegdant sessions of Congress. The
Congress continues to consider legislation to antbedsafe Drinking Water Act to subject hydrauliacturing operations to regulation un
the Act’s Underground Injection Control Progranréquire disclosure of chemicals used in the hydrdrdcturing process.




Scrutiny of hydraulic fracturing activities contiesiin other ways. The federal government is ctiyremdertaking several studies
hydraulic fracturings potential impacts. Several states, including tdea and North Dakota where our properties aretddgahave als
proposed or adopted legislative or regulatory igg&ins on hydraulic fracturing. We cannot predidtether any other legislation will ever
enacted and if so, what its provisions would Headditional levels of regulation and permits weequired through the adoption of new [
and regulations at the federal or state level, Wisimuld lead to delays, increased operating cogtspaocess prohibitions that would materi
adversely affect our revenue and results of opmrati

The National Environmental Policy Act, or NEP@stablishes a national environmental policy andlggdor the protectio
maintenance and enhancement of the environmenpranéies a process for implementing these goalsimfederal agencies. A major fede
agency action having the potential to significanthpact the environment requires review under NERFany of the activities of our third-
party operating partners are covered under catmgjoexclusions which results in a shorter NEPA eeviprocess. The Council
Environmental Quality has announced an intentioretovigorate NEPA reviews and on March 12, 20%8uéd final guidance that may re
in longer review processes that could lead to dekmyd increased costs that could materially adieeséect our revenues and results
operations.

Climate Change

Significant studies and research have been deuotetimate change and global warming, and climdtenge has developed int
major political issue in the United States and glgh Certain research suggests that greenhousergasions contribute to climate change
pose a threat to the environment. Recent sciemg@Bearch and political debate has focused ingpacarbon dioxide and methane incident
oil and natural gas exploration and production.

In the United States, legislative and regulatoiijatives are underway to limit greenhouse gas (&Hemissions. The U.S. Congr
has considered legislation that would control GH@ssions through a “cap and tradg'bgram and several states have already implenr
programs to reduce GHG emissions. The U.S. Supfemet determined that GHG emissions fall withie fliederal Clean Air Act, or tl
CAA, definition of an “air pollutant,”and in response the EPA promulgated an endangefineittig paving the way for regulation of Gt
emissions under the CAA. In 2010, the EPA issudida rule, known as the “Tailoring Rulethat makes certain large stationary source:
modification projects subject to permitting requients for greenhouse gas emissions under the @lieakct, although on October 15, 20:
the U.S. Supreme Court announced it will revieweasp of the rule in 2014. In 2013, one state, Galor proposed the imposition of cont
on methane emissions from oil and gas facilitied rere have been formal requests filed with tlieifal government that the EPA res
emissions of methane from oil and gas faciliti&s. the extent our third party operating partners @quired to further control meth:
emissions, such controls could impact our business.

In addition, in September 2009, the EPA issuedal fiule requiring the reporting of GHGs from sified large GHG emission sourt
in the United States beginning in 2011 for emission2010. On November 30, 2010, the EPA publishédihal rule expanding its existi
GHG emissions reporting to include onshore andhoffs oil and natural gas systems beginning in 2@ar third party operating partners
required to report their greenhouse gas emissindsruhese rules. Because regulation of GHG eamisss relatively new, further regulatc
legislative and judicial developments are likelyoimeur. Such developments may affect how these @Giitiatives will impact us. Moreove
while the U.S. Supreme Court held in its June 2@ddision American Electric Power Co. v. Connectibat, with respect to claims concerr
GHG emissions, the federal common law of nuisanae aisplaced by the federal Clean Air Act, the Ctaft open the question of whether
claims against sources of GHG emissions allegingégnty damage may proceed under state commonTaere thus remains some litigat
risk for such claims. Due to the uncertainties@umding the regulation of and other risks assediatith GHG emissions, we cannot pre
the financial impact of related developments on us.

Legislation or regulations that may be adoptedddress climate change could also affect the mafketsur products by making ¢
products more or less desirable than competingcesunf energy. To the extent that our productscampeting with higher greenhouse
emitting energy sources, our products would beconme desirable in the market with more stringentithtions on greenhouse {
emissions. To the extent that our products arepetimy with lower greenhouse gas emitting energyrces such as solar and wind,
products would become less desirable in the mavikbtmore stringent limitations on greenhouse gasssions. We cannot predict with
certainty at this time how these possibilities ra#fect our operations.




The majority of scientific studies on climate charsyiggest that stronger storms may occur in thedun the areas where we opel
although the scientific studies are not unanimoAlhough operators may take steps to mitigate jglaysisks from storms, no assurance ca
given that future storms will not have a materilerse effect on our business.

Employees

We currently have 20 full time employees. As drdl production activities continue to increase, way hire additional technical
administrative personnel as appropriate. We doemrpect a significant change in the number of tinlle employees over the next 12 moi
based upon our currentpyrojected business plan. We are using and wiltiooa to use the services of independent conssliamd contracto
to perform various professional services. We belithat this use of thirdarty service providers enhances our ability totaiongeneral ar
administrative expenses.

Office Locations

Our executive offices are located at 315 Manitolvarue, Suite 200, Wayzata, Minnesota 55391. Oluceoffpace consists of 4,€
square feet of leased space. We believe our dwfice space is sufficient to meet our needslierforeseeable future.

Organizational Background

Our company took its present form on March 20, 20@Ten Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. (“Northernd Nevada corporation engal
in our current business, merged with and into adosaliary, with Northern remaining as the survivicgyporation (the “Merger”)Northerr
then merged into us, and we were the survivingaapn. We then changed our name to Northern @il@as, Inc. As a result of the Mert
Northern was deemed to be the acquiring companyfif@ncial reporting purposes and the transacti@s wccounted for as a reve
merger. Our primary operations are now those fosmaperated by Northern as well as other busiaesisities since March 2007.

On June 30, 2010, we reincorporated in the StaMimhesota from the State of Nevada pursuant tiaa gf merger between Northe
Oil and Gas, Inc., a Nevada corporation, and Nortl@il and Gas, Inc., a Minnesota corporation ammbNy-owned subsidiary of the Neve
corporation. Upon the reincorporation, each outditeg certificate representing shares of the Newadporations common stock was deem
without any action by the holders thereof, to repre the same number and class of shares of oysarors common stock. As of June
2010, the rights of our shareholders began to berged by Minnesota corporation law and our cureetitles of incorporation and bylaws.

Available Information — Reports to Security Holders

Our website address is www.northernoil.coriVe make available on this website, free of ceamur annual reports on Form KO-
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reportsFomm 8K and amendments to those reports as soon as eddgquracticable after v
electronically file those materials with, or furnithose materials to, the SEC. These filings &e available to the public at the SE®ublic
Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Room 1580, Wgtsim, DC 20549. The public may obtain information the operation of the Puk
Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-%B30. Electronic filings with the SEC are also imlde on the SEC internet website

WWW.SeC.JoV.

We have also posted to our website our Audit ComemiCharter, Compensation Committee Charter, Namm&ommittee Chart
and our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, iitiaddo all pertinent company contact information.




Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risks Related to our Business

Oil and natural gas prices are volatile. A protraad period of depressed oil and natural gas pricesild adversely affect our financi
position, results of operations and cash flo

The oil and natural gas markets are very volagite] we cannot predict future oil and natural gasepr The prices we receive for
oil and natural gas production heavily influences i@venue, profitability, access to capital antife rate of growth. The prices we receive
our production and the levels of our productionaetebon numerous factors beyond our control. Tlesers include, but are not limited
the following:

» changes in global supply and demand for oil andrahtas;

- the actions of OPEC and other major oil produciogntries;

« the price and quantity of imports of foreign oidamatural gas;

« political and economic conditions, including emhasg, in oil-producing countries or affecting otbéfproducing activity;
« the level of global oil and natural gas exploratéon production activity;

« the level of global oil and natural gas inventaries

« weather conditions;

« technological advances affecting energy consumption

« domestic and foreign governmental regulations;

« proximity and capacity of oil and natural gas pipe$ and other transportation facilities;

« the price and availability of competitors’ suppl@il and natural gas in captive market aread; an
« the price and availability of alternative fuels.

Lower oil and natural gas prices may not only daseeour revenues but also may reduce the amouwit ahd natural gas that ¢
operators can produce economically and thereforengially lower our reserve bookings. A substdrdraextended decline in oil or natural
prices may result in impairments of our proved anld natural gas properties and may materially ahebraely affect our future busine
financial condition, results of operations, liqwydor ability to finance planned capital expendisir To the extent commaodity prices rece
from production are insufficient to fund plannedpital expenditures, we may be required to redu@nding or borrow or issue additio
equity to cover any such shortfall. Lower oil amatural gas prices may also reduce the amount ioborrowing base under our revolv
credit facility, which is determined at the disdvetof the lenders based on the collateral valueunfproved reserves that have been mortc

to the lenders and is subject to redeterminatiomftime to time as provided in our credit agreement

Our estimated reserves are based on many assumgtibat may prove to be inaccurate. Any material azaracies in these reserve estime
or underlying assumptions will materially affect éhquantities and present value of our reserves.

Determining the amount of oil and natural gas recallle from various formations involves significamtcertainty. No one ¢
measure underground accumulations of oil or nafgaalin an exact way. Oil and natural gas resengineering requires subjective estim
of underground accumulations of oil and/or natga$ and assumptions concerning future oil and alagas prices, production levels,
operating and development costs. Some of ourvesestimates are made without the benefit of atlgngroduction history, and are |
reliable than estimates based on a lengthy prazludtistory. As a result, estimated quantities afvpd reserves and projections of fu
production rates and the timing of development egjfiares may prove to be inaccurate.
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We routinely make estimates of oil and natural geserves in connection with managing our businesspreparing reports to ¢
lenders and investors. We make these reserve agsnusing various assumptions, including assumptas to oil and natural gas pric
drilling and operating expenses, capital expenédgutaxes and availability of funds. Some of thessumptions are inherently subjective,
the accuracy of our reserve estimates relies ingrathe ability of our management team, resengenerers and other advisors to make acc
assumptions. Any significant variance from thessuenptions by actual figures could greatly affagt@stimates of reserves, the economi
recoverable quantities of oil, natural gas and N@&ttsbutable to any particular group of propertite® classifications of reserves based or
of recovery, and estimates of the future net cémshisf Numerous changes over time to the assumptianghich our reserve estimates
based, as described above, often result in thealagtiantities of oil, natural gas and NGLs we ultiely recover being different from ¢
reserve estimates.

Drilling for and producing oil, natural gas and NGk are high risk activities with many uncertaintiethat could adversely affect o
financial condition or results of operations

Our operators'drilling activities are subject to many risks, imding the risk that they will not discover commallyi productive
reservoirs. Drilling for oil or natural gas can beeconomical, not only from dry holes, but alsonrirproductive wells that do not prod
sufficient revenues to be commercially viable. dddition, drilling and producing operations on @areage may be curtailed, delaye:
canceled by our operators as a result of otheorfacincluding:

« the high cost, shortages or delivery delays of gent and services;

» shortages of or delays in obtaining water for hyticafracturing operations;
« unexpected operational events;

« adverse weather conditions;

« facility or equipment malfunctions;

« title problems;

« pipeline ruptures or spills;

« compliance with environmental and other governmieaetguirements;

« unusual or unexpected geological formations;

« loss of drilling fluid circulation;

- formations with abnormal pressures;

« environmental hazards, such as oil, natural gagetirfluids spills or releases, pipeline or tanktures and discharges of toxic ¢
. fires;

« blowouts, craterings and explosions;

« uncontrollable flows of oil, natural gas or wellifis; and

« pipeline capacity curtailments.

Any of these events can cause substantial logsasding personal injury or loss of life, damageotadestruction of property, natu
resources and equipment, pollution, environmergatamination, loss of wells and regulatory penaltie

We ordinarily maintain insurance against varioussés and liabilities arising from our operationswhver, insurance against
operational risks is not available to us. Additihp, we may elect not to obtain insurance if wéiehe that the cost of available insuranc
excessive relative to the perceived risks presentedses could therefore occur for uninsurablerinsured risks or in amounts in exces
existing insurance coverage. The occurrence ofvamt that is not fully covered by insurance coudde a material adverse impact on
business activities, financial condition and resolt operations.
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If oil or natural gas prices decrease or drillingf®rts are unsuccessful, we may be required to netaritedowns of our oil and natural g¢
properties.

We could be required to write down the carryingueabf certain of our oil and natural gas propertid&itedowns may occur when
and natural gas prices are low, or if we have doamvadjustments to our estimated proved resermeszdses in our estimates of operatir
development costs, deterioration in drilling resut mechanical problems with wells where the tosedrill or repair is not supported by
expected economics.

Accounting rules require that the carrying valueodfand natural gas properties be periodicallyieeed for possible impairme
Impairment is recognized for the excess of bookieaver fair value when the book value of a propesperty is greater than the expel
undiscounted future net cash flows from that prgpand on acreage when conditions indicate theyicayvalue is not recoverable. We may
required to write down the carrying value of a mxp based on oil and natural gas prices at the tifrthe impairment review, or as a resu
continuing evaluation of drilling results, produttidata, economics, divestiture activity, and ofaetors. While an impairment charge refls
our longterm ability to recover an investment, reducesreported earnings and increases our leverage r#tidses not impact cash or ¢
flow from operating activities.

Our future success depends on our ability to reaeserves that our operators produce.

Because the rate of production from oil and natgasd properties generally declines as reserveslegpketed, our future succ
depends upon our ability to economically find og@ice and produce additional oil and natural gaemees. Except to the extent that
acquire additional properties containing provedceress, conduct successful exploration and developraetivities or, through engineer
studies, identify additional behirpe zones or secondary recovery reserves, ouregraeserves will decline as our reserves
produced. Future oil and natural gas productiberdfore, is highly dependent upon our level ofcess in acquiring or finding additiol
reserves that are economically recoverable. Waataamssure you that we will be able to find or asgand develop additional reserves &
acceptable cost.

We may acquire significant amounts of unproved priypto further our development efforts. Developinand exploratory drillin
and production activities are subject to many rigksluding the risk that no commercially produetireservoirs will be discovered. We acq
both proved and producing properties as well asweldped acreage that we believe will enhance drqatential and increase our earn
over time. However, we cannot assure you thatfathese properties will contain economically vabéserves or that we will not abandon
initial investments. Additionally, we cannot assurou that unproved reserves or undeveloped acrgegewve acquire will be profitak
developed, that new wells drilled on our propertiéd be productive or that we will recover all @any portion of our investments in «
properties and reserves.

As a nor-operator, our development of successful operatioeies extensively on thirgharties, which could have a material adverse ef
on our results of operation.

We have only participated in wells operated byddpiarties. Our current ability to develop succesbfidiness operations depend:
the success of our operators. If our operatoraiarsuccessful in the development, exploitationdpction and exploration activities relating
our leasehold interests, or are unable or unwiltmgperform, our financial condition and resultsapferation would be materially advers
affected.

Our operators will make decisions in connectiorhvtfiteir operations (subject to their contractual Egal obligations to other own:
of working interests), which may not be in our bestrests.

12




Additionally, we may have virtually no ability txercise influence over the operational decisionsusfoperators, including the sett
of capital expenditure budgets and drilling locaticand schedules. Dependence on our operators poeNént us from realizing our tar
returns for those locations. The success and timindevelopment activities by our operators wilpdad on a number of factors that
largely be outside of our control, including:

- the timing and amount of capital expenditures;
« their expertise and financial resources;

« approval of other participants in drilling wells;
« selection of technology; and

« the rate of production of reserves, if any.

We could experience periods of higher costs as\aigtilevels in the Williston Basin fluctuate or ifommodity prices rise. These increa
could reduce our profitability, cash flow, and aliif to complete development activities as planned .

Recently, major international oil and gas compatiage publicly announced significant acquisitiord gaint venture transactio
within the Williston Basin. This has resulted ircieased activity and investment in the region. Aivaly in the Williston Basin increas¢
competition for equipment, labor and supplies soaxpected to increase. Likewise, higher oil, redtgas and NGL prices generally incre
the demand for equipment, labor and supplies, am lead to shortages of, and increasing costsdidling equipment, services a
personnel. Shortages of, or increasing costseigperienced drilling crews and equipment and sesvimould restrict our operating partners
ability to drill the wells and conduct the operatiathat we currently expect.

In addition, capital and operating costs in theaoitl natural gas industry have generally risennduperiods of increasing commoc
prices as producers seek to increase productiamder to capitalize on higher commodity pricessituations where cost inflation exce
commodity price inflation, our profitability and sia flow, and our operatorsibility to complete development activities as sched and o
budget, may be negatively impacted. Any delayhm drilling of new wells or significant increasednilling costs could reduce our reven
and cash available to make payments on our delgabions.

Our lack of industry and geographical diversificatn may increase the risk of an investment in oumgpany.

Our business focus is on the oil and natural gdgstry in a limited number of properties that ariengrily in the areas of the Willist
Basin located in Montana and North Dakota. Whileeo companies may have the ability to manage tighkrby diversification, the narrc
focus of our business, in terms of both the induiicus and geographic scope of our business, miaanave will likely be impacted mc
acutely by factors affecting our industry or thgiom in which we operate than we would if our besis were more diversified. As a resu
the narrow industry focus of our business, we maglisproportionately exposed to the effects ofaegi supply and demand factors, delay
interruptions of production from wells in this areaused by governmental regulation, processingaoisportation capacity constraints, ma
limitations, weather events or interruption of fiv@ecessing or transportation of oil or natural gAsdditionally, we may be exposed to furt
risks, such as changes in field-wide rules andlatigms that could cause us to permanently or tearpp shutin all of our wells within th
Williston Basin. We do not currently intend to hden either the nature or geographic scope of usinbss.

Locations that the operators of our properties déeito drill may not yield oil or natural gas in comercially viable quantities
The cost of drilling, completing and operating dlvie often uncertain, and cost factors can advgrafect the economics of a we
Our efforts will be uneconomical if the operatofsoar properties drill dry holes or wells that gm@ductive but do not produce enough ti

commercially viable after drilling, operating anther costs. If the operators of our propertied fliture wells that are identified as dry ho
the drilling success rate would decline and mayesaskly affect our results of operations.
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Our derivatives activities could result in finandidéosses or could reduce our cash flow.

We enter into swaps, collars or other derivativasragements from time to time to hedge our expeptedluction depending
projected production levels and expected marketlitons. While intended to mitigate the effectsvolatile oil and natural gas prices, s
transactions may limit our potential gains and éase our potential losses if oil and natural gaseprwere to rise substantially over the |
established by the hedge.

Our actual future production may be significantlgher or lower than we estimate at the time we reimt® derivative contracts f
such period. If the actual amount of productiohigher than we estimate, we will have greater conlityqrice exposure than we intendec
the actual amount of production is lower than tbéamal amount that is subject to our derivativeaficial instruments, we might be force
satisfy all or a portion of our derivative transans without the benefit of the cash flow from @ale of the underlying physical commoc
resulting in a substantial diminution of our ligityd As a result of these factors, our hedging\diitis may not be as effective as we inter
reducing the volatility of our cash flows, and ier@in circumstances may actually increase thetilifeof our cash flows. In addition, su
transactions may expose us to the risk of losgitam circumstances, including instances in which:

« a counterparty to our derivative contracts is uaablsatisfy its obligations under the contracts;
« our production is less than expected; or

« there is a widening of price differentials betwegsglivery points for our production and the delivgsgint assumed in tl
derivative arrangemer

The present value of future net cash flows from opiroved reserves is not necessarily the same agtineent market value of our estimat
proved reserves

We base the estimated discounted future net caeals firom our proved reserves using am@nth average price and costs in effec
the day of the estimate. However, actual futurecash flows from our oil and natural gas propemidkbe affected by factors such as:

« the volume, pricing and duration of our oil andunal gas hedging contracts;
« actual prices we receive for oil, natural gas B@Ls;

« our actual operating costs in producing oil, naltgas and NGLs;

« the amount and timing of our capital expenditures;

« the amount and timing of actual production; and

« changes in governmental regulations or taxation.

The timing of both our production and our incurrernd expenses in connection with the developmedtpaaduction of oil and natul
gas properties will affect the timing of actualuté net cash flows from proved reserves, and theis actual present value. In addition, the !
discount factor we use when calculating discoufiéaie net cash flows may not be the most apprtgdascount factor based on interest 1
in effect from time to time and risks associatethwis or the oil and natural gas industry in gelnémay material inaccuracies in these res
estimates or underlying assumptions will materiaffect the quantities and present value of ouersess, which could adversely affect
business, results of operations and financial ¢amdi

Our business depends on oil and natural gas trangption and processing facilities and other assétst are owned by third parties.

The marketability of our oil and natural gas depeimdpart on the availability, proximity and caggaf pipeline systems, process
facilities, oil trucking fleets and rail transpdrtan assets owned by third parties. The lack @filable capacity on these systems and facil
whether as a result of proration, physical damagkeduled maintenance or other reasons, could iagihle shuin of producing wells or tt
delay or discontinuance of development plans ferpsaperties. The curtailments arising from thasd similar circumstances may last fro
few days to several months. In many cases, opsrate provided only with limited, if any, notice @ when these circumstances will arise
their duration. In addition, many of our wells a@rdled in locations in the Williston Basin thateaserviced only to a limited extent, if at all,
gathering and transportation pipelines, which maynay not have sufficient capacity to transportduation from all of the wells in ti
area. As a result, we rely on third party oil g to transport a significant portion of our puation to third party transportation pipelines)
loading facilities and other market access poidtsy significant curtailment in gathering systempipeline capacity, or the unavailability
sufficient third party trucking or rail capacitypuld adversely affect our business, results of ars and financial condition.
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Certain of our undeveloped leasehold acreage isjeabto leases that will expire over the next salgrears unless production is establist
or operations are commenced on units containing thereage or the leases are extended.

A significant portion of our acreage is not curhgtiteld by production or held by operations. Uslesoduction in paying quantities
established or operations are commenced on unitsiodng these leases during their terms, the fengle expire. If our leases expire and
are unable to renew the leases, we will lose @inttio participate in the development of the relgieoperties. Drilling plans for these areas
generally in the discretion of third party operatand are subject to change based on various $aittar are beyond our control, such as
availability and cost of capital, equipment, seegicand personnel; seasonal conditions; regulatodytlaird party approvals; oil, NGL a
natural gas prices; results of title work; gathgrsiystem and other transportation constraintdjrdyicosts and results; and production costs
of December 31, 2013, we estimate that we had dethed were not developed that represented 24,68aanes potentially expiring in 20.
21,998 net acres potentially expiring in 2015, 58,6et acres potentially expiring in 2016 and 18&,6&t acres potentially expiring in 2017
beyond.

Seasonal weather conditions adversely affect opers’ ability to conduct drilling activities in the aras where our properties are located.

Seasonal weather conditions can limit drilling gmdducing activities and other operations in oueraing areas and as a resu
majority of the drilling on our properties is geally performed during the summer and fall monthee§e seasonal constraints can
challenges for meeting well drilling objectives aimdrease competition for equipment, supplies aesgnnel during the summer and
months, which could lead to shortages and increasts or delay operations. Additionally, many mipatities impose weight restrictions
the paved roads that lead to jobsites due to theédsngonditions caused by spring thaws. This coindt laccess to jobsites and operators
ability to service wells in these areas.

Significant capital expenditures are required to\ddop our properties and replace our reserv

Our exploration, development and acquisition ati&si require substantial capital expenditures. diiisally, we have funded o
capital expenditures through a combination of démsl from operations, our credit facility, debt issces, and equity issuances. We have
engaged in asset sales from time to time. If owess to capital were limited due to numerous factathich could include a decreast
operating cash flow due to lower oil and natural geces or decreased production or deterioratfchecredit and capital markets, we wc
have a reduced ability to replace our reservesmig not be able to incur additional bank debt,dsdebt or equity, engage in asset sal
access other methods of financing on acceptabiestey develop our properties and/or meet our resesplacement requirements.

The amount available for borrowing under our créatiility is subject to a borrowing base which &tetrmined by our lenders, at tt
discretion, taking into account our estimated ptbkeserves and is subject to periodic redeterntinatbased on pricing models determine
the lenders at such time. The decline in oil artdina gas prices in 2008 adversely impacted theevaf our estimated proved reserves an
turn, the market values used by our lenders toraée our borrowing base. If commodity prices (jrarttarly oil prices) decline, it will hay
similar adverse effects on our reserves and bormpwase and reduce our ability to replace our veser
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We may be unable to obtain additional capital thae will require to implement our business plan, whicould restrict our ability to grow.

Future acquisitions and future exploration, develept, production and marketing activities, will uég@ a substantial amount
capital. Cash reserves, cash from operations arrdwings under our revolving credit facility magtrbe sufficient to fund both our continu
operations and our planned growth. We may recaiiditional capital to continue to grow our businds®ugh acquisitions and to furtl
expand our exploration and development programs.méy be unable to obtain additional capital if arfn required.

We may pursue sources of additional capital throughous financing transactions or arrangementsluding joint venturing c
projects, debt financing, equity financing or othegans. We may not be successful in consummatitefse financing transactions in the ti
period required or at all, and we may not be ableltain the capital we require by other meanghdfamount of capital we are able to r
from financing activities, together with our cashbrf operations, is not sufficient to satisfy oupital requirements, we may not be abl
implement our business plan and may be requiredctde back our operations, sell assets at unateaptices or obtain financing
unattractive terms, any of which could adversefgcifour business, results of operations and firucondition.

Our acquisition strategy will subject us to certaiisks associated with the inherent uncertainty @valuating properties for which we ha
limited information.

We have expanded our operations in part throughisitigns. Our decision to acquire a property \@épend in part on the evalual
of data obtained from production reports and eraging studies, geophysical and geological analgsesseismic and other information,
results of which are often inconclusive and subjeatarious interpretations. Also, our reviewsaofjuired properties are inherently incomg
because it generally is not feasible to performiradepth review of the individual properties involvedeach acquisition. Even a deta
review of records and properties may not necegsaaieal existing or potential problems, nor wilpermit us to become sufficiently famil
with the properties to assess fully their deficieacand potential. Inspections may not always béopeed on every well, and environmel
problems, such as ground water contamination, @reecessarily observable even when an inspectiandertaken.

Any acquisition involves other potential risks, luming, among other things:
« the validity of our assumptions about reservesireuproduction, revenues and costs;
» adecrease in our liquidity by using a significpattion of our cash from operations or borrowingagity to finance acquisitions;
- a significant increase in our interest expensénamtial leverage if we incur additional debt tegince acquisitions;
« the assumption of unknown liabilities, losses atsdor which we are not indemnified or for whialr andemnity is inadequate;
« an inability to hire, train or retain qualified gennel to manage and operate our growing busimesassets; and
« anincrease in our costs or a decrease in our uegesssociated with any potential royalty owndandowner claims or disputes.

The loss of any member of our management team, updrose knowledge, relationships with industry paigiants, leadership and technic
expertise we rely could diminish our ability to cdact our operations, and harm our ability to exeeubur business plan.

Our success depends heavily upon the continuedilootibns of those members of our management tedrases knowledg
relationships with industry participants, leadepstind technical expertise would be difficult tolesg. In particular, our ability to successf
acquire additional properties, to increase our rkese to participate in drilling opportunities amal identify and enter into commerc
arrangements depends on developing and maintaghdsg working relationships with industry partiaips In addition, our ability to sele
and evaluate suitable properties and to consumtreisactions in a highly competitive environmentlé&endent on our management team
knowledge and expertise in the industry. To cargito develop our business, we rely on our manageteams knowledge and expertise
the industry and will use our management tearelationships with industry participants, speifiy those of Mr. Reger our Chief Execut
Officer, to enter into strategic relationships, @thimay take the form of joint ventures with othewrate parties and contractual arrangenr
with other oil and natural gas companies.
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Although all of the members of our management téawve entered into employment agreements with &y, thay terminate the
employment with our company at any time. If we vy lose members of our management team, we mayenable to replace the knowle:
that they possess. In addition, we may not be @mbéstablish or maintain strategic relationshipihwndustry participants. If we were to I
the services of the members of our management teangbility to conduct our operations and exeaute business plan could be materi
harmed.

Deficiencies of title to our leased interests coudignificantly affect our financial condition.

We typically do not incur the expense of a titl@exnation prior to acquiring oil and natural gaases or undivided interests in oil
natural gas leases or other developed rights. Examination of the title history of a property eals that an oil or natural gas lease or «
developed rights have been purchased in error &@arson who is not the owner of the mineral irstiedesired, our interest would substant
decline in value or be eliminated. In such cades amount paid for such oil or natural gas leadeases or other developed rights may be
It is generally our practice not to incur the exgpf retaining lawyers to examine the title to mhieeral interest to be acquired. Rather
typically rely upon the judgment of oil and natugds lease brokers or landmen who perform thevielld in examining records in t
appropriate governmental or county clerk’s offieddve attempting to acquire a lease or other dpeglaights in a specific mineral interest.

Prior to drilling an oil or natural gas well, howay it is the normal practice in the oil and nakugas industry for the person
company acting as the operator of the well to obgapreliminary title review of the spacing unitthvh which the proposed oil or natural
well is to be drilled to ensure there are no obsideficiencies in title to the well. Frequently,asesult of such examinations, certain cur:
work must be done to correct deficiencies in thekai@bility of the title, such as obtaining affidi@vof heirship or causing an estate tc
administered. Such curative work entails expensd,the operator may elect to proceed with a wedpite defects to the title identified in
preliminary title opinion. Our failure to obtain fect title to our leaseholds may adversely affaat current production and reserves anc
ability in the future to increase production anskerees.

Competition in obtaining rights to explore and ddep oil and natural gas reserves and to market quroduction may impair our business.

The oil and natural gas industry is highly compegit Other oil and natural gas companies may s$eedcquire oil and natural ¢
leases and other properties and services we welll te operate our business in the areas in whiclexpect to operate. This competitiol
increasingly intense as prices of oil and natus gn the commodities markets have risen in regeats. Additionally, other compan
engaged in our line of business may compete witlfrais time to time in obtaining capital from invesd. Competitors include larg
companies which, in particular, may have accesgréater resources, may be more successful in treitreent and retention of qualifi
employees and may conduct their own refining anitcbfeim marketing operations, which may give thecompetitive advantage. In additi
actual or potential competitors may be strengthetheough the acquisition of additional assets amdrests. If we are unable to com
effectively or respond adequately to competitivesgures, our results of operation and financiatlitimm may be materially adversely affected.

Our derivative activities expose us to potentiajjudatory risks.

The Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), Federal Ratuy Commission (“FERC")and the Commodities Futures Trac
Commission (“CFTC")have statutory authority to monitor certain segmsasftthe physical and futures energy commoditieskata. Thes
agencies have imposed broad regulations prohibitiagd and manipulation of such markets. With rdgm derivative activities that \
undertake with respect to oil, natural gas, NGlsother energy commodities, we are required to es¢he marketelated regulatior
enforced by these agencies. Failure to comply witth regulations, as interpreted and enforceddduave a material adverse effect on
business, results of operations and financial ¢adi
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Legislative and regulatory developments could hee adverse effect on our ability to use derivativistruments to reduce the effect
commodity price, interest rate and other risks asisted with our business

In July of 2010, the United States Congress enatiedodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumetetion Act (“DoddFrank
Act”), which contains measures aimed at increashmgg transparency and stability of the over-the-teui‘OTC”) derivatives market ai
preventing excessive speculation. In November 218 CFTC reproposed implementing regulations imposing posifiarits for certai
physical commodity contracts in the major energykeis and economically equivalent futures, optiand swaps, with exemptions for cer
bona fide hedging positions. The CFTC's initiakjion limit rules were vacated by a federal canr2012. It is not clear when the newly-
proposed rules on position limits would becomeatite. CFTC rules under the Dodidlank Act also may impose clearing and trade exaa
requirements in connection with our derivativesvatids, although currently those requirements db extend to derivatives based on phy:
commodities in the energy markets and some orfatlupo derivatives activities may be exempt fromsuequirements based on our non
financial end-user status. Regulations issued tmeDoddFrank Act also may require certain counterpartiesur derivative instruments
spin off some of their derivatives activities tgeparate entity, which may not be as creditworththa current counterparty. Such spffs may
occur at any time until mid-2015 depending on ratprk’ decisions to allow a transitional period for a giveunterparty. The legislation &
regulations could significantly increase the costerivative contracts (including from swap recardging andeporting requirements a
through requirements to post collateral which ccadidersely affect our available liquidity), matdyisalter the terms of derivative contra
reduce the availability of derivatives to proteghmst risks we encounter, reduce our ability taetize or restructure our existing deriva
contracts, and increase our exposure to less wmdity counterparties. We maintain an active heglgirogram related to oil price risks. ~
Dodd-Frank Act and rules and regulations thereurdeld reduce trading positions and the markaking activities of our counterparties
we reduce our use of derivatives as a result asletipn and regulations or any resulting changethe derivatives markets, our result:
operations may become more volatile and our cawsfirsfimay be less predictable, which could adverafgct our ability to plan for and fu
capital expenditures or to make payments on our aleligations. Finally, the legislation was intedde part, to reduce the volatility of oil &
natural gas prices, which some legislators atteidutb speculative trading in derivatives and comityddstruments related to oil and natt
gas. Our revenues could therefore be adverselgtatféf a consequence of the legislation and reguis is to lower commodity prices. Any
these consequences could have a material advéesé @i our business, our financial condition, andresults of operations.

Our business is subject to complex federal, stdteal and other laws and regulations that could aatgely affect the cost, manner
feasibility of doing busines:

Our operational interests, as operated by our 4béndy operating partners, are regulated extensiaelthe federal, state and Ic
levels. Environmental and other governmental lamdé r@gulations have increased the costs to plaigedrill, install, operate and abandor
and natural gas wells. Under these laws and reégoatour company (either directly or indirectlyahgh our operating partners) could als
liable for personal injuries, property and natuedource damage and other damages. Failure tolgamitph these laws and regulations n
result in the suspension or termination of our hess and subject us to administrative, civil anchicral penalties. Moreover, public interes
environmental protection has increased in receatsyeand environmental organizations have opposél, some success, certain drill
projects.

Part of the regulatory environment in which we dwsibhess includes, in some cases, legal requirenfientsbtaining environment
assessments, environmental impact studies andios f development before commencing drilling aratipction activities. In addition, @
activities are subject to the regulations regardiogservation practices and protection of corretatights. These regulations affect our busi
and limit the quantity of natural gas we may praglaad sell. A major risk inherent in the drillingaps in which we participate is the need
our operators to obtain drilling permits from statel local authorities. Delays in obtaining regagtapprovals or drilling permits, the failure
obtain a drilling permit for a well or the receipt a permit with unreasonable conditions or costslat have a material adverse effect or
development of our properties. Additionally, thé and natural gas regulatory environment could geaim ways that might substantic
increase the financial and managerial costs of diamge with these laws and regulations and, cormettyy adversely affect our profitabili
At this time, we cannot predict the effect of thisrease on our results of operations. Furthermeeemay be put at a competitive disadvan
to larger companies in our industry that can spthade additional costs over a greater number 8$w&ed larger operating staff.
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Environmental risks may adversely affect our busgse

All phases of the oil and natural gas businesseptesnvironmental risks and hazards and are sutjeehvironmental regulati
pursuant to a variety of federal, state and muaiciaws and regulations. Environmental legislatiprovides for, among other thin
restrictions and prohibitions on spills, releasegmissions of various substances produced in egnctwith oil and natural gas operatic
The legislation also requires that wells and faciiites be operated, maintained, abandoned angimed to the satisfaction of applica
regulatory authorities. There is risk of incurrisggnificant environmental costs and liabilities asresult of the handling of petrole
hydrocarbons and wastes, air emissions and wastewl&charges related to our business, and hiatodperations and waste dispc
practices. Failure to comply with these laws aggltations may result in the assessment of admatiig, civil and criminal penalties, loss
our leases, incurrence of investigatory or remeatitigations and the imposition of injunctive rélie

Environmental legislation is evolving in a manne¥ axpect may result in stricter standards and eefoent, larger fines and liabil
and potentially increased capital expenditures@etating costs. The discharge of oil, natural@asther pollutants into the air, soil or w
may give rise to liabilities to governments anddiparties and may require us to incur costs teedynsuch discharge, regardless of whethe
were responsible for the release or contaminatimhragardless of whether our operating partnerspmetious standards in the industry at
time they were conducted. In addition, claims damages to persons, property or natural resouregsresult from environmental and ot
impacts of operations on our properties. The apfibn of environmental laws to our business mayseaus to curtail production or incre
the costs of our production, development or expionaactivities.

Federal and state legislative and regulatory initiges relating to hydraulic fracturing could resulin increased costs and additior
operating restrictions or delays.

Hydraulic fracturing is used extensively by ourdAparty operating partners. The hydraulic fractuipngcess is typically regulated
state oil and natural gas commissions. Hydraudictéiring involves the injection of water, sand ahdmicals under pressure into formatior
fracture the surrounding rock and stimulate productThe Safe Drinking Water Act (the “SDWAftegulates the underground injectior
substances through the Underground Injection CbfittdC”) program. While hydraulic fracturing generally iseexpt from regulation und
the UIC program, the EPA has taken the positiom hiydraulic fracturing with fluids containing didseel is subject to regulation under
UIC program as “Class llUIC wells. On October 21, 2011, the EPA annouritethtention to propose federal Clean Water Agutations b
2014 governing wastewater discharges from hydrdudicturing and certain other natural gas operatidn addition, the DOI publishec
revised proposed rule on May 24, 2013 that wouldatg existing regulation of hydraulic fracturingtigeities on federal lands, includi
requirements for disclosure, well bore integrityddrandling of flowback water. The revised proposdd was subject to an extended &9-
public comment period, which ended on August 23,320

The EPA has commenced a study of the potentiatemwviental impacts of hydraulic fracturing activitiend a committee of the U
House of Representatives is also conducting arstigation of hydraulic fracturing practices. ThBAissued a Progress Report in Decer
2012 and a final draft is anticipated by 2014 feepreview and public comment. As part of thesmlies, both the EPA and the Ho
committee have requested that certain companiesdarahem with information concerning the chemicatsed in the hydraulic fracturi
process. These studies, depending on their resotisld spur initiatives to regulate hydraulic fuaihg under the SDWA
otherwise. Congress has in recent legislativei@essonsidered legislation to amend the SDWA,uditig legislation that would repeal
exemption for hydraulic fracturing from the defioit of “underground injection’and require federal permitting and regulatory aaintf
hydraulic fracturing, as well as legislative proalssto require disclosure of the chemical constits®f the fluids used in the fracturing proc
were proposed in recent sessions of Congress.UTieCongress may consider similar SDWA legislatiothe future.
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On August 16, 2012, the EPA published final regafet under the Clean Air Act (“CAAhat establish new air emission controls
oil and natural gas production and natural gas gesing operations. Specifically, EPA promulgategivNSource Performance Stand;
establishing emission limits for sulfur dioxide (3and volatile organic compounds (VOCs). Thelfmge requires a 95% reduction in VC
emitted by mandating the use of reduced emissionptetions or “green completions” on all hydraullgafractured gas wells constructec
refractured after January 1, 2015. Until this dataissions from fractured and refractured gasswallst be reduced through reduced emi:
completions or combustion devices. The rules atdabdish new requirements regarding emissions tompressors, controllers, dehydrat
storage tanks and other production equipment.e$panse to numerous requests for reconsideratitmesé rules from both industry and
environmental community and court challenges tdfitied rules, EPA announced its intention to issessed rules in 2013. The EPA publis
revised portions of these rules on September 2B3 26r VOC emissions for production oil and gasage tanks, in part phasing in emiss
controls on storage tanks past October 15, 2013.

In addition, several state and local governmengscansidering or have adopted legislative or ragafarestrictions on hydraul
fracturing through additional permit requiremerdperational restrictions, and temporary or permabans on hydraulic fracturing in cert
environmentally sensitive areas such as watershedisexample, Montana and North Dakota have bddpged regulations recently requir
the disclosure of all fluids, additives, and cheatsaused in the hydraulic fracturing process.

A number of lawsuits and enforcement actions haenhnitiated across the country alleging that aytic fracturing practices ha
adversely impacted drinking water supplies, usewsface water, and the environment generally.eif faws or regulations that significar
restrict hydraulic fracturing, such as amendmeotthe SDWA, are adopted, such laws could make iteneostly for us and difficult for o
third party operating partners to perform fractgrito stimulate production from tight formations wsll as make it easier for third part
opposing the hydraulic fracturing process to itdtieegal proceedings based on allegations thaifspebemicals used in the fracturing proc
could adversely affect groundwater. In additidriyidraulic fracturing is further regulated at tieeleral or state level, our thiggarty operatin
partners fracturing activities could become subjecadditional permitting and financial assuranequirements, more stringent construc
specifications, increased monitoring, reporting aadordkeeping obligations, plugging and abandonmesuirements and also to attent
permitting delays and potential increases in costs.

Any such federal or state legislative or regulatohanges with respect to hydraulic fracturing cocdaise us to incur substan
compliance costs or result in operational delagd,the consequences of any failure to comply bgrusur thirdparty operating partners co
have a material adverse effect on our financiatld@m and results of operations. Until such pegddr threatened legislation or regulations
finalized and implemented, it is not possible ttneate their impact on our business.

Any of the above risks could impair our abilityrtanage our business and have a material advees# eff our operations, cash flc
and financial position.

Climate change legislation or regulations restrinfj emissions of “greenhouse gases” could resulirereased operating costs and reduced
demand for the oil and natural gas that we produce.

In December 2009, the U.S. Environmental Protecfigancy (the “EPA”)determined that emissions of carbon dioxide, metteamn
other “greenhouse gases” (“GHGpPresent an endangerment to public health and theéoement because emissions of such gase:
according to the EPA, contributing to warming of #arths atmosphere and other climatic changes. Baséts findings, the EPA has bec
adopting and implementing regulations to restriotissions of greenhouse gases under existing pomgsbf the Clean Air Act (tt
“CAA"). On September 22, 2009, the EPA issued a final redpiring the reporting of greenhouse gas emissfom® specified larg
greenhouse gas emission sources in the U.S. bagimmi2011 for emissions occurring in 2010. On Nuober 30, 2010, the EPA publishe
final rule expanding its existing greenhouse gasssions reporting rule to include certain petroleantd natural gas facilities, which r
requires data collection beginning in 2011 and répg beginning in 2012. Our operating partnergeveequired to report certain of tr
greenhouse gas emissions under this rule by Septe28h2012. On May 12, 2010, the EPA also issu#diloring” rule, which makes certe
large stationary sources and modification projsatgiect to permitting requirements for greenhowse @missions under the CAA, althougt
October 15, 2013, the U.S. Supreme Court annouitceill review aspects of the rule in 2014. In &duh, the EPA has continued to ad
GHG regulations of other industries, such as thgtedaber 2013 proposed GHG rule that, if finalizaduld set new source performa
standards for new coal-fired and natural fieesd power plants. As a result of this continwedulatory focus, future GHG regulations of the
and gas industry remain a possibility.
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In addition, the U.S. Congress has from time tceetoonsidered adopting legislation to reduce emissad greenhouse gases, thou
is yet to do so, and almost ohelf of the states have already taken legal measareeduce emissions of greenhouse gases printlarilygh th
planned development of greenhouse gas emissiomtones and/or regional greenhouse gas cap and peajrams. Most of these cap
trade programs work by requiring major sourcesrofssions, such as electric power plants or majodpcers of fuels, such as refineries
gas processing plants, to acquire and surrendessemi allowances that correspond to their annuassams of GHGs. The number
allowances available for purchase is reduced eaahin an effort to achieve the overall GHG reductjoal. As the number of GHG emiss
allowances declines each year, the cost or valusuoh allowances is expected to escalate significaithe adoption of legislation
regulatory programs to reduce emissions of greestn@ases could require our thpdrty operating partners, and indirectly us, tout
increased operating costs, such as costs to p@ramsoperate emissions control systems, to acquirgsions allowances or comply with r
regulatory or reporting requirements. Any suchdlegion or regulatory programs could also increthgecost of consuming, and thereby re«
demand for, the oil and natural gas produced by aperational interests. Consequently, legislatom regulatory programs to red
emissions of greenhouse gases could have an adféasteon our business, financial condition arelites of operations.

Regulation of GHG emissions could also result sued demand for our production, as oil and natgaal consumers seek to rec
their own GHG emissions. Any regulation of GHG esiuss, including through a cap-atrdde system, technology mandate, emission:
reporting requirement or other program, could haveaterial adverse effect on our business, restitperations and financial condition.
addition, to the extent climate change results anevsevere weather and significant physical effextsh as increased frequency and sever
storms, floods, droughts and other climatic effeotg own, our thirgsarty operating partners or our customers' operatinay be disrupte
which could result in a decrease in our availalbtalpcts or reduce our customers' demand for ouwdymts.

Further, there have been various legislative agdlatory proposals at the federal and state Ieegisovide incentives and subsidie
(i) shift more power generation to renewable enexgyrces and (ii) support technological advancedriie less energy consumption. TF
incentives and subsidies could have a negativedtpaoil, natural gas and NGL consumption.

Any of the above risks could impair our abilityrttanage our business and have a material adveesd eff our operations, cash flc
and financial position.

Decommissioning costs are unknown and may be sufitséd Unplanned costs could divert resources frather projects

We may become responsible for costs associatedphitiging, abandoning and reclaiming wells, pipedirand other facilities that
use for production of oil and natural gas resen/isandonment and reclamation of these facilitied #he costs associated therewith is ¢
referred to as “decommissioningWe accrue a liability for decommissioning costsoaggted with our wells, but have not establisheyl asl
reserve account for these potential costs in résgfeany of our properties. If decommissioningégiuired before economic depletion of
properties or if our estimates of the costs of damissioning exceed the value of the reserves rengaat any particular time to cover si
decommissioning costs, we may have to draw on fdrm® other sources to satisfy such costs. The afsether funds to satisfy su
decommissioning costs could impair our abilitydods capital investment in other areas of our assin
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Our revolving credit agreement contains operatingdafinancial restrictions that may restrict our birsess and financing activities.

Our revolving credit agreement contains, and amyréuindebtedness we incur may contain, a numbegstfictive covenants that v
impose significant operating and financial resimics on us, including restrictions on our abiliby among other things:

« declare or pay any dividend or make any other idigions on, purchase or redeem our equity interestpurchase or rede
subordinated deb

« make certain investments;

« incur or guarantee additional indebtedness or isst@in types of equity securities;
« create certain liens;

« sell assets;

- consolidate, merge or transfer all or substantiallpf our assets; and

« engage in transactions with our affiliates.

As a result of these covenants, we will be limitedhe manner in which we conduct our business,veadnay be unable to engag:
favorable business activities or finance futurerapens or capital needs.

Our ability to comply with some of the foregoingvemants and restrictions may be affected by eumsnd our control. If market
other economic conditions deteriorate, our abiidycomply with these covenants may be impairedfaifire to comply with the covenar
ratios or tests in our revolving credit agreementany future indebtedness could result in an ewdndefault under our revolving cre
agreement or our future indebtedness, which, ifawoed or waived, could have a material adversecefin our business, financial condi
and results of operations. If an event of defanlter our revolving credit agreement occurs andanesnuncured, the lenders thereunder:

« would not be required to lend any additional amsuatus;

« could elect to declare all borrowings outstandinggether with accrued and unpaid interest and fedse due and payable;

may have the ability to require us to apply albaf available cash to repay these borrowings; and
« may prevent us from making debt service paymendeuaur other agreements.

An event of default or an acceleration under ouohéng credit agreement could result in an evdrdefault and an acceleration un
other future indebtedness. Conversely, an evedefs#ult or an acceleration under any future ineléiess could result in an event of de
and an acceleration under our revolving credit @gwent. In addition, our obligations under the teing credit agreement are collateralizec
perfected first priority liens and security intesesn substantially all of our assets and if we @mable to repay our indebtedness unde
revolving credit agreement, the lenders could $edkreclose on our assets.

Our leverage and debt service obligations may adedr affect our financial condition, results of opations and business prospects.

Our level of indebtedness could affect our operatim several ways, including the following:

« require us to dedicate a substantial portion ofaash flow from operations to service our existigdpt, thereby reducing the ¢
available to finance our operations and other ssiractivities and could limit our flexibility ifgnning for or reacting to chang
in our business and the industry in which we ope

« increase our vulnerability to economic downturnd adverse developments in our business;
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« limit our ability to access the capital marketsréise capital on favorable terms or to obtain aoidél financing for workin
capital, capital expenditures or acquisitions arefiinance existing indebtedne

» place restrictions on our ability to obtain addi@b financing, make investments, lease equipmesit,assets and engage
business combination

« place us at a competitive disadvantage relativeotapetitors with lower levels of indebtedness ilatien to their overall size
less restrictive terms governing their indebtednasd

« make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligans under our debt agreements and increaseskéhat we may default on ¢
debt obligations

Our ability to meet our expenses and debt obligatiwill depend on our future performance, whichl wi affected by financi:
business, economic, regulatory and other factdfe. will not be able to control many of these fasfosuch as economic conditions
governmental regulation. We depend on our revglaredit facility for future capital needs, becauseuse operating cash flows for inves
activities and borrow as needed. We cannot baicetthat our cash flow will be sufficient to allawg to pay the principal and interest on
current and future debt and meet our other obbgati If we do not have enough money, we may beired) to refinance all or part of our de
sell assets, borrow more money or raise equity. nivdg not be able to refinance our debt, sell asbetsow more money or raise equity
terms acceptable to us, if at all. Our abilityctamply with the financial and other restrictive eaants in our indebtedness will be affecte
the levels of cash flow from our operations andifetevents and circumstances beyond our cont@lurg to comply with these covena
would result in an event of default under our inddbess, and such an event of default could adyeaffect our business, financial condit
and results of operations.

Availability under our revolving credit facility idetermined semannually, as well as upon the occurrence of ceeaants, by tt
lenders in their sole discretion, based primarity reserve reports that reflect our bangsdjections of future commodity prices at s
time. Significant declines in natural gas, NGLodrprices may result in a decrease in our borrgwbase. The lenders can unilaterally a
the borrowing base and the borrowings permittethecoutstanding under the revolving credit facilidmy increase in the borrowing bi
requires the consent of all the lenders. If assalt of a borrowing base redetermination outstagndorrowings are in excess of the borrov
base, we must repay such excess borrowings imnegdiat in equal installments over six months, or mwast pledge other properties
additional collateral. We do not currently have aobstantial unpledged properties, and we mahae¢ the financial resources in the futu
make any mandatory principal prepayments requiretbuthe revolving credit facility.

We may not be able to generate enough cash floméet our debt obligations.

We expect our earnings and cash flow to vary sicgnitly from year to year due to the cyclical natof our industry. As a result,
amount of debt that we can service in some penioalg not be appropriate for us in other periodsdifi@hally, our future cash flow may
insufficient to meet our debt obligations and comnmeints. Any insufficiency could negatively impaairdusiness. A range of econor
competitive, business and industry factors wilkaffour future financial performance, and, as altesur ability to generate cash flow fri
operations and to pay our debt. Many of theseofacsuch as oil and natural gas prices, econonddiaancial conditions in our industry &
the global economy or competitive initiatives of @ampetitors, are beyond our control.

If we do not generate enough cash flow from openatito satisfy our debt obligations, we may haventdertake alternative financi
plans, such as:

« refinancing or restructuring our debt;
« selling assets;
« reducing or delaying capital investments; or

« seeking to raise additional capital.
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However, we cannot assure you that undertakingratee financing plans, if necessary, would alles to meet our de
obligations. Our inability to generate sufficierash flow to satisfy our debt obligations, or tdaaib alternative financing, could materially :
adversely affect our business, financial conditi@sults of operations and prospects.

Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to ietrrate risk, which could cause our debt serviddigations to increase significantly.

Borrowings under our revolving credit facility beaterest at variable rates and expose us to istteage risk. If interest rates incre
and we are unable to effectively hedge our interastrisk, our debt service obligations on thealde rate indebtedness would increase e\
the amount borrowed remained the same, and ounc@ie and cash available for servicing our inddféss would decrease. A 1% incre
in interest rates on the debt outstanding underewlving credit facility as of December 31, 2048uld cost us approximately $750,00(
additional annual interest expense.

Despite our current level of indebtedness, we méif be able to incur substantially more debt. Thisould further exacerbate the ris|
associated with our substantial indebtedness.

We may be able to incur substantial additional intddness in the future, subject to certain limotadi including under our revolvi
credit facility and under any future debt agreermeirt new debt is added to our current debt levibis related risks that we now face ct
increase. Our level of indebtedness could, faaimse, prevent us from engaging in transactiontsrtiight otherwise be beneficial to us or fi
making desirable capital expenditures. This cquiti us at a competitive disadvantage relative keerotess leveraged competitors that |
more cash flow to devote to their operations. ddition, the incurrence of additional indebtednessld make it more difficult to satisfy c
existing financial obligations.

Item 1B. Un resol ved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties
Leasehold Properties
As of December 31, 2013, our principal assets oeduapproximately 187,044 net acres located imtréhern region of the Unit

States. Net acreage represents our percentagershiymef gross acreage. The following table sunimear our estimated gross and
developed and undeveloped acreage by state at bec&t, 2013.

Developed Acreage Undeveloped Acreage Total Acreage
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

North Dakota

Mountrail County 112,22: 25,32t 25,57+ 7,69¢ 137,79 33,02:

Dunn County 55,53¢ 13,79: 32,77( 15,92¢ 88,30¢ 29,71%

McKenzie County 65,57¢ 18,19- 27,93 7,301 93,51( 25,49¢

Divide County 51,02¢ 14,30z 5,81t 3,851 56,84: 18,15¢

Williams County 54,52( 15,11¢ 7,26( 1,54¢ 61,78( 16,66"

Other 69,95¢ 11,47¢ 60,97 10,79¢ 130,93. 22,27
North Dakote 408,84l 98,20¢ 160,32: 47,13( 569,16: 145,33!
Montana 36,45( 9,79¢ 105,40( 31,91t 141,85( 41,70¢

Total: 445,29 107,99¢ 265,72: 79,04¢ 711,01 187,04

At 2013 year end, approximately 58% of our totakage was developed. In addition, approximatet @38 our total acreage positi
was either developed, held by production or heldfgrations as of December 31, 2013. All of owwvpd reserves are located in North Da
and Montana.
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Recent Acquisitions

In 2013, we acquired leasehold interests coverm@ggregate of approximately 20,900 net acres mkey prospect areas, for
average cost of $1,279 per net acre. In addidoning 2013 we separately acquired working inter@st70 gross (7.0 net) wells in undril
locations in which we do not hold the underlyingdehold interests, for a total cost of approxinya$8.0 million. During 2012, we acquit
approximately 17,590 net acres at an average €&it, 388 per acre, and earned an additional 6,45@cres through farm-in arrangements.

We generally assess acreage subject to near-teiflimgdactivities on a lease-by-lease basis becawsebelieve each lease’
contribution to a subject spacing unit is best sss@ on that basis if development timing is sudfitly clear. Consistent with that approach
majority of our acreage acquisitions involve prdigsrthat are “hand-picked” by us on a leasddase basis for their contribution to a \
expected to be spud in the near future, and thestlleases are then aggregated to complete ogke silosing with the transferor. As such,
generally view each acreage assignment from brokamdmen and other parties as involving sevenpisde acquisitions combined into
closing with the common transferor for convenientwever, in certain instances an acquisition rirasplve a larger number of lea:
presented by the transferors as a single packapeuwtinegotiation on a lease-Base basis. In those instances, we still reviaghdease on
lease-by-lease basis to ensure that the packsge/hsle meets our acquisition criteria and drillaxgpectations.

Acreage Expirations

As a noneperator, we are subject to lease expirations ibp@rator does not commence the development ofatipes within th
agreed terms of our leases. All of our leasesufmeveloped acreage summarized in the table beltivexpire at the end of their respect
primary terms, unless we renew the existing leasstgblish commercial production from the acreageame other “savings clauseés
exercised. In addition, our leases typically pdevihat the lease does not expire at the end gfriheary term if drilling operations have bt
commenced. While we generally expect to estalpiiskiuction from most of our acreage prior to exjpraof the applicable lease terms, tt
can be no guarantee we can do so. The approxienaieation of our gross and net acres which argestilbo expire between 2014 and 2
and thereafter, are set forth below:

Acreage Subject tc

Expiration

Year Ended Gross Net
December 31, 201 66,14 24,08t
December 31, 201 93,707 21,99¢
December 31, 201 42,33 14,65¢
December 31, 201 1,71¢ 1,00¢
December 31, 2018 and thereafter 16,88¢ 10,67:

Total 220,79( 72,41°

During 2013, we had leases expire in Montana arhNDakota covering approximately 13,129 net acaf which was prospecti
for the Bakken and Three Forks Formations. The328&se expirations carried a $14.1 million cost thas transferred to the costs subje
depletion. We believe that the expired acreagensasnaterial to our capital deployed in these peass.

Unproved Properties

All properties that are not classified as provedpgrties are considered unproved properties ang, the costs associated with <
properties are not subject to depletion. Onceopgaty is classified as proved, all associatedagrend drilling costs are subject to depletion.

We historically have acquired our properties bychasing individual or small groups of leases diyeftbm mineral owners or fro
landmen or lease brokers, which leases generallg Inat been subject to specified drilling proje@sd by purchasing lease package
identified project areas controlled by specific igters. We generally participate in drilling adi®s on a proportionate basis by elec
whether to participate in each well on a well-bythbasis at the time wells are proposed for drgjlin
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We believe that the majority of our unproved cosil become subject to depletion within the nextefiyears by proving up reser
relating to its acreage through exploration andettgyment activities, by impairing the acreage thititexpire before we can explore or deve
it further or by determining that further explomtiand development activity will not occur. Thmitig by which all other properties v
become subject to depletion will be dependent upertiming of future drilling activities and deliaton of our reserves.

Production History

The following table presents information about puwduced oil and natural gas volumes during thesyeaded December 31, 20
2012 and 2011. As of December 31, 2013, we wdliageil and natural gas from a total of 1,758 $8¢146.2 net) wells. As of December
2012, we were selling oil and natural gas fromtaltof 1,227 gross (106.2 net) wells. As of Decentil, 2011, we were selling oil and nat
gas from a total of 664 gross (57.9 net) wellsl dlthe foregoing wells were located within thelgton Basin. All data presented belov
derived from accrued revenue and production voluimethe relevant period indicated.

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Net Production:

Qil (Bbl) 4,046,70. 3,465,31. 1,791,97
Natural Gas and NGLs (Mc 2,572,25. 1,768,87. 800,20
Barrels of Oil Equivalent (Boe 4,475,40 3,760,12. 1,925,34
Average Sales Prices:

Oil (per Bbl) $ 87.9C $ 8322 $ 86.01
Effect of Loss on Settled Derivatives on Averagie®(per Bbl) (3.00) (0.17) (7.48)
Oil Net of Settled Derivatives (per Bbl) 84.8¢ 83.11 78.5:
Natural Gas and NGLs (per Mc 5.24 4.617 6.6%
Realized Price on a Boe Basis Including All Realipxerivative Settlemen 79.71 78.7¢ 75.8¢
Average Costs:

Production Expenses (per B¢ $ 9.3t % 8.61 $ 6.77

Depletion of Oil and Natural Gas Properties

Our depletion expense is driven by many factorkiging certain exploration costs involved in thevelepment of producing reserv
production levels and estimates of proved resemvantities and future developmental costs. Theofahg table presents our deplel
expenses during 2013, 2012 and 2011.

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Depletion of Oil and Natural Gas Propert $123,628,63 $ 98,427,15 $ 40,815,42
Depletion Expense (per Bo $ 276 % 26.1¢ % 21.2(

Drilling and Development Activity

The following table sets forth the number of grass net productive and ngmeductive wells for all of our drilling and deveimen
activity in the years ended December 31, 2013, 20122011. The following table does not includdélsmiat were awaiting completion, in
process of completion or awaiting flowback subsedte fracture stimulation. We have not particgzhtn any wells solely targeting natt
gas reserves. We have classified all wells driltedate targeting the Bakken and Three Forks ftona as development wells.
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Exploratory Wells:
o]] - - - - 1 -
Natural Gas - - - - - -
Non-Productive — — — — 1 0.Z
Development Wells:
0] 531 40.C 563 48.% 358 32.c
Natural Ga:s - - - - - -
Non-Productive - - - - - -
Total Productive Exploratory and

Development Wells 531 40.C 565 48.2 354 32.8

The following table summarizes our cumulative grasd net productive oil wells by state at each et&nber 31, 2013, 2012 ¢
2011.
At December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

North Dakote 1,672 134.7 1,17: 97.¢ 642 54.4
Montana 86 11.t 54 - 22 3.5
Total 1,75¢ 146.2 1,227 106.2 664 57.¢

Research and Development

We do not anticipate performing any significanti@sh and development under our plan of operation.
Proved Reserves

We recently completed our most current reservajiregering calculation as of December 31, 2013.

Based on the results of our December2®1,3 reserve analysis, our proved reserves ineteapproximately 25% during 2C
primarily as a result of drilling activity involvianour acreage and our acquisition of acreage sutgjespecific drilling projects or included
permitted or drilling spacing units. We incurrgzbeoximately $389.5 million of capital expendituffes drilling activities and $29.4 million fi
acreage and other expenditures during the yeardeBeéeember 31, 2013, all of which directly conttésli to the increase in our pro
developed reserves. No other expenditures maierialhtributed to the development of proved developeserves in 2013. Our proy
undeveloped reserves increased by approximately @@¥g 2013 primarily as a result of drilling adéty and our acquisitions of acreage.
estimate that approximately 14% of our proved uettped reserves, as of December 31, 2012, wereedmavto proved developed resel
during 2013. Our development drilling program udgs the drilling of approximately 144.5 proven eve&loped net wells before the enc
2018 at an estimated cost of $1.2 billion. Ouradepment plan for drilling proved undeveloped welidls for the drilling of 30.7 net we
during 2014, 27.4 net wells during 2015, 27.7 nelisvduring 2016, 28.6 net wells during 2017, afdLhet wells during 2018, for a total
144.5 net wells. During 2013, our progress towaodverting proved undeveloped reserves to provedldped reserves included the drill
and completion of 11.1 net undeveloped wells aital £stimated net capital cost of $116.9 millidle expect that our proved undevelc
reserves will continue to be converted to provedetiped producing reserves as additional wells dxied including our acreage. /
locations comprising our remaining proved undevetbpeserves are forecast to be drilled within frears from initially being recorded
accordance with our development plan.
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During 2013, we had a negative revision of 9.8 MMBor 26%, of our December 31, 2012 estimated praveleveloped resen
balance. The primary cause for these revisionsnegstive well performances. Within portions of aneas of operation, actual well res
underperformed relative to the proved undevelomedctsts in our December 31, 2012 reserve reftue. proved undeveloped forecast
these areas have been adjusted to reflect thes@evédrmances in our December 31, 2013 reserverte reconciliation of the change
proved undeveloped reserves during 2013 is aswsllo

MMBoe
Estimated Proved Undeveloped Reserves -31-2012 37.¢
PUD's converted to PC's during 201 (5.2)
Additional PULC's added during 201 26.2
Revisions of previous estimates (9.9)
Estimated Proved Undeveloped reserves -31-2013 48.7

Preparation of our reserve report is outlined in 8arbane®xley Act Section 404 internal control procedui@sr procedures requ
that our reserve report be prepared by a thady registered independent engineering firm atehd of every year based on informatior
provide to such engineer. We utilize historical qarction and expense data for our wells, calculadtohical differentials, validate workil
interests and net revenue interests, and obtaiategdauthorizations for expenditure (“AFE$tdm our operations department. This da
forwarded to our thirgparty engineering firm for review and calculatioBur Chief Executive Officer provides a final rewi@f our reserv
report and the assumptions relied upon in suchrtepo

We have utilized Ryder Scott Company, LP (“Rydeot8}, an independent reservoir engineering firm oar thirdparty engineerin
firm. The selection of Ryder Scott is approved by Audit Committee. Ryder Scott is one of the &sfgreservoievaluation consulting firn
and evaluates oil and natural gas properties agependently certifies petroleum reserves quantiiesvarious clients throughout the Uni
States and internationally. Ryder Scott has subateexperience calculating the reserves of variother companies with operations targe
the Bakken and Three Forks formations and, as suethelieve Ryder Scott has sufficient experiecagpropriately determine our reser
Ryder Scott utilizes proprietary technology, systeand data to calculate our reserves commensuitiiehis experience.

We employ two internal reserve engineers who aspamsible for overseeing the preparation of ouemess estimates. One of
internal reserve engineers has a B.S. in chemimhpatroleum engineering from the University otstitirgh and has twelve years of oil and
experience on the reservoir side. The other iataeserve engineer has a B.S. in petroleum engitgeiEom Montana Tech and has eight y:
of oil and gas experience on the reservoir sider éhgineers have experience working for large pedédents and financial firms on proje
and acquisitions, both domestic and internatiofféle proved reserves tables below summarize oima&d proved reserves as of Decer
31, 2013, based upon reports prepared by Rydert.SEbe reports of our estimated proved reserveth@ir entirety are based on
information we provide to them. Ryder Scott is xd®Registered Engineering Firm 1680). Our primary contact at Ryder Scott is Jalm
Baird, Managing Senior Vice President. Mr. Bair@iState of Colorado Licensed Professional Engifigeense #41521).

In accordance with applicable requirements of tR€ Sestimates of our net proved reserves and futeteevenues are made us
average prices at the beginning of each monthari#imonth period prior to the date of such reserveredtts and are held constant throug
the life of the properties (except to the extenbatract specifically provides for escalation).

The reserves set forth in the Ryder Scott reparttlie properties are estimated by performance ndstlor analogy. In gener
reserves attributable to producing wells and/oemasirs are estimated by performance methods ssateeline curve analysis which utili:
extrapolations of historical production data. Ress attributable to noproducing and undeveloped reserves included inreport ar
estimated by analogy. The estimates of the resefuture production, and income attributable toperties are prepared using the econ
software package Aries for Windows, a copyrightemgpam of Halliburton.
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To estimate economically recoverable oil and n&tges reserves and related future net cash flovesconsider many factors ¢
assumptions including, but not limited to, the w$eeservoir parameters derived from geologicabpiwysical and engineering data wt
cannot be measured directly, economic criteriadasecurrent costs and SEC pricing requirements farecasts of future of production ra
Under the SEC regulations 210L8{a)(22)(v) and (26), proved reserves must be detrated to be economically producible based ostiex
economic conditions including the prices and castshich economic producibility from a reservoirtésbe determined as of the effective
of the report. With respect to the property inteege own, production and well tests from examinedls, normal direct costs of operating
wells or leases, other costs such as transportatioor processing fees, production taxes, recdioplend development costs and proi
prices are based on the SEC regulations, geologiapk, well logs, core analyses, and pressure measats.

The reserve data set forth in the Ryder Scott teqg@resents only estimates, and should not betrt@usas being exact quantit
They may or may not be actually recovered, anédbvered, the actual revenues and costs could be ondess than the estimated amotl
Moreover, estimates of reserves may increase agedse as a result of future operations.

Reservoir engineering is a subjective processtohating underground accumulations of oil and raltgas that cannot be measure
an exact manner. There are numerous uncertaintiesdnt in estimating oil and natural gas reseavektheir estimated values, including m
factors beyond our control. The accuracy of angmas estimate is a function of the quality of aabié data and of engineering and geol
interpretation and judgment. As a result, estimafadifferent engineers, including those used bymay vary. In addition, estimates of rese
are subject to revision based upon actual productiesults of future development and exploratiotiviies, prevailing oil and natural g
prices, operating costs and other factors. Thesi@w may be material. Accordingly, reserve estmaitre often different from the quantitie
oil and natural gas that are ultimately recovened @re highly dependent upon the accuracy of themagtions upon which they are based.
estimated net proved reserves, included in our llB@s, have not been filed with or included irpoets to any other federal agency. Skerf
1A. Risk Factors -Our estimated reserves are based on many assusifisnmay prove to be inaccurate. Any materiat@uracies in the
reserve estimates or underlying assumptions witeriglly affect the quantities and present valuewfreserves.”

Ryder Scott prepared our reserve report valuingooowved reserves at December 31, 2013. The rgphres only our proved reser
and does not value our probable reserves or owildegeserves. The following table sets forth @stimated proved reserves based on the
rules as defined in Rule 4.10(a) of Regulation 8nd Item 1200 of Regulation S-K (“SEC Pricing Prb\WReserves”).

SEC Pricing Proved Reserve§)

Pre-Tax

o]] Natural Gas Total PV10%
(MBbI) (MMcf) (MBoe) @ Value $M ©)
PDP Propertie 26,15( 16,53¢ 28,90¢ $ 881,69!
PDNP Propertie 5,89¢ 4,10¢ 6,577 151,08
PUD Properties 43,75¢ 29,52¢ 48,67 488,51
Total Proved Properties: 75,79¢ 50,16¢ 84,16( $ 1,521,28

(1) The SEC Pricing Proved Reserves table above vailiasd natural gas reserve quantities and reldigzbunted future net cash fla

as of December 31, 2013 assuming constant regbideels of $88.00 per barrel of oil and $5.23 peff bfcnatural gas, which includ
an uplift factor of 1.4 to reflect liquids and camdates (natural gas liquids are included withrahgas). Under SEC guidelines, tr
prices represent the average prices per barrel ahd per Mcf of natural gas at the beginning ate month in the 1&onth perio
prior to the end of the reporting period, whichrages are then adjusted to reflect applicable p@mtation and quality differential

(2) Boe are computed based on a conversion ratio oBoeefor each barrel of oil and one Boe for eve§06 cubic feet (i.e., 6 Mcf)
natural gas
3) Pre-tax PV10% may be considered a G#AP financial measure as defined by the SEC awnlgisved from the standardized mea:

of discounted future net cash flows, which is thestdirectly comparable GAAP measure. BrePV10% is computed on the s¢
basis as the standardized measure of discounteckfoet cash flows but without deducting futureoime taxes. We believe Ptax
PV10% is a useful measure for investors for evaigathe relative monetary significance of our aidanatural gas properties. '
further believe investors may utilize our Rex-PV10% as a basis for comparison of the relatize and value of our reserves to @
companies because many factors that are uniguactoirdividual company impact the amount of futtm@me taxes to be paid. ¢
management uses this measure when assessing thdigloteturn on investment related to our oil aradural gas properties &
acquisitions. However, Pre-tax PV10% is not a stuke for the standardized measure of discounttgré net cash flows. Our Pre-
tax PV10% and the standardized measure of discduotare net cash flows do not purport to presaetfair value of our oil ar
natural gas reserve
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The table above assumes prices and costs discousitegl an annual discount rate of 10% without fitescalation, without givir
effect to nonproperty related expenses such as general and iathaiive expenses, debt service and depreciatiepletion and amortizatic
or federal income taxes.

The “Pre-tax PV10%" values of our proved reservesg@nted in the foregoing table may be considersah& AAP financial measu
as defined by the SEC. The following table reclascthe praax PV10% value of our SEC Pricing Proved Reseteethe standardiz
measure of discounted future net cash flows.

SEC Pricing Proved Reserves
(in thousands)

Standardized Measure Reconciliation

Pre-tax Present Value of estimated future net reve(Re-tax PV10%) $ 1,521,28
Future income taxes, discounted at 10% 296,92!
Standardized measure of discounted future netft@ashk $ 1,224,36

Uncertainties are inherent in estimating quantitiésproved reserves, including many risk factorydmel our control. Reser
engineering is a subjective process of estimatimgssrface accumulations of oil and natural gas tztnot be measured in an e
manner. As a result, estimates of proved resenmsvary depending upon the engineer valuing teerves. Further, our actual realized
for our oil and natural gas is not likely to avezabe pricing parameters used to calculate ourgutoeserves. As such, the oil and natura
guantities and the value of those commaodities aitély recovered from our properties will vary froeserve estimates.

Additional discussion of our proved reserves isfegh under the heading “Supplemental Oil and Gédsrmation”to our financie
statements included later in this report.

Delivery Commitments
We do not currently have any delivery commitmentsproduct obtained from our wells.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Our company is subject from time to time to litigat claims and governmental and regulatory procegdirising in the ordina
course of business.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
None.
Executive Officers of the Registrant

Our executive officers, their ages and offices leklas follows:

Name Age Positions
Michael L. Rege 37 Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
Thomas W. Stoel 58 Chief Financial Office
Brandon R. Ellioti 42 Executive Vice President, Corporate DevelopmentSinategy
Erik J. Romslc 36 Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Sag

30




Michael L. Regeris a founder of our predecessor, Northern Oil arak,dnc., and has served as Chairman of the Boad
Chief Executive Officer of our company since Mag07. Mr. Reger has been involvedin the acqoisitif oiland ge
mineral rights for his entire career. Mr. Reger degvorking the oil and gas leasing business fofdnisly’s company, Reger Oil, in 1992 ¢
worked as an oil and gas landman for Reger Oil ft®82 until cofounding Northern in 2006. Mr. Reger holds a BrAFinance and ¢
M.B.A. in finance/management from the University 8. Thomasin St. Paul, Minnesota. The Reger fahdbk a history of acres
acquisition in the Williston Basin dating to 1952.

Thomas W. Stoelkas served as our Chief Financial Officer sincedbdmer 2011. Prior to joining our company, Mr. $taerved a
the Vice President of Finance and Chief Financifficér at Superior Well Services, Inc. from 20052011. Prior to Superior Well Servic
Inc., Mr. Stoelk served as the Chief Financial &ffiof Great Lakes Energy Partners, LLC from 1392005 and the Senior Vice Presider
Finance and Administration for Range Resources @atpn from 1994 to 1999. Prior to his employmeith Range Resources Corporat
Mr. Stoelk was a senior manager at Ernst & Youn@ ldnd worked as a certified public accountant @irtauditing practice. Mr. Stoelk ho
a BS in Industrial Administration from lowa Statailersity.

Brandon R. Elliotthas served as our Executive Vice President, Compddavelopment and Strategy since January 2018r &
joining our company, Mr. Elliott served as Vice §ident of Investor Relations of CONSOL Energy IrecFortune 500 coal and natural
company, from 2010 until 2012. Prior to CONSOL,. Nlliott worked from 2000 until 2010 at Friess Asmtes LLC, managers of T
Brandywine Funds, most recently as a portfolio ngana Mr. Elliott holds a bachel@’degree from Dartmouth College, is a Charl
Financial Analyst (CFA) and is a member of the bladl Investor Relations Institute.

Erik J. Romsldas served as our General Counsel and Secretasy Gictober 2011 and as an Executive Vice Presgleoe Janua
2013. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Romslo gifeed law in the Minneapolis office of our outsideunsel, Faegre Baker Daniels |
(formerly Faegre & Benson LLP), from 2005 until 20ivhere he was a member of the Corporate grodpr 8 joining Faegre, Mr. Roms
practiced law in the New York City office of FrieBtank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP. Mr. Romistids a bachelos’degree from St. Ol
College and a law degree from the New York UniugrSichool of Law.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Skiwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities
Market Information

Our common stock trades on the NYSE MKT under tmel®l “NOG.” The high and low sales prices for shares of comstock o
our company for each quarter during 2012 and 204 3et forth below.

Sales Price
High Low

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201

First Quartel $ 28.0C % 20.0¢

Second Quarte 21.4C 14.9¢

Third Quartel 19.7( 14.4(

Fourth Quarte 17.8¢ 13.7:
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201

First Quartel $ 175t $ 13.1¢

Second Quarte 14.9¢ 12.0(

Third Quartel 14.8¢ 11.7¢

Fourth Quarte 17.9( 13.91

The closing price for our common stock on the NY8KT on February 18, 2014 was $15.77 per share.
Comparison Chart

The following information in this Item 5 of this Anal Report on Form 10-K is not deemed to be “golig material” or to be “filed”
with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or 14@emthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or to tdeillties of Section 18 of the Securit
Exchange Act of 1934, and will not be deemed tanberporated by reference into any filing under 8ezurities Act of 1933 or the Securi
Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent we $ipally incorporate it by reference into such anfj.

The following graph compares the Gtnth cumulative total shareholder return on ounmmn stock since December 31, 2008,
the cumulative total returns of Standard & PedComposite 500 Index and the NYSE Arca Oil Indexnjerly the AMEX Oil Index) for th
same period. This graph tracks the performanca $100 investment in our common stock and in eadex (with the reinvestment of
dividends) from December 31, 2008 to December 8132
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COMPARISON OF SYEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURIN*

Lrnong Horthern Od And Gas Inc, the S&F 500 Index
and the WYSE Arca Ol Index

$1,200 -

123108 1231109 12/31:10 1231111 1231112 1231113

—o— Northern Ofl Anad Gar Inc ——=—- S&P 500 ------- NY5E Arca Ofl Index

#3100 invested on 1 2551008 instock or indes, inchiding reinvestvent of dividends .
Fiscal vear ending Decermber 31.

Copyrght@ 2014 58P, 3 dvssionof The MeGraer-Hill Conpanes Ine. All nghts resened.

* The following table sets forth the toteturns utilized to generate the foregoing graph.

12/31/08 12/31/09 12/31/10 12/31/11 12/31/12 12/31/13
Northern Oil & Gas, Inc. $ 100.0C $ 455.3¢ $ 1,046.5: $ 9223 $ 646.9: $ 579.6:
S&P 500 100.0( 126.4¢ 145.5: 148.5¢ 172.37 228.1¢
NYSE Arca Oil Index 100.0(¢ 113.1¢ 119.6% 127.7: 130.2: 154.1¢

The stock price performance included in this graphot necessarily indicative of future stock preformance.

Holders

As of February 1, 2014, we had 61,852,670 sharesuofcommon stock outstanding, held by approxinya888 shareholders
record. The number of record holders does notssecty bear any relationship to the number of Eeia¢ owners of our common stock.
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Dividends
The payment of dividends is subject to the disoretif our Board of Directors and will depend, amatiger things, upon our earnin
our capital requirements, our financial conditiangd other relevant factors. We have not paid oladed any dividends upon our common s
since our inception and do not presently anticipatgng any dividends upon our common stock inftineseeable future. Under our revoly
credit facility, we are prohibited from paying cadividends on our common stock. Any cash divideindthe future to common shareholc
will be payable when, as and if declared by ourrBad Directors based upon the Board's assessnient o
« our financial condition and performance;
« earnings;
« need for funds;
« capital requirements;
« prior claims of preferred stock to the extent issaad outstanding; and
« other factors, including income tax consequenaastractual restrictions and any applicable laws.
There can be no assurance, therefore, that angedtisls on the common stock will ever be paid.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The table below sets forth the information withpes to purchases made by or on behalf of the compar any affiliated
purchaser” (as defined in Rule 1@B{a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 198#)our common stock during the quarter er

December 31, 2013.

Total Number Approximate

of Shares Dollar Value
Purchased as  of Shares that
Part of May Yet be
Publically Purchased
Total Number Announced Under the
of Shares Average Price Plans or Plans or
Period Purchased® Paid Per Share Programs Programs (@
Month #1
$
123.¢
October 1, 2013 to October 31, 2C 694 $ 15.6: - million
Month #2
November 1, 2013 to November 30, 2( - - - 123.9 millior
Month #3
December 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013 15,05¢ 15.3( - 123.9 millior
$
123.¢
Total 15,75 $ 15.32 - million

(1) All shares purchased reflect shares surrenderexbimpany directors or employees as payment of eseeprice for stock options exerci:
or in satisfaction of tax obligations in connectisith restricted stock award

(2) In May 2011, our board of directors approved a lstogpurchase program to acquire up to $150 milkbrares of our compary’
outstanding common stock. We have repurchased® 383 shares under this program through Decemhe2@l13 at an average price
$12.82 per shari
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Statements of Income Information:

Revenue:

Oil and Gas Sale

(Loss) Gain on Settled Derivativ

(Loss) Gain on the Mark-to Market of Derivative
Instruments

Other Revenue

Total Revenues

Operating Expense

Production Expense

Production Taxe

General and Administrative Exper

Depletion, Depreciation, Amortization and Accretion

Total Expenses

Income from Operations

Other Income (Expens
Interest Expense, Net of Capitalization

Total Other Income (Expense)

Income Before Income Tax

Income Tax Provision

Net Income

Net Income Per Common Shé« Basic

Net Income Per Common Shé& Diluted

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding — Basic
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding — Diluted

Statements of Cash Flows Informatis
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activiti
Net Cash Used For Investing Activiti
Net Cash Provided By Financing Activiti

Balance Sheet Information:

Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivale
Total Current Asse!
Property and Equipment, r
Total Asset:

Liabilities:
Total Current Liabilitie:
Revolving Line of Credi
8% Senior Notes Due 2020, M
Total Liabilities

Total Shareholde’ Equity

Fiscal Years
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except share and per common shadata)

$ 369,18 $ 296,63t $ 159,44( $ 59,48¢ $ 15,17.
(12,199 (39)) (13,409 (470 (625)
(21,259 15,14° 3,072 (14,545 (369)
44 17¢ 28E 86 38
335,77. 311,57. 149,38 44 55¢ 14,22.
41,85¢ 32,38: 13,04« 3,28¢ 75¢
34,95¢ 28,48¢ 14,30: 5,47¢ 1,30(
16,57¢ 22,64¢ 13,62¢ 7,204 3,68¢
124,38: 98,92: 41,16¢ 17,08¢ 4,351
217,771 182,43t 82,13¢ 33,05¢ 10,09:
117,99 129,13 67,25( 11,50¢ 4,13(
(459 25 78: 414 671
(32,709 (13,875 (58€) (58%) (53E)
(33,167) (13,85() 197 (169) 13¢€
84,83: 115,28 67,44 11,33¢ 4,26¢
31,76¢ 43,00: 26,83t 4,41¢ 1,46¢
$ 53,067 $ 72,28¢ $ 40,61: $ 6,917 $ 2,80(
$ 0.8t $ 1.1€ $ 0.6€ $ 0.14 $ 0.0¢
$ 0.8t $ 115 $ 0.6t $ 0.14 $ 0.0¢
62,364,95 62,485,83 61,789,28 50,387,20 36,705,26
62,747,29 62,869,07 62,195,34 50,778,24 36,877,07
$ 222,77:  $ 198,52° $ 85,15( $ 73,300 $ 9,81:
$ (358,553) $ (532,17) $ (300,86) $ (207,89) $ (71,849
$ 128,06. $ 340,75: $ 69,887 $ 280,46: $ 67,48¢
$ 5687 $ 13,38¢ $ 6,28( $ 152,11: $ 6,23:
104,38t 94,21" 80,50" 233,01 42,01¢
1,397,30 1,083,24! 643,70: 275,30¢ 92,15(
1,519,601 1,190,93! 725,59« 509,69« 135,59!
194,08t 100,45 119,66: 59,66 8,91(
75,00( 124,00( 69,90( - -
509,54 300,00( - - -
899,77. 604,75( 229,02 74,33¢ 12,03¢
619,82¢ 586,18! 496,57( 435,36( 123,55¢
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjiorcivith the “Selected Financial Dataf Item 6 and the Financial Statements
Accompanying Notes appearing elsewhere in thisrtepo

Overview of 2013 Results
During 2013, we achieved the following financiatlazperating results:
« Increased total production by 19% compared to 2012;

« Increased total estimated proved reserves to 8dlidBmBoe as of December 31, 2013, an increasebéb compared to 2012 year-
end;

« Participated in the completion of 531 gross (4@&f) wells;

« Continued to highgrade and grow our leasehold position to 187,044crs with approximately 63% of our total acrepgsitior
either developed, held by production or held byrafiens as of December 31, 2013; :

« Ended the year with $6 million in cash and, inchgdavailability under our revolving credit faciljtyiquidity of approximatel
$381 million.

Operationally, our 2013 performance reflects anoyiear of successfully executing our strategy ofeli@ping our acreage position ¢
building a longhife reserve base. Our success enabled us toaiseneroved reserves by 16.6 million Boe, whichpjgraximately 3.7 times o
2013 production. During 2013, production increa$8#o to 4.5 million Boe as compared to 2012 pradacdf 3.8 million Boe. The incres
in 2013 production was driven by a 38 % increaseriducing net wells from 106.2 net wells at Decem®1, 2012 to 146.Bet wells &
December 31, 2013.

Total revenues increased 8% or $24.2 million in2@bmpared to 2012. This increase was due to higtaduction levels th
generated $72.5 million in oil and gas revenue ghowhich was partially offset by a $12.2 millioosk on settled derivatives and a $
million loss on the mark-toarket of derivative instruments. Average realizgttes on a Boe basis (including all realized \dwive
settlements) were % higher in 2013 compared to 2012. As discusssehdiere in this report, significant changes inaail natural gas pric
can have a material impact on our results of oersitand our balance sheet, including the fairevaiiour derivatives.

Source of Our Revenues

We derive our revenues from the sale of oil, ndtgess and NGLs produced from our properties. Regsrare a function of t
volume produced, the prevailing market price attiime of sale, oil quality, Btu content and trangption costs to market. We use derive
instruments to hedge future sales prices on aautist but varying, portion of our oil productioiVe expect our derivative activities will h
us achieve more predictable cash flows and reducexposure to downward price fluctuations. The obderivative instruments has in
past, and may in the future, prevent us from raagizhe full benefit of upward price movements also mitigates the effects of declining p
movements. Our average realized price calculafioclade the effects of the settlement of all dative contracts regardless of the accour
treatment.
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Principal Components of Our Cost Structure

« Oil price differentials. The price differential between our Williston Basvell head price and the NYMEX WTI benchmark pgrig
driven by the additional cost to transport oil fréime Williston Basin via train, barge, pipelinetarck to refineries

« (Loss) gain on the mark-to-market of derivativetimsmients. We utilize commodity derivative financial instremts to reduce o
exposure to fluctuations in the price of oil. Thiscount activity represents the recognition ohgand losses associated with
outstanding derivative contracts as commodity jgrieed commodity derivative contracts change onraotg that have not be
designated for hedge accounti

« Realized gain (loss) on derivative instrumer This account activity represents our realizechgand losses on the settlemer
commodity derivative instrument

« Production expense Production expenses are daily costs incurreditgytoil and natural gas out of the ground andhi® marke
together with the daily costs incurred to maintim producing properties. Such costs also inclield personnel compensation,
water disposal, utilities, maintenance, repairs senticing expenses related to our oil and natmalproperties

« Production taxes Production taxes are paid on produced oil andrabhyas based on a percentage of revenues frodugtosold ¢
market prices (not hedged prices) or at fixed rastmblished by federal, state or local taxing auties. We seek to take f
advantage of all credits and exemptions in ourowaritaxing jurisdictions. In general, the prodoctiaxes we pay correlate to
changes in oil and natural gas reveni

« Depreciation, depletion and amortizatioi Depreciation, depletion and amortization includbe systematic expensing of
capitalized costs incurred to acquire, explore @exklop oil and natural gas properties. As a fodtcompany, we capitalize all cc
associated with our development and acquisitioortsffand allocate these costs to each unit of mtamuusing the units-groductior
method.

« General and administrative expense&eneral and administrative expenses include @aethincluding payroll and benefits for
corporate staff, costs of maintaining our headeguartcosts of managing our acquisition and devedoproperations, franchise tax
audit and other professional fees and legal comgpdiz

« Interest expens: We finance a portion of our working capital regments, capital expenditures and acquisitions lgttnowings. A
a result, we incur interest expense that is aftebie both fluctuations in interest rates and ooafiicing decisions. We capitaliz
portion of the interest paid on applicable borrayginnto our full cost pool. We include interesperse that is not capitalized into
full cost pool, the amortization of deferred finame costs and bond premiums (including originatiand amendment fee
commitment fees and annual agency fees as inexpshse

« Income tax expens Our provision for taxes includes both federal atate taxes. We account for income taxes usingsket ar
liability method, which requires the recognition déferred tax assets and liabilities for the expeduture tax consequences
temporary differences between the book carryinguartsand the tax basis of assets and liabilitigsterred tax assets and liabilit
are measured using enacted tax rates expectedptp @ptaxable income in the years in which thosmporary differences a
carryforwards are expected to be recovered oresetfThe effect on deferred tax assets and ligsliof a change in tax rates
recognized in income in the period that includesehactment date. A valuation allowance is estabdl to reduce deferred tax as
if it is more likely than not that the related tagnefits will not be realize:
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Selected Factors That Affect Our Operating Results
Our revenues, cash flows from operations and fujuoevth depend substantially upon:

« the timing and success of drilling and productiotivities by our operating partners;

« the prices and demand for oil, natural gas and NGLs

- the quantity of oil and natural gas production fritva wells in which we participate;

- changes in the fair value of the derivative instemts we use to reduce our exposure to fluctuatiotise price of oil;
« our ability to continue to identify and acquire lhiguality acreage; and

- the level of our operating expenses.

In addition to the factors that affect companie®im industry generally, the location of our aceamd wells in the Williston Bas
subjects our operating results to factors speddidhis region. These factors include the potéra@verse impact of weather on drilli
production and transportation activities, particlyladuring the winter months, and the limitation§ the developing infrastructure &
transportation capacity in this region.

The price of ail in the Williston Basin can varymading on the market in which it is sold and theans of transportation usec
transport the oil to market. Light sweet crudarfrthe Williston Basin has a higher value at manyomeefining centers because of its hic
quality relative to heavier and sour grades of ldwever, because of North Dakatdbcation relative to traditional oil transportineers, thi
higher value is generally offset to some extenhigyer transportation costs. While rail transptistahas historically been more expensive
pipeline transportation, Williston Basin prices baeen high enough to justify shipment by rail @rkets, such as St. James, Louisiana, v
offer prices benchmarked to Brent/LLS. Althougpgiine, truck and rail capacity in the Williston €@ has historically lagged productior
growth, we believe that additional planned infrasture growth will help keep price discounts froign#ficantly eroding wellhead values in -
region.

Over the past several years, oil production in Wi#liston Basin has increased dramatically. Foaraple, North Dakota' oil
production in October 2013 was up approximately I8 compared to October 2011. The surging oil yetidn has created a huge neec
oil takeaway infrastructure, which has struggleckéep pace with the growth in production. Thissemlithe price of Bakken crude to
significantly behind WTI crude at certain times ptlee last few years. In response to rapidly gginoduction, rail capacity out of the area
greatly expanded, which has allowed Bakken crudeach refining markets on the East Coast, WessiCarad Gulf Coast. As the takea
solution developed, the Bakken crude differenttaM{TI in 2013 has lowered, and even traded at paatita premium to WTI. During t
fourth quarter of 2013, our crude differential wide to approximately $14.98 per barrel due to sg¢vactors such as takeaway cape
lagging behind production, and seasonal refinerinteaance temporarily depressing crude demaad.the rail capacity continues to incre
and planned pipeline expansions are completed,elievie the oil price differentials will return tashorical levels. Our weighted average
price differential to the NYMEX WTI benchmark prickiring 2013 was approximately $ 8.68 per barrelc@mpared to $ 9.78er barrel il
2012.

Another significant factor affecting our operatirgsults is drilling costs. The cost of drilling Ngehas increased significantly over
past few years as rising oil prices have triggenedeased drilling activity in the Williston BasiAlthough individual components of the ¢
can vary depending on numerous factors such agnig¢h of the horizontal lateral, the number otftaie stimulation stages, and the choic
proppant (sand or ceramic), the total cost ofidglland completing an oil well has increased. Tihisease is largely due to longer horiza
laterals and more fracture stimulation stages, disv higher demand for rigs and completion servitesughout the region. In additic
because of the rapid growth in drilling, the availity of well completion services has at times b@&®enstrained, resulting at times in a bac
of wells awaiting completion.
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Market Conditions

Prices for various quantities of oil, natural ga®)d NGLs that we produce significantly impact owvenues and ca
flows. Commodity prices have been volatile in r@cgears. The following tables list average NYMIgKces foroil and natural gas for t
years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and :

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Average NYMEX prices®)
Oil (per Bbl) $ 98.0: $ 94.1F $ 95.11
Natural Gas (per Mcf $ 3.7 % 28 % 4.02

@ Based on average of daily closing pric

Results of Operations for 2013, 2012 and 2011

The following table sets forth selected financiatl aperating data for the periods indicated. Pctido volumes and average si

prices are derived from accrued accounting datéhforelevant period indicated.

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Net Production:
Qil (Bbl) 4,046,70. 3,465,31. 1,791,97
Natural Gas and NGLs (Mc 2,572,25. 1,768,87. 800,20
Total (Boe)® 4,475,40' 3,760,12. 1,925,34
Net Sales (in thousands)
Oil Sales $ 355,70 $ 288,38. $ 154,13
Natural Gas and NGL Sal 13,48t 8,25¢ 5,307
Loss on Settled Derivative (22,199 (397) (13,409
(Loss) Gain on the Ma-to-Marketof Derivative Instrument (21,259 15,147 3,07
Other Revenue 44 17¢ 28t
Total Revenue 335,77: 311,57: 149,38t
Average Sales Prices
Qil (per Bbl) $ 87.9C $ 83.2: $ 86.01
Effect of Loss on Settled Derivatives on Averagied (per Bbl) (3.0 (0.17) (7.48)
Qil Net of Settled Derivatives (per Bk 84.8¢ 83.11 78.5:
Natural Gas and NGLs (per Mc 5.24 4.67 6.62
Realized price on a Boe basis including all realiderivative settlemen® 79.71 78.7¢ 75.8¢
Operating Expenses (in thousands):
Production Expense $ 41,85¢ $ 32,38. $ 13,04«
Production Taxe 34,95¢ 28,48¢ 14,30:
General and Administrative Expense
(Including Nor-Cash Stock Based Compensati 16,57¢ 22,64: 13,62t
Depletion of Oil and Gas Properti 124,38: 98,42° 40,81

(1) Natural gas and NGLs are converted to Boe at tteeafaone barrel equals six Mcf based upon the@agprate relative energy content
oil and natural gas, which is not necessarily iathi@ of the relationship of oil and natural gaes.
(2) Realized prices include realized gains and loseesash settlements for commodity derivatiy
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Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Sales

Our revenues vary from year to year primarily agsult of changes in realized commaodity prices pratiuction volumes. In 201
oil, natural gas and NGL sales increased 24% froaR2driven primarily by a 19% increase in prodoctand partially aided by a 5% incre
in our average sales price per Boe in 2013 as cardga 2012. In 2012, oil, natural gas and NGlesahcreased 86% from 2011 due to a
increase in production, partially offset by a 4%mase in our average sales price per Boe in 28t@rapared to 2011.

Our production continues to grow through drillingceess as we place new wells into production amdugh additions froi
acquisitions, partially offset by the natural deeliof our production from existing wells. Our puation primarily increased due to the addi
of 40.0and 48.3 net productive wells in 2013 and 201%eesvely. Our production for each of the lasethyears is set forth in the follow
table:

Year Ended
2013 2012 2011
Production
Oil (Bbl) 4,046,70. 3,465,31. 1,791,97
Natural Gas and NGL (Mcf) 2,572,25. 1,768,87 800,20
Total (Boe)® 4,475,40! 3,760,12. 1,925,34
Average Daily Production
Oil (Bbl) 11,08’ 9,46¢ 4,91(
Natural Gas and NGL (Mcf) 7,04 4,83: 2,197
Total (Boe)® 12,26 10,27 5,27¢

(O Natural gas and NGLs are converted to Boe at tteeafaone barrel equals six Mcf based upon theaiprate relative energy content
oil and natural gas, which is not necessarily iathi@ of the relationship of oil and natural gaes.

Derivative Instrument

We enter into derivative instruments to manageptiee risk attributable to future oil productioRor 2013, we incurred a loss
settled derivatives of $12.2 million, compareddsses of $0.4 million in 2012 and $13.4 millior2®l1. Our average realized price (inclut
all derivative settlements) received during 2013 %@9.77 per Boe compared to $78.79 per Boe in 2682575.85 per Boe in 2011.

Mark-to-market derivative gains and losses was a loss df3%2iillion in 2013 compared to a $15.1 million gam 2012 and a $3
million loss in 2011. Our derivatives are not desited for hedge accounting and are accounted siog the mark-tanarket accountir
method whereby gains and losses from changes ifathealue of derivative instruments are recogdimmmediately into earnings. Mark-to-
market accounting treatment creates volatility im tevenues as gains and losses from unsettledatiggs are included in total revenues
are not included in accumulated other compreherisis@me in the accompanying balance sheets. Asryality prices increase or decrei
such changes will have an opposite effect on thek+teamarket value of our derivatives. Any gains on derivatives will be offset by low
wellhead revenues in the future or any losses lvélloffset by higher future wellhead revenues basethe value at the settlement date
December 31, 2013, all of our derivative contrarisrecorded at their fair value, which was a iaility of $17.9 million, a decrease of $2
million from the $3.3 million net asset recordedadsDecember 31, 2012. Our open oil derivativet@msts are summarized intém 7A
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MafRisk—Commodity Price Risk.”
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Production Expenses

Production expenses were $41.9 million in 2013 carag to $32.4 million in 2012 and $13.0 millionZ@11. We experience increa
in operating expenses as we add new wells and amaiptoduction from existing properties. On a peit basis, production expenses incre:
from $8.61 per Boe in 2012 to $9.35 per Boe in 2008 an absolute dollar basis, our production rgpe in 2013 were 29% higher w
compared to the same period in 2012 due primaoila t19% increase in production levels and a 38%eas®e in the total number of
wells. Also contributing to the increase were @aged water production and costs associated witk morkover, repair and maintenance
salt water trucking and disposal activities dur@l3 as compared to 2012. On a per unit basisluptimn expenses per Boe increased
$6.77 per barrel sold in 2011 to $8.61 in 2012. @rabsolute dollar basis, our spending for pradoatxpenses for 2012 was 148% hig
when compared to 2011 due to production levelsemging 95%, as well as higher water hauling andodal costs and higher servic
expenses.

Production Taxes

We pay production taxes based on realized oil atdral gas sales. These costs were $35.0 miti@®d13 compared to $28.5 milli
in 2012 and $14.3 million in 2011. Our averagedpiaion tax rates were 9.5%, 9.6% and 9.0% in 2@032 and 2011, respectively. -
2013 average production tax rate was lower tharR@i2 average due to well additions that qualifeedreduced rates/or tax exemptions du
2013. Certain portions of our production occurdviantana and North Dakota jurisdictions that hawedr initial tax rates for an establisl
period of time or until an established thresholgafduction is exceeded, after which the tax ratesincreased to the standard tax rate.
2012 average production tax rate was higher than2@ill average due to fewer well additions thatifigth for reduced rates for t
exemptions during 2012. The majority of our prdihrcis located in North Dakota which imposes andtad 11.5% tax on our product
revenues except for where properties qualify fduped rates.

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense was $16.6 mifiio 2013 compared to $22.6 million for 2012 ad8$ million in 2011. Th
$6.0 million decrease in 2013 when compared to 2042 primarily due to $5.5 million of severancerges recognized in 2012 in connec
with the departures of our former president andfotmer chief operating officer. Additionally, sailes and benefit expenses decreased
million in 2013 as compared to 2012, which wasiplytoffset by increased insurance ($0.6 milli@md legal and professional ($0.2 milli
expenses. Lower share based compensation in 2048 the year over year drop in salary and bewrafitenses. The 2012 increase of
million when compared to 2011 is due to higherryaéad benefit expenses ($3.6 million), increasadd expenses ($0.2 million) and parti
offset by lower office and other administrative erpes ($0.3 million). Our personnel costs in 284 2ompared to 2011 continued to incr
as we invested in our technical teams and othéfirggao support our growth. Additionally, 2012 mgral and administrative expenses inc
$5.5 million of severance charges in connectiom it departures of our former president and forchesf operating officer.

Depletion, Depreciation, Amortization and Accretion

Depletion, depreciation, amortization and accre(fttbD&A”) was $124.4 million in 2013 compared to $98.9 millim 2012 an
$41.2 million in 2011. Depletion expense, the émtgcomponent of DD&A, was $27.62 per Boe in 206fhpared to $26.18 per Boe in 2
and $21.20 per Boe in 2011. We have historicaljysted our depletion rates in the fourth quarfereach year based on the year
reserve report and other times during the year wiegnumstances indicate there has been a signifddaange in reserves or costs.
aggregate increase in depletion expense for 20a®amed to 2012 was driven by a 19% increase inymtomh. Additionally, depletion rat
rose in 2013 primarily due to higher production @xges and revised reserve estimates in certainradreas of operation. Depletion rate
new plays tend to be higher in the beginning asessed initial outlays are amortized over provesemees based on early stage
evaluations. As these plays mature, new technedogiell completion methodologies and additionatdrical operating information impact
reserve evaluations. The aggregate increase idetd®p expense for 2012 compared to 2011 was dribgna 95% increase
production. Depreciation, amortization and acoretvas $0.8 million in 2013 compared to $0.5 millia 2012 and $0.4 million in 2011. 1
following table summarizes DD&A expense per BoeZ043, 2012 and 2011:
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Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change Change 2012 2011 Change Change
Depletion $ 2762 $ 2618 $ 1.44 6% $ 26.1& $ 212 $ 4.9¢ 23%
Depreciation,
amortization, and
accretion 0.17 0.1: 0.04 31% 0.1: 0.1¢ (0.0%) (28)%
Total DD&A expense $  27.7¢ $  26.31 $ 1.4¢ 6% $ 2631 $ 213t $ 4,93 23%

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $32.7 million for 2013 comp&we$13.9 million in 2012. Interest expense wa3.$ million for 2012 compar:
to $0.6 million in 2011. In May 2013 and 2012, i8sued $200 million and $300 million of 8% seniarsacured notes, respectively.
increase in interest expense for 2013 as compar@2012 was primarily due to different weighted aggr debt amounts outstanding betv
years. The increase in interest expense for 28Xdmpared to 2011 was primarily due to differeaighited average debt amounts outstar
between years, as well as the higher interestgtécable to the senior notes.

Interest Income

Interest income was $21,000 for 2013 compared {00RLin 2012. Interest income was comparable batweeriods due to simil
levels of cash and short term investments. Intere®me was $1,000 for 2012 compared to $0.6 onilin 2011. Interest income for 2(
decreased $0.6 million as compared to 2011 bea#Husever levels of cash and short term investmeiits2011, the higher amount of cash
short term investments resulted from proceeds ftemrsale of common stock in November 2010.

Income Tax Provision

The provision for income taxes was $31.8 millior2013 compared to $43.0 million in 2012 and $26iian in 2011. The effectiv
tax rate in 2013 was 37.4% compared to an effe¢tixerate of 37.3% in 2012. The effective tax nates different than the statutory rate
35% primarily due to state tax rates. The 2012caiffe tax rate was 37.3% compared to an effettixeaate in 2011 of 39.8%. Due to hig
pretax income levels, we increased our federal statutate from 34% to 35% in 2011. The effective tate was different than the statul
rate of 35% primarily due to state tax rates.

Net Income

Net income was $53.1 million in 2013 compared t@.37million in 2012 and $40.6 million in 2011. Therease in net income
2012 as compared to 2011 was driven by higher mtamhu levels and higher average sales prices redeiiv 2012 compared to 2011. °
decrease in net income in 2013 as compared to 2@k2driven by 2013 losses on settled derivatives lasses on the mark-toarket o
derivative instruments of $12.2 million and $21.8Blion, respectively. In 2012, our loss on setttivatives was $0.4 million and our gair
the mark-tomarket of derivative instruments was $15.1 milliokdditionally, the higher oil and gas revenue®@13 were partially offset |
increased production expenses, production tax@detiten expenses, and interest expense in 2013 a@dpo 2012. Our net income transli
to diluted net income per common share of $0.851%&and $0.65 in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We define Adjusted Net Income as net income exolydi) loss (gain) on the mark-toarket of derivative instruments, net of tax
(ii) severance expenses in connection with the derss of our former president and former chiefrafing officer, net of tax. Our Adjust
Net Income for the year ended December 31, 2018,%66.4 million (representing approximately $1.06 per dlditshare), as compared 1
66.2 million (representing approximately $ 1.08r diluted share) for the year ended December2812, and $38.8 million (represent
approximately $0.62 per diluted share) for the yaraied December 31, 2011. These increases intédjdéet Income are primarily due to
continued addition of oil and natural gas productimm new wells and higher realized commodity @sién 2013 compared to 2012 an
2012 compared to 2011.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income beforar{igrest expense, (ii) income taxes, (iii) depréoig depletion, amortization, a
accretion, (iv) loss (gain) on the mark-to-markétderivative instruments and (v) naash share based compensation expense. Ac
EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2013 wa$& @ million, compared to Adjusted EBITDA of $ 225nillion for the year ende
December 31, 2012 and $112.3 million for the yeateel December 31, 2011. These increases in AdjiEBETDA are primarily due to o
continued addition of oil and natural gas productimm new wells and higher realized commodity @sién 2013 compared to 2012 an
2012 compared to 2011.

We believe the use of these nGAAP financial measures provides useful informatiornvestors to gain an overall understandir
our current financial performance. Specificallye Wwelieve the noGAAP financial measures included herein providefuls@formation tc
both management and investors by excluding ceetgienses and unrealized commodity gains and ldlsaesur management believes are
indicative of our core operating results. In aitdit these noifGAAP financial measures are used by managemeiiuidgeting and forecasti
as well as subsequently measuring our performara we believe that we are providing investors iitancial measures that most clos
align to our internal measurement processes. Wisider these no@AAP measures to be useful in evaluating our cqerating results |
they more closely reflect our essential revenueeging activities and direct operating expensesufting in cash expenditures) neede
perform these revenue generating activities. Camagement also believes, based on feedback prolid#éte investment community, that
non-GAAP financial measures are necessary to allowrthestment community to construct its valuation eledo better compare our res
with our competitors and market sector.

These measures should be considered in additicestdts prepared in accordance with GAAP. In adidjtthese norGAAP financia
measures are not based on any comprehensive sefcofinting rules or principles. We believe thah-GAAP financial measures he
limitations in that they do not reflect all of tlaenounts associated with our results of operatiendedermined in accordance with GAAP
that these measures should only be used to evaluatesults of operations in conjunction with dmeresponding GAAP financial measures.

Adjusted Net income and Adjusted EBITDA are leAAP measures. A reconciliation of these meastrésAAP is included below
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NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.
Reconciliation of GAAP Net Income to Adjusted Nethcome

Year Ended December 3:
2013 2012 2011

(in thousands, except share and per commc
share data)

Net Income $ 53,060 $ 72,288 $ 40,61:
Add:

Loss (Gain) on the Ma-to-Market of Derivative Instruments, Net of T@ 13,30( (9,497) (1,849

Severance Expense, Net of Tax - 3,42¢ -
Adjusted Net Income $ 66,367 $ 66,21! $ 38,76:
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding — Basic 62,364,95 62,485,83 61,789,28
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding — Diluted 62,747,29 62,869,07 62,195,34
Net Income Per Common Shé Basic $ 0.8t $ 11¢ $ 0.6¢
Add:

Change due to Loss (Gain) on the M-to-Market of Derivative Instruments, Net of T 0.21 (0.1%) (0.09)

Change due to Severance Expense, Net of Tax - 0.0t -
Adjusted Net Income Per Common Share — Basic $ 1.06 $ 1.06 $ 0.6
Net Income Per Common She Diluted $ 0.8t $ 118 % 0.6¢
Add:

Change due to Loss (Gain) on the M-to-Market of Derivative Instruments, Net of T 0.21 (0.1%) (0.03)

Change due to Severance Expense, Net of Tax - 0.0t -
Adjusted Net Income Per Common Share — Diluted $ 1.06 $ 1.0 $ 0.62

(a) Adjusted to reflect related tax benefit (expende$&0 million, ($5.6 million) and ($1.2 million)f the years ended December 31, 2
2012 and 2011 respective

(b) Reflects severance expense recognized in connegitbrnthe departures during 2012 of our former pest and former chief operati
officer. Adjusted to reflect related tax benefitd@.0 million, for the year ended December 31,2
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Northern Qil and Gas, Inc.
Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

Net Income $ 53,067 $ 72,288 $ 40,61:
Add Back:
Interest Expens 32,70¢ 13,87¢ 58¢
Income Tax Provisio 31,76¢ 43,00: 26,83t
Depreciation, Depletion, Amortization and Accret 124,38: 98,92 41,17(
Non-Cash Share Based Compensa 4,79¢ 12,38: 6,16¢
Loss (Gain) on the Mark-to-Market of Derivative tinsnents 21,25¢ (15,147 (3,0772)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 267,98! $ 225,32( $ 112,29

2014 Operation Plan

We expect our total 2014 capital expenditure butigeange between $430 million and $440 millionurQ014 budget anticipates
will participate in the drilling and completion approximately 44 net wells targeting the Bakken @hdee Forks formations at an estimi
cost of approximately $388 million. Based on ewwgvconditions in the field, we expect our spendiagange between $30 million and !
million on acreage and other expenditures durini42dn addition, we estimate that we will spengragimately $12 million on other capi
expenditure activities, primarily capitalized woves expenses. We have the ability to adjust chpkpenditures by reducing the numbe
projects we elect to participate in. We curremtipect to fund all 2014 commitments using a comtimnaof cash-orhand, cash flow generai
by operations, bank borrowings and potential diglainfcings.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

Historically, our main sources of liquidity and @apresources have been internally generated tashfrom operations, credit facili
borrowings and issuances of debt and equity. Weergdly maintain low cash and cash equivalent larbecause we use cash 1
operations to fund our development activities atuee our bank debt. We continue to take stepssore adequate capital resources
liquidity to fund our capital expenditure prograim February 2012, we amended and restated thét @geement governing our revolv
credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility"Yo increase the maximum facility size to $750 roilli subject to a borrowing base the
currently $450 million. In May 2012, we issued $3@illion aggregate principal amount, and in Mayl20we issued an additional $:
million aggregate principal amount of 8.000% seninsecured notes due June 1, 2020 (collectivelyNloges”).

With our Revolving Credit Facility and our antictpd cash reserves and cash from operations, weevbdhat we will hay
sufficient cash flow and liquidity to fund our bustgd capital expenditures and operating expensex feast the next twelve months. /
significant acquisition of additional properties significant increase in drilling activity may rageius to seek additional capital. We may
choose to seek additional financing from the chpitarkets rather than utilize our Revolving Credifcility to fund such activities. V
cannot assure you, however, that any additionatalagill be available to us on favorable termsapall.
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At December 31, 2013, our debt to total capitaioratatio was 48%, we had $584.5 million of totabtloutstanding, $619.8 million
stockholdersequity, and $5.7 million of cash on hand. Additty, at December 31, 2013, there was $375 milbbravailability under ot
Revolving Credit Facility. At December 31, 2012 Wwad $424 million of debt outstanding, $586.2 immillof stockholderséquity, and $13.
million of cash on hand.

Cash Flows

Cash flows from operations are primarily affectgdpboduction volumes and commodity prices, nethefeffects of settlements of «
derivatives. Our cash flows from operations alse impacted by changes in working capital. We galhe maintain low cash and cz
equivalent balances because we use available tonfds\d our development activities or reduce outkbdebt. Shorterm liquidity needs a
satisfied by borrowings under our revolving cref@itility. We generally use derivatives to econaatlic hedge a significant, but varyi
portion of our anticipated future oil productiorr the next 12 to 36 months. Any payments due tontarparties under our derivative contr
are funded by proceeds received from the sale opmduction. Production receipts, however, lagnpants to the counterparties. Any inte
cash needs are funded by cash from operationsromvtiogs under the revolving credit facility. A§Becember 31, 2013, we had entered
derivative agreements covering 4.0 million barfeis2014 and 2.9 million barrels for 2015, with eage floor prices of $90.43 and $89
respectively. For additional information on thepiat of changing prices on our financial positisae ftem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitati
Disclosures about Market Risk.”

Our cash flows for the years ended December 313,28112 and 2011 are presented below:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 222,77 $ 198,52° $ 85,15(
Net cash used in investing activiti (358,53¢) (532,179 (300,869)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 128,06: 340,75: 69,88’
Net change in cas $ (7,70) $ 7,10¢ $  (145,83)

Cash flows provided by operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $222&illion, $198.5 million and $85.1 million for theears ended December 31, 2(
2012 and 2011, respectively. The increase in flasls provided by operating activities for the yemded December 31, 2013 as compar
2012 was primarily the result of a 19% increaseiirand natural gas production that drove an od gas sales increase of 24%. Cash f
provided by operating activities during the yeadexh December 31, 2012 increased compared to 20handy as a result of an increase in
and natural gas production of 95%.

Cash flows used in investing activities

We had cash flows used in investing activities 8&5 million, $532.2 million and $300.9 million g the years ended Decem
31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, primarilaassult of our capital expenditures for drillimgvelopment and acquisition costs. Oil
gas expenditure spending decreased from $532.Bbmiti 2012 to $358.5 million in 2013, a 33% desethat was driven by a decrease i
number of net producing well additions in 2013 empared to 2012. In 2013, our net producing wedigons totaled 40.0 as compare!
48.2 in 2012. Oil and gas expenditure spendingeesed from $341.4 million in 2011 to $532.0 miilim 2012, a 56% increase that was dr
by a 50% increase in the number of net producinjadelitions in 2012 as compared to 2011. In 2@l2,net producing well additions tota
48.3 as compared to 32.3 in 2011. The 2012 oilgawexpenditures include approximately $190.4ionilfor wells spud prior to 2012. T
spending on wells spud prior to 2012 related tolsvaWaiting completion at December 31, 2011, ad aglcompletion spending for we
placed into production prior to 2012.
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Development and acquisition activities are highlgceetionary. We monitor our capital expendituogsa regular basis, adjusting
amount up or down, and between projects, depenaiingrojected commodity prices, cash flows and returtOur capital expenditures
development and acquisition activities for the geamded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 are sumachar the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(in millions)
Drilling and completion cosi $ 389t % 486.C $ 312.¢
Acreage and other related activit 38.t 37.c 79.2
Other capital expenditures 11.1 14.2 21.¢
Total $ 439.1 $ 537.t $ 414.(

Cash flows provided by financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $128illion, $340.8 million and $69.9 million for theears ended December 31, 2(
2012 and 2011, respectively. For the year endaxkibber 31, 2013 and 2012, cash sourced throughciimg activities was primarily provid
from the issuance of senior unsecured notes andnadg under our Revolving Credit Facility. Therdase in cash provided by financ
activities for 2013 as compared to 2012 was atiizsible to a lower level of senior unsecured noteasse in 2013. Additionally, during 2C
we repurchased 2,036,383 shares of our common ataglcost of approximately $26.1 million and relpd49 million of net borrowings unc
our Revolving Credit Facility with proceeds frometlssuance of senior unsecured notes. During 2¢dtZ;ash provided by financing activii
was primarily attributable to $300 million from tiesuance of senior unsecured notes and $54.Jomili net borrowings under our Revolv
Credit Facility. We did not repurchase any sharesur common stock during 2012. Our long termtdbDecember 31, 2013 was $5¢
million, which was comprised of $509.5 million irersor unsecured notes and $75 million of borrowingsler our Revolving Crel
Facility. At December 31, 2013 we had $375 millafnavailable borrowing capacity under our Revolyvi@redit Facility. For the year enc
December 31, 2011, cash increases through finaraitigties was primarily provided by advances unal@ revolving credit facility.

Revolving Credit Facility

In February 2012, we entered into an amended &stdtel credit agreement providing for a revolvingdd facility (the ‘Revolving
Credit Facility”), which replaced our previous revolving credit fagilwith a syndicated facility. Our bank group @mprised of a group
commercial banks, with no single bank holding mtran 12% of the total facility. The Revolving Cite&acility, which is secured |
substantially all of our assets, provides for a woiment equal to the lesser of the facility amoanthe borrowing base. At December
2013, the facility amount was $750 million, the tooving base was $450 mi llion and there was a $itkom outstanding balance, leavirfy
375 million of borrowing capacity available undéetfacility. Under the terms of the Revolving dtdeacility, we may issue an unlimit
amount of permitted additional indebtedness, ameéeéf provided that the borrowing base will be @mtiby 25% of the stated amount of
such permitted additional indebtedness. The $50lomin Notes described below is “permitted adutital indebtednessés defined in tr
Revolving Credit Facility.

The Revolving Credit Facility matures on SeptemB@y 2018 and provides for a borrowing base sulifgeedetermination semi-
annually each April and October and for evdriten unscheduled redeterminations. Borrowingseurthe Revolving Credit Facility can eit
be at the Alternate Base Rate (as defined) plysread ranging from 0.5% to 1.5% or LIBOR borrowirgsthe Adjusted LIBOR Rate |
defined) plus a spread ranging from 1.5% to 2.9%e applicable spread at any time is dependent tihEpamount of borrowings relative to
borrowing base at such time. We may elect, franetto time, to convert all or any part of our LIBAdans to base rate loans or to conve
or any of the base rate loans to LIBOR loans. fmmitment fee is paid on the undrawn balance baseanoannual rate of either 0.375%
0.50%. At December 31, 2013, the commitment fee W@875%and the interest rate margin was 1.5% on LIBORdaamd 0.5% on base r
loans.
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The Revolving Credit Facility contains negative eonants that limit our ability, among other thinggspay any cash dividends, in
additional indebtedness, sell assets, enter intainehedging contracts, change the nature of osimiess or operations, merge, consolidai
make investments. In addition, we are requirech&intain a current ratio of no less than 1.0 to 2 were in compliance with our coven:
under the Revolving Credit Facility at December 211.3.

All of our obligations under the Revolving Credadility are secured by a first priority securitydrest in any and all of our assets.
8.000% Senior Notes due 2020

On May 18, 2012, we issued at par value $300 miliggregate principal amount of 8.000% senior wrsecnotes due June 1, 2|
(the “Original Notes”).On May 13, 2013, we issued at a price of 105.25%ditional $200 million aggregate principal amooh8.000%
senior unsecured notes due June 1, 2020 (the Y+aloNotes” and, together with the Original Notdg “Notes”). Interest is payable on t
Notes sen-annually in arrears on each June 1 and Decembdihd.issuance of the Original Notes resulted in pretceeds to us
approximately $291.2 million and the issuance effollow-on Notes resulted in net proceeds to us of appratgly $200.1 million, which a
in use to fund our exploration, development andugition program and for general corporate purp@sesuding repayment of borrowings t
were outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facéit the time the Notes were issued).

At any time prior to June 1, 2015, we may redeentou@s% of the Notes at a redemption price of 1@8%e principal amount, pl
accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption adtk,the proceeds of certain equity offerings ang as the redemption occurs within
days of completing such equity offering and at ie8&8% of the aggregate principal amount of the Bla&mains outstanding after s
redemption. Prior to June 1, 2016, we may redemmesor all of the Notes for cash at a redemptidoepequal to 100% of their princij
amount plus an applicable makdrole premium and accrued and unpaid interestéae¢demption date. On and after June 1, 2016, ay
redeem some or all of the Notes at redemption prierpressed as percentages of principal amoung)l ég 104% for the twelvaionth perio
beginning on June 1, 2016, 102% for the tweh@nth period beginning June 1, 2017 and 100% béynon Junel, 2018, plus accrued
unpaid interest to the redemption date.

The Notes are governed by an Indenture (the “Indehtdated May 18, 2012, with Wilmington Trust, Natiodasociation, as trust
(the “Trustee”).

The Indenture restricts our ability to: (i) incudditional debt or enter into sale and leasebaakstetions; (ii) pay distributions ¢
redeem or repurchase, equity interests; (iii) med®ain investments; (iv) incur liens; (v) entetoitransactions with affiliates; (vi) merge
consolidate with another company; and (vii) trangfed sell assets. These covenants are subjectntamber of important exceptions .
qualifications. If at any time when the Notes ated investment grade by both Moody’s InvestonyiBe, Inc. and Standard & PoerRating
Services and no Default (as defined in the Indenthas occurred and is continuing, many of suclecants will terminate and we and an
our subsidiaries will cease to be subject to suskegants.

The Indenture contains customary events of defandiding:

«» default in any payment of interest on any Note witee, continued for 30 days;

« default in the payment of principal of or premiufrany, on any Note when due;

« failure by us to comply with our other obligatiomsder the Indenture, in certain cases subject tiogrand grace periods;

» payment defaults and accelerations with respeciutoother indebtedness and certain of our subsdiaif any, in the aggreg:
principal amount of $25 million or mor

« certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reoiz@ion of our company or a significant subsidiany group of restricte
subsidiaries that, taken together, would constiéugegnificant subsidiary

- failure by us or any significant subsidiary or gooaf restricted subsidiaries that, taken togetheruld constitute a significa
subsidiary to pay certain final judgments aggreggin excess of $25 million within 60 days; ¢

« any guarantee of the Notes by a guarantor ceadmsitofull force and effect, is declared null aradd in a judicial proceeding or
denied or disaffirmed by its make
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Capital Requirements

Our primary needs for cash are for exploration eltgyment and acquisition of oil and natural gagpprties and payment of interest
outstanding indebtedness. During 2013, our acremwyd development expenditures included approxima$d89.5 million of drilling
completion and capitalized workover costs, $1.8ionilrelated to asset retirement obligations, $8ifion of capitalized internal costs and $
million of capitalized interest. Also in 2013, apgimately $38.5 million was expended on acreage ather expenditures in the Willist
Basin. Our 2013 capital program was funded by aasthand, net cash flow from operations and bomgwiunder our Revolving Cre
Facility and the Notes. Our capital expenditurddet for 2014 is discussed above under the hedd@digt Operation Plan.”

Development and acreage activities are highly dismmary, and, for the near term, we expect sutivities to be maintained at lev:
we can fund through internal cash flow and borr@nimder our Revolving Credit Facility. To the exteapital requirements exceed inte
cash flow and borrowing capacity under our Revav@redit Facility, debt may be issued to fund thesgiirements. We monitor our cag
expenditures on a regular basis, adjusting the amgu or down and also between our projects, ddépgrah commaodity prices, cash flow &
projected returns. Also, our obligations may clewlgie to acquisitions, divestitures and continuexivth. Our future success in grow
proved reserves and production may be dependewoupmbility to access outside sources of capifainternally generated cash flow &
borrowing capacity is not available under our Reig Credit Facility, we may issue additional stsacé stock, subordinated notes or o
debt securities to fund capital expenditures, agitjons, extend maturities or to repay debt.

Satisfaction of Our Cash Obligations for the Nex2 Months

With our Revolving Credit Facility and our cashvit® from operations, we believe we have sufficiesgpital to meet our drillin
commitments and expected general and administratipenses for the next twelve months. Nonethetssstrategic acquisition of asset
increase in drilling activity may require us to lseglditional capital. We may also choose to sefhtimnal capital rather than utilize our cre
facility or other debt instruments to fund accefedaor continued drilling at the discretion of mgement and depending on prevailing me
conditions. We will evaluate any potential oppaities for acquisitions as they arise. Howeveere¢hcan be no assurance that any addil
capital will be available to us on favorable teronst all.

Over the next 24 months it is possible that oustaxy capital, our Revolving Credit Facility andtiaipated funds from operations n
not be sufficient to sustain continued acreage iaitqpns and drilling activities. Consequently, wey seek additional capital in the futur
fund growth and expansion through additional delgquity financing or credit facilities. No assoca can be made that such financing w
be available, and if available it may take eittex form of debt or equity. In either case, thaifficing could have a negative impact on
financial condition and our shareholders.

Effects of Inflation and Pricing

The oil and natural gas industry is very cyclicaldhe demand for goods and services of oil fiedthjganies, suppliers and otr
associated with the industry put extreme pressarte economic stability and pricing structure witthe industry. Typically, as prices for
and natural gas increase, so do all associated.c@sinversely, in a period of declining pricesoasated cost declines are likely to lag and
not adjust downward in proportion. Material chamge prices also impact our current revenue strezstimates of future reserves, borrov
base calculations of bank loans, impairment assastsnof oil and natural gas properties, and valhfeproperties in purchase and ¢
transactions. Material changes in prices can imftecvalue of oil and natural gas companies aei tibility to raise capital, borrow mor
and retain personnel. While we do not currentlgest business costs to materially increase, highees for oil and natural gas could resu
increases in the costs of materials, services ansbpnel.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our obligations ammmitments at December 31, 2013 to make futuraneays under certe
contracts, aggregated by category of contractuaation, for specified time periods:

Payment due by Perioc

Less than More than
Contractual Obligations 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years Total
Office Lease® $ 278,000 $ 177,000 $ - $ - % 455,00!
Automobile Lease® 27,00( - - - 27,00(
Long Term Deb® - - 75,000,00 500,000,00 575,000,00
Cash Interest Expense on Débt 41,253,00 82,505,00 82,192,00 56,667,00 262,617,00
Total $ 41,558,000 $ 82,682,00 $157,192,00 $556,667,00 $838,099,00

(1) Office lease through 201

(2) Automobile leases for certain executives through4:

(3) Revolving Credit Facility and 8.000% Senior Notee @020 (see Note 4 to financial stateme

(4) Cash interest on Revolving Credit Facility and 8%0Senior Notes due 2020 are estimated assumipgimapal repayment until the d
date

The above contractual obligations schedule doesnchide future anticipated settlement of derivatoontracts or estimated amot
expected to be incurred in the future associated thie abandonment of our oil and gas propertiesyea cannot determine with accuracy
amount and/or timing of such payments.

Critical Accounting Policies

The establishment and consistent application obwamiing policies is a vital component of accuratalyd fairly presenting o
financial statements in accordance with generaityepted accounting principles in the United Sté@®&AP), as well as ensuring complial
with applicable laws and regulations governing fiicial reporting. While there are rarely alternatimethods or rules from which to selec
establishing accounting and financial reportinggies, proper application often involves signifitfudgment regarding a given set of facts
circumstances and a complex series of decisions.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements under GAd&duires management to make estimates and assushiat affect our report
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosumatingent assets and liabilities at the datdeffinancial statements and the reported am
of revenues and expenses during the reporting ghe@ur estimates of our proved oil and natural geserves, future development cc
estimates relating to certain oil and natural gassnues and expenses and fair value of derivatisguiments are the most critical to
financial statements.

Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

The determination of depreciation, depletion and@ization expense as well as impairments thatezegnized on our oil and natt
gas properties are highly dependent on the estinwdt¢he proved oil and natural gas reserves atatile to our properties. Our estimat
proved reserves is based on the quantities ohdilratural gas which geological and engineering datnonstrate, with reasonable certaint
be recoverable in the future years from known reses under existing economic and operating cood#i The accuracy of any rese
estimate is a function of the quality of availabka, engineering and geological interpretatiow, jadgment. For example, we must estir
the amount and timing of future operating costedpction taxes and development costs, all of whiely in fact vary considerably from act
results. In addition, as the prices of oil and reltgas and cost levels change from year to ybaretonomics of producing our reserves
change and therefore the estimate of proved res@mag also change. Any significant variance irs¢hassumptions could materially affect
estimated quantity and value of our reserves.
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The information regarding present value of thereitoet cash flows attributable to our proved od aatural gas reserves are estir
only and should not be construed as the currenkehamlue of the estimated oil and natural gasrveseattributable to our properties. Tt
such information includes revisions of certain reseestimates attributable to our properties inetldh the prior yeas estimates. The
revisions reflect additional information from sufsent activities, production history of the propstinvolved and any adjustments in
projected economic life of such properties resglfiom changes in oil and natural gas prices. Anyre downward revisions could adver:
affect our financial condition, our borrowing abjli our future prospects and the value of our comistock.

The estimates of our proved oil and natural gasrves used in the preparation of our financialestents were prepared by Ry
Scott Company, our registered independent petrolsamsultants, and were prepared in accordancetieéthules promulgated by the SEC.

Oil and Natural Gas Properties

The method of accounting we use to account foraluand natural gas investments determines whascm® capitalized and h
these costs are ultimately matched with revenudsapensed.

We utilize the full cost method of accounting te@ant for our oil and natural gas investments exdtef the successful efforts met
because we believe it more accurately reflectsutiderlying economics of our programs to explore dedelop oil and natural gas reser
The full cost method embraces the concept thahdlgs and other expenditures that fail to add veseare intrinsic to the oil and natural
exploration business. Thus, under the full costhmet all costs incurred in connection with the asijon, development and exploration of
and natural gas reserves are capitalized. Thestaltzgd amounts include the costs of unproved erigs, internal costs directly relatec
acquisitions, development and exploration actigjti@sset retirement costs, geological and geopdlysists that are directly attributable to
properties and capitalized interest. Although saftihese costs will ultimately result in no additéd reserves, they are part of a program
which we expect the benefits of successful wellmtire than offset the costs of any unsuccessfud.ohlee full cost method differs from 1
successful efforts method of accounting for oil aatural gas investments. The primary differendevben these two methods is the treatr
of exploratory dry hole costs. These costs are iglgeexpensed under the successful efforts methioen it is determined that measur:
reserves do not exist. Geological and geophysizstiscare also expensed under the successful effettsod. Under the full cost method,
dry hole costs and geological and geophysical castsinitially capitalized and classified as unmdvproperties pending determinatior
proved reserves. If no proved reserves are disedyénese costs are then amortized with all theséonghe full cost pool.

Capitalized amounts except unproved costs are @eblesing the units of production method. The eliph expense per unit
production is the ratio of the sum of our unamedizhistorical costs and estimated future developnoests to our proved rese
volumes. Estimation of hydrocarbon reserves relies on pseifesl judgment and use of factors that cannot becigel
determined. Subsequent reserve estimates matediffiérent from those reported would change thplet®on expense recognized during
future reporting periods. For the year ended Ddma31, 2013, our average depletion expense peofiproduction was $27.62 per Boe
10% decrease in our estimated net proved reseti@scamber 31, 2013 would result in a $0.94 per iBorease in our per unit depletion.

To the extent the capitalized costs in our fulltgesol (net of depreciation, depletion and amottiwa and related deferred tax
exceed the sum of the present value (using a 18%oudlnt rate and based on per@t oil and natural gas prices) of the estimatéaréune
cash flows from our proved oil and natural gas me=e and the capitalized cost associated with opraved properties, we would hav
capitalized ceiling impairment. Such costs would digrged to operations as a reduction of the cagryialue of oil and natural ¢
properties. The risk that we will be required totevdown the carrying value of our oil and natugabs properties increases when oil and n¢
gas prices are depressed, even if the low priceseanporary. In addition, capitalized ceiling irmpgent charges may occur if we experie
poor drilling results or estimations of our provederves are substantially reduced. A capitalcalihg impairment is a reduction in earni
that does not impact cash flows, but does impaetaing income and shareholdeggjuity. Once recognized, a capitalized ceilingampen
charge to oil and natural gas properties cannaebersed at a later date. The risk that we willezience a ceiling test writedown increz
when oil and natural gas prices are depressedwee ifiave substantial downward revisions in oumesttd proved reserves. As of Decer
31, 2013 we have not incurred a capitalized ceilmgairment charge. However, no assurance canivan ghat we will not experience
capitalized ceiling impairment charge in futureipds. In addition, capitalized ceiling impairmenitarges may occur if estimates of prc
hydrocarbon reserves are substantially reducedgtomates of future development costs increasefiigntly. See “ltem 2. PropertiesRrove(
Reserves,” for a discussion of our reserve estimassumptions.
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Revenue Recoghnitio

We derive revenue primarily from the sale of thé aid natural gas from our interests in producingllsy hence our reven
recognition policy for these sales is significant.

We recognize revenue from the sale of oil and shtyas when production is delivered to, and tils transferred to, the purchaser
to the extent the selling price is reasonably deitgable.

We use the sales method of accounting for nat@sibglancing of natural gas production and woutdggize a liability if the existir
proved reserves were not adequate to cover thermturmbalance situation. As of December 31, 2@i8, natural gas production was
balance, meaning our cumulative portion of natges production taken and sold from wells in whidah lvave an interest equaled our ent
interest in natural gas production from those wells

In general, settlements for hydrocarbon sales camund two months after the end of the month ifctvithe oil, natural gas or ott
hydrocarbon products were produced. We estimateaantle for the value of these sales using infdonatvailable to us at the time «
financial statements are generated. Differencesadliected in the accounting period that paymergseceived from the operator.

Derivative Instrument Activities

We use derivative instruments from time to timentanage market risks resulting from fluctuationghia prices of oil and natul
gas. We may periodically enter into derivative tcacts, including price swaps, caps and floors civirequire payments to (or receipts fri
counterparties based on the differential betwegxed price and a variable price for a fixed qugntf oil or natural gas without the excha
of underlying volumes. The notional amounts ofsthéinancial instruments are based on expecteduptioth from existing wells. We ha
and may continue to use exchange traded futurdsaoi® and option contracts to hedge the delivepemf oil at a future date.

All derivative positions are carried at their fa@lue on the balance sheet and are markedaiket at the end of each period. |
realized gains and losses are recorded to gaie)(tws settled derivatives and unrealized gainossds are recorded to (losses) gains @
mark-tomarket of derivative instruments on the statemeaft€omprehensive income rather than as a compookr@tccumulated oth
comprehensive income. See Note 14 for a desaniptiche derivative contracts which we executedndu?013 and 2012.

The resulting cash flows from derivatives are régmbas cash flows from operating activities.
New Accounting Pronouncements
Recently Issuet

Balance Sheet Offsetting In December 2011, the FASB issued Balance SHegti¢ 210) —Disclosures about Offsetting Assets
Liabilities (ASU No. 201111), which requires disclosures regarding nettimgrajements in agreements underlying derivativersain financie
instruments and related collateral amounts, andettient to which an entitg’ financial statement presentation policies reldtedetting
arrangements impact amounts recorded to the finhatatements. These disclosure requirements taffext the presentation of amount
the balance sheets, and are effective for annpaltiag periods beginning on or after January 1,2@nd interim periods within those ant
reporting periods. We implemented the discloswidance effective January 1, 2013, and the impleatiem did not have a material impaci
our financial statements.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

For a description of the accounting standards tiratadopted in 2013, sddotes to Financial Statementdete 2. Significal
Accounting Policie.

Various accounting standards and interpretationgigsued in 2013 with effective dates subsequeiecember 31, 2013. We hi
evaluated the recently issued accounting pronouantnthat are effective in 2014 and believe thatenaf them will have a material effect
our financial position, results of operations osltdlows when adopted.

Further, we are monitoring the joint standasdting efforts of the Financial Accounting Stami$aBoard and the Internatio
Accounting Standards Board. There are a large rurabpending accounting standards that are beirgeted for completion in 2014 ¢
beyond, including, but not limited to, standardstiag to revenue recognition, accounting for lesagair value measurements, accounting
financial instruments, disclosure of loss continges and financial statement presentation. Becthese pending standards have not yet
finalized, at this time we are not able to detemnriine potential future impact that these standaitithave, if any, on our financial positic
results of operations or cash flows.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We currently do not have any dflance sheet arrangements that have or are rédgdikaly to have a current or future effect orr
financial condition, changes in financial conditioavenues or expenses, results of operationsditgucapital expenditures or capital resou
that is material to investors.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk
Commodity Price Risk

The price we receive for our oil and natural gasdpction heavily influences our revenue, profitéjlaccess to capital and future |
of growth. Oil and natural gas are commaodities, ghdrefore, their prices are subject to wide fhations in response to relatively mi
changes in supply and demand and other factorstotitially, the markets for oil and natural gas édeen volatile, and our managen
believes these markets will likely continue to lmatile in the future. The prices we receive for production depend on numerous fac
beyond our control. Our revenue during 2013 gdlyereould have increased or decreased along with ianreases or decreases in oi
natural gas prices, but the exact impact on owrireis indeterminable given the variety of expersssociated with producing and selling
that also increase and decrease along with oiégric

We enter into derivative contracts to achieve aempredictable cash flow by reducing our exposureitoprice volatility. Or
November 1, 2009, due to the volatility of pricdfelientials in the Williston Basin, we -designated all derivatives that were previo
classified as cash flow hedges and we have elewedo designate any subsequent derivative costrastaccounting hedges. As suct
derivative positions are carried at their fair wahn the balance sheet and are markedddket at the end of each period. Any realizedhg
and losses are recorded to gain (loss) on set#egatives and mark-to-market gains or losses acerded to (losses) gains on the mark-t
market of derivative instruments on the statemehtomprehensive income rather than as a compafesther comprehensive income (lc
or other income (expense).

We generally use derivatives to economically healg@gnificant, but varying portion of our anticipdtfuture production over a rolli
36 month horizon. Any payments due to counterggaurtinder our derivative contracts are funded bggmds received from the sale of
production. Production receipts, however, lag payts to the counterparties. Any interim cash negdsfunded by cash from operation
borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility.

53




The following table reflects open commodity swamtcacts as of December 31, 2013, the associatedned and the correspond
fixed price.

Settlement Period Qil (Barrels) Fixed Price

Swap:-Crude Oil

01/01/14- 06/30/14 300,000 $ 89.5(
01/01/14- 06/30/14 240,00( 90.0(
01/01/14- 06/30/14 240,00( 100.0(
01/01/14-12/31/14 240,00( 91.6¢
01/01/14- 12/31/14 345,00( 88.5¢
01/01/14- 12/31/14 345,00( 88.6(
01/01/14- 12/31/14 345,00( 88.4(
01/01/14- 12/31/14 345,00( 88.5(
01/01/14- 12/31/14 120,00( 91.3¢
01/01/14- 12/31/14 120,00( 90.0(
01/01/14- 12/31/14 240,00( 90.1¢
01/01/14-12/31/14 240,00( 91.0(
01/01/14- 12/31/14 120,00( 93.0(
07/01/14- 12/31/14 120,00( 90.0(
07/01/14- 12/31/14 120,00( 90.0(
07/01/14- 12/31/14 120,00( 93.5(
07/01/14- 12/31/14 30,00( 90.5¢
01/01/14- 06/30/15 480,00( 89.1¢
01/01/15- 06/30/15 60,00( 90.5(
01/01/15- 06/30/15 180,00( 88.5¢
01/01/15- 06/30/15 180,00( 88.0(
01/01/15- 06/30/15 60,00( 90.7¢
01/01/15- 06/30/15 60,00( 90.2¢
01/01/15- 06/30/15 90,00( 89.0(
01/01/15- 06/30/15 90,00( 89.0(
01/01/15-12/31/15 720,00( 89.0(
01/01/15-12/31/15 360,00( 89.0(
01/01/15-12/31/15 360,00( 89.0:
01/01/15-12/31/15 180,00( 89.0(
01/01/15-12/31/15 180,00t 89.0(

As of December 31, 2013, we had a total volume penocommodity swaps of 6.6 million barrels at agh&d average price
approximately $ 89.84 .

The following table reflects the weighted averageepof open commodity swap derivative contractefa®ecember 31, 2013, by yi
with associated volumes.

Weighted Average Price
Of Open Commodity Swap Contracts

Weighted
Volumes Average
Year (Bbl) Price
2014 3,750,000 $ 90.4¢
2015 2,880,001 89.0:
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In addition to the open commodity swap contracts, have entered into costless collar contracts. ddstless collars are usec
establish floor and ceiling prices on anticipatedde oil production. There were no premiums paidegeived by us related to the cost
collar contracts. The following table reflects opmstless collar contracts as of December 31,.2013

Floor/Ceiling
Term Oil (Barrels) Price Basis
Costless Collars — Crude Ol
01/01/14-12/31/14 240,000 $ 90.00/$99.0 NYMEX

Interest Rate Risk

Our longterm debt is comprised of borrowings that contaied and floating interest rates. The Notes betarést at an annual fix
rate of 8% and our Revolving Credit Facility intsfreate is a floating rate option that is desigadig us within the parameters establishe
the underlying agreement. During the year endedeBer 31, 2013, we had $73.5 million in averagtstanding borrowings under ¢
Revolving Credit Facility at a weighted averagesrat 2.14%. We have the option to designate tference rate of interest for each spe
borrowing under the Revolving Credit Facility as amts are advanced. Borrowings based upon the drordterbank Offered Re
(“LIBOR") will bear interest at a rate equal to LIBOR pluspaead ranging from 1.5% to 2.5% depending on éregmtage of borrowing bz
that is currently advanced. Any borrowings notigiested as being based upon LIBOR will bear intesiea rate equal to the current prime
published by the Wall Street Journal, plus a spraading from 0.5% to 1.5%, depending on the paeggnof borrowing base that is curre
advanced. We have the option to designate eitliging mechanism. Interest payments are due utgeRevolving Credit Facility in arrea
in the case of a loan based on LIBOR on the lagtaddahe specified interest period and in the cafsall other loans on the last day of e
March, June, September and December. All outstgnglincipal is due and payable upon terminatiothefRevolving Credit Facility.

Our Revolving Credit Facility allows us to fix tleterest rate of borrowings under it for all or @rton of the principal balance fo
period up to three months; however our borrowimgsgenerally withdrawn with interest rates fixed éme month. Thereafter, to the exten
do not repay the principle, our borrowings areewlbver and the interest rate is reset based oautinent LIBOR or prime rate as applica
As a result, changes in interest rates can imgaetits of operations and cash flows. A 1% incréashort-term interest rates on our floating
rate debt at December 31, 2013 would cost us appedely $750,000 in additional annual interest ergee
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements and supplementary findriofarmation required by this item are included tre pages immediate
following the Index to Financial Statements appgaon page F-1.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain a system of disclosure controls andgutares that is designed to ensure that informaiggnired to be disclosed in «
Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, suiredaand reported within the time periods specifiethe rules and forms of the SEC,

that such information is accumulated and commueit& our management, including our Chief ExecutWicer and Chief Financial Office
as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardimuired disclosures.
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As of December 31, 2013, our management, includimg Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial iOffr, had evaluated t
effectiveness of the design and operation of aseldsure controls and procedures (as defined im&h@ge Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 1Bs{€e)
pursuant to Rule 1385(b) under the Exchange Act. Based upon and dlseoflate of the evaluation, our Chief Executivéidef and Chie
Financial Officer concluded that information reauirto be disclosed is recorded, processed, sumedaand reported within the speci
periods and is accumulated and communicated to geamant, including our Chief Executive Officer andi& Financial Officer, to allow f
timely decisions regarding required disclosure dafternial information required to be included in quariodic SEC reports. Based on
foregoing, our management determined that our@sce controls and procedures were effective &eoember 31, 2013.

No change in our company’s internal control ovaaficial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f] a6d415(f) under the Exchan
Act) occurred during the quarter ended DecembeRB13, that has materially affected, or is reasbhnlitely to materially affect, our intern
control over financial reporting.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

The management of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. iparsible for establishing and maintaining adeqirgternal control over financi
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)1&tder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Twenpanys internal control system
designed to provide reasonable assurance regatdegeliability of financial reporting and the perption of our Company’ financia
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles in théadnStates of America.

All internal control systems, no matter how welkidmed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, etl@se systems determined tc
effective can provide only reasonable assurancé vaspect to financial statement preparation arebgntation. Because of its inhe
limitations, internal control over financial repiod may not prevent or detect misstatements. Afsmjections of any evaluation
effectiveness to future periods are subject taisiethat controls may become inadequate becauskanfges in conditions, or that the degre
compliance with the policies or procedures may ritatate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Cgispaternal control over financial reporting as afdd@mber 31, 2013. In mak
this assessment, management used the criteriartiebly the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohthe Treadway Commission (COSO
Internal Control-Integrated Framework (1992).

Based on our evaluation under the framework inri@eControlintegrated Framework, management concluded thaCtrepany'
internal control over financial reporting was etfee as of December 31, 2013.

The effectiveness of our Compasyihternal control over financial reporting as afd@mber 31, 2013, has been audited by Deloi
Touche LLP, an independent registered public acogifirm, as stated in their report.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Northern Oil and Gas, In

We have audited the internal control over finanoigorting of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. (the “Canp”) as of December 31, 2013, basel
criteria established imternal Control — Integrated Framework (19983jued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatairithe Treadwa
Commission. The Compars/’management is responsible for maintaining effecinternal control over financial reporting andr fibs
assessment of the effectiveness of internal comivel financial reporting, included in the accomypag Managemens Annual Report ¢
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Ourpgessibility is to express an opinion on the Comparngternal control over financial report
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statglof the Public Company Accounting Oversightid&@nited States). Those standi
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our audituded obtaining an understanding of internal cdrdver financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiafuthe design and operating effectiveness ofriratiecontrol based on the assessed risk
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis fol
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi, the companyg’ principal executiv
and principal financial officers, or persons pemiorg similar functions, and effected by the companyoard of directors, management,
other personnel to provide reasonable assuranegdieg the reliability of financial reporting antdet preparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generally miedeaccounting principles. A compasyihternal control over financial reporting inclg
those policies and procedures that (1) pertaiheéanaintenance of records that, in reasonablel dataurately and fairly reflect the transacti
and dispositions of the assets of the companypi@jide reasonable assurance that transactionee@weded as necessary to permit prepar
of financial statements in accordance with gengi@dcepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the company are t
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngenzent and directors of the company; and (3) peov@&hsonable assurance regar
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asijon, use, or disposition of the compasssets that could have a material effect o
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal tcohover financial reporting, including the pogitip of collusion or improper managem
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected timely basis. Also, projections of ¢
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltominover financial reporting to future periods agbject to the risk that the controls r
become inadequate because of changes in conditiotigt the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over fic&l reporting as of December 31, 2(
based on the criteria establishedriternal Control — Integrated Framework (1998sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatad
the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bloéunited States), the financ
statements as of and for the year ended Decemhe2(3B of the Company and our report dated MarcB034 expressed an unqualil
opinion on those financial statements.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota

March 3, 2014
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART IlI

Certain information required by this Part Il isorporated by reference from our definitive Proxgt&ment for the Annual Meeting
Shareholders to be held in 2014 (the “Proxy Statd¢fhevhich we intend to file with the SEC pursuant tggRlation 14A within 120 days af
December 31, 2013. Except for those portions fipelly incorporated into this Annual Report on ForlOK by reference to the Pro
Statement, no other portions of the Proxy Statermsntleemed to be filed as part of this Annual RepoForm 10-K.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govence
The information included in “Part | — Executive @€rs of the Registrant” of this report is incorgiad herein by reference.

The information appearing under the headings “Psapd.: Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governah and ‘Section 16(c
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the@ Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsBttwt applies to our chief executive officer etliinancial officer and perso
performing similar functions. A copy is availalda our website at www.northernoil.comWe intend to post on our website any amendr
to, or waivers from, our Code of Business Conduck Bthics pursuant to the rules of the SEC and N¥BH.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information appearing under the headings “EtteelCompensation” and “Compensation Committee Reépand the informatia
regarding compensation committee interlocks andlémsparticipation under the heading “Corporate &aance,"in the Proxy Statement
incorporated herein by reference.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners afndbnagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Comensation Plans

The following table provides information with regpéo our common shares issuable under our eqaitypensation plans as of
December 31, 2013:

Number of Number of
securities to Weighted- securities
be issued average remaining
upon exercist exercise price  available for
of of future
outstanding outstanding issuance
options, options, under equity
warrants and warrants and compensatior
Plan Category rights rights plans
Equity compensation plans approved by security holers
2006 Incentive Stock Option Pl 241,87 $ 5.1¢ -
2013 Equity Incentive Pla - - 2,019,04
Equity compensation plans not approved by securitholders - - -
Total 241,87. $ 5.1¢ 2,019,04

The information appearing under the heading “Ségu@iwnership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Masragnt”in the Prox
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independence

The information appearing under the headings “@efRelationships and Related Transactions” and pomte Governanceh the
Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information appearing under the heading “Prap@sRatification of Appointment of Independentgiered Public Accountants
in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein ligremce.

PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

€) Documents filed as part of this Répor

1. Financial Statement
See Index to Financial Statements on pe-1.

2. Financial Statement Schedu
Supplemental Oil and Gas Informati

All other schedules are omitted because they dheenot applicable or required information is show the financial statements
or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits:

Unless otherwise indicated, all documents incorgaray reference into this report are filed witk SEC pursuant to the Securities
and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, under fiteben 001-33999.

Exhibit No.

Description

Reference

3.1

3.2

4.1

10.1*

10.2*

10.&

10.¢

Articles of Incorporation of Northern Oil and G&s¢. dated
June 28, 201

By-Laws of Northern Oil and Gas, In

Specimen Stock Certificate of Northern Oil and Gas,
Indenture, dated May 18, 2012, between Northerraaul
Gas, Inc. and Wilmington Trust, National Associatias
trustee (including Form of 8.000% Senior Note d02Q)
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and
between Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. and Michael ég&,
dated January 30, 20l

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employme
Agreement by and between Northern Oil and Gas,dnd.
Michael L. Reger, dated January 14, 2

Separation Agreement and Release, dated OctoBen 2,
between Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. and Ryan R.dBifion

Consulting Agreement, dated October 1, 2012, betwee
Northern QOil and Gas, Inc. and Ryan R. Gilbert
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the iRegnt’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC oty 2y
2010

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the iRegnt's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC oty 2y
2010

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the iRegnt’s
Current Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
February 29, 201

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the iRegnt's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC onrbta
18, 2012

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thgiReant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC orbfmry
2, 2009 (File No. 0C-33999)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to thgiRant's
Current Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC oargh
4, 2011 (File No. 0(-33999)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thgiReant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on@ber
1, 2012

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thgiReant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC ont@her
1, 2012
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Employment Agreement by and between Northern Qil ai
Gas, Inc. and Thomas W. Stoelk, dated Novembed Bl

Employment Agreement by and between Northern Qil al
Gas, Inc. and Brandon Elliott, dated January 13:

Employment Agreement by and between Northern Qil al
Gas, Inc. and Erik J. Romslo, dated October 101

Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. Amended and Restate® 200
Equity Incentive Plai

Northern QOil and Gas, Inc. Amended and Restate® 200
Equity Incentive Plan Amendment Nc¢

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Nontiail
and Gas, Inc. 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (for gsarior to
June 8, 2011

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Nontiail
and Gas, Inc. Amended and Restated 2009 Equitytivee
Plan (for“single trigge” grants after June 8, 201

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Nontiail
and Gas, Inc. Amended and Restated 2009 Equitytivee
Plan (for*double trigge” grants after December 20, 20:

Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. 2013 Incentive F

Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. Form of Restricted Stagkard
Agreement (Single Trigger) under the Northern @il &as,
Inc. 2013 Incentive Pla

Northern QOil and Gas, Inc. Form of Restricted StAckard
Agreement (Double Trigger) under the Northern @i a
Gas, Inc. 2013 Incentive Pl

Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, daenf
February 28, 2012, among Northern Oil and Gas, &%.
Borrower, Royal Bank of Canada, as AdministrativgeAt,
SunTrust Bank, as Syndication Agent, Bank of Maaltre
KeyBank, N.A. and U.S. Bank N.A., as Co-Documeoptati
Agents, and the Lenders party ther

First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated €redi
Agreement, dated June 29, 2012, by and among Nar@®i
and Gas, Inc., Royal Bank of Canada, and the Ler@arty
thereto

Second Amendment to Third Amended and RestatedtCi
Agreement, dated September 28, 2012, by and among
Northern Oil and Gas, Inc., Royal Bank of Canadal, the
Lenders Party there

61

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thgiReant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
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SEC on March 8, 201
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February 29, 201

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the
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SEC on March 1, 201

Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Reght's
Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC onrAQ9,
2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thgiRant's
Current Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC amAst
9, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to thgiReant’s
Current Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC amAst
9, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thgiReant's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC onrbta2,
2012

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thgiReant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC oty
2012

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thgiReant's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC ont@ber
2,2012
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Third Amendment to Third Amended and Restated €red
Agreement, dated March 28, 2013, by and among Korth
Oil and Gas, Inc., Royal Bank of Canada, and thedees
Party theretc

Fourth Amendment to Third Amended and RestatediCre
Agreement and Second Amendment to Third Amended
Restated Guaranty and Collateral Agreement, dated
September 30, 2013, by and among Northern Oil aas] G
Inc., Royal Bank of Canada, and the Lenders Phggeto
Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Char

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking
Deloitte & Touche LLF

Consent of Ryder Scott Company,

Powers of Attorne!

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo Rule
13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchaay of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of theaBas-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Rule
13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchaa of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of tHeaBas-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and i€h
Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectiobd,3as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@dt
of 2002

Report of Ryder Scott Company, |

XBRL Instance Documer(®)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum(®@)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docunt
@

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docure
@

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum®
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Documeni®

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thgiReant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC onrilp,
2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thgiReant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC ont@ber
1, 2013

Filed herewitt

Filed herewitr

Filed herewitr
Filed herewith (included on signature pa

Filed herewitr

Filed herewitr

Filed herewitr
Filed herewitr
Filed Electronically
Filed Electronically

Filed Electronically

Filed Electronically
Filed Electronically

Filed Electronically

* Management contract or compensatory plan or gearent required to be filed as an exhibit to thjzort.

(1) The XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 this Annual Report on Form 10-K shall not be deerfided” for purposes (
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1%8},amended, or otherwise subject to liability aitteection and shall not
incorporated by reference into any filing or otlikrcument pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933araended, except as shall
expressly set forth by specific reference in stiatigf or document
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this repot
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.

Date: March 3, 201+« By: /s/ Michael L. Rege

Michael L. Rege
Chief Executive Office

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below coestiand appoints, Michael L. Reger and Thomas WeliStor either of them, his/her tt
and lawful attorney-iffact and agent, acting alone, with full power dfstitution and resubstitution, for him/her and is/lher name, place a
stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any drahzendments (including post-effective amendmetutghis Annual Report on Form Janc
to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, aniestdocuments in connection wherewith, with the @assion, granting unto said attorney-in
fact and agent, each acting alone, full power artaity to do and perform each and every act aihtrequisite and necessary to be doi
and about the premises, as fully to all intents patposes as he/she might or could do in persambfieratifying and confirming all se
attorney-in-fact and agent, acting alone, or hisubstitute or substitutes, may lawfully do orsmto be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpwhe following persons
behalf of the registrant and in the capacity anthendates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/sl Michael L. Rege Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Direc March 3, 2014
Michael L. Rege

Chief Financial Officer, Principal Financial Qfér,
/sl Thomas W. Stoel Principal Accounting Officer March 3, 2014
Thomas W. Stoel

/s/ Richard Webe Director March 3, 2014
Richard Webe

/s/ Jack Kinc Director March 3, 2014
Jack King

/s/ Robert Grab Director March 3, 2014
Robert Grabt

/s/ Lisa Bromiley Director March 3, 2014

Lisa Bromiley

/s/ Delos Cy Jamisc Director March 3, 2014
Delos Cy Jamiso
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Northern Oil and Gas, Inc

We have audited the accompanying balance she®srttiern Oil and Gas, Inc. (the “Company$ of December 31, 2013 and 2012, an
related statements of comprehensive income, stéa&tsdequity, and cash flows for each of the three yeathe period ended December
2013. These financial statements are the respbtysitif the Companys management. Our responsibility is to expresg@nion on thes
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstas of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those stand
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finastiééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, onst basis, evidence supporting the amounts andodisads in the financial statements.
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptegiused and significant estimates made by maragferas well as evaluating the ove
financial statement presentation. We believe dhataudits provide a reasonable basis for our opini

In our opinion, such financial statements presaiyf in all material respects, the financial gwsi of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. as
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results opisations and its cash flows for each of the tlyess in the period ended Decembei
2013, in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@united States), the Company’
internal control over financial reporting as of Bewer 31, 2013, based on the criteria establishéatérnal Control+ntegrated Framewo
(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgitins of the Treadway Commission and our repatéd March 3, 2014 expressec
unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal cohtiver financial reporting.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 3, 2014
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NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalel
Trade Receivable
Advances to Operato
Prepaid and Other Expens
Derivative Instrument
Deferred Tax Asset

Total Current Assets

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Oil and Natural Gas Properties, Full Cost Methbdacounting
Proved
Unproved
Other Property and Equipment
Total Property and Equipme
Less - Accumulated Depreciation and Depletion
Total Property and Equipment, N

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

DEBT ISSUANCE COSTS

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payabl
Accrued Expense
Accrued Interes
Derivative Instruments

Total Current Liabilities

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Revolving Credit Facility

8% Senior Notes Due 2020, Net of Accumulated Aimatipbn of $960,177 and $0 at December 31, 20:

and 2012, respective
Derivative Instrument
Other Noncurrent Liabilitie
Deferred Tax Liability

Total Long-Term Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTE 8)

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred Stock, Par Value $.001; 5,000,000 Auzled; No Shares Outstandi

Common Stock, Par Value $.001; 95,000,000 Auieali(12/31/2013 — 61,858,199 Shares Outstandi

and 12/31/201- 63,532,622 Shares Outstandil
Additional Pair-In Capital
Retained Earnings

Total Stockholders' Equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

The accompanying notes are an integral part citfieancial statemeni

December 31

2013 2012
$ 5,687,160 $ 13,387,99
86,816,98 70,219,66
618,78 3,109,59
770,74( 1,707,08!
62,89( 4,095,19
10,431,00 1,695,001
104,387,56 94,214,54
1,611,073,74 1,159,191,60
70,148,34 82,926,38
1,701,361 3,158,22.
1,682,923,46 1,245,276,20
(285,616,75)  (162,031,49)
1,397,306,70 1,083,244,71
1,745,40! 1,763,00!
16,160,28 11,713,03

$1,519,599,96

$1,190,935,29

$ 168,936,78 $ 95,822,16
2,645,17, 2,454,08!
3,386,40 2,180,41

19,119,64 -
194,088,01 __ 100,456,66
75,000,00  124,000,00
509,539,82  300,000,00
637,20 2,547,74
3,832,55 1,570,63!
116,674,00 __ 76,175,00
705,683,58 __ 504,293,37
899,771,59 _ 604,750,03
61,85 63,53
446,044,15  465,466,42
173,722,34 __ 120,655,30
619,828,36 __ 586,185,26

$1,519,599,96

$1,190,935,29
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REVENUES

Oil and Gas Sale
Loss on Settled Derivative

NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Losses) Gains on the Mi-to-Market of Derivativelnstruments

Other Revenue
Total Revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES
Production Expense
Production Taxe
General and Administrative Exper

Depletion, Depreciation, Amortization and Accretio

Total Expenses
INCOME FROM OPERATIONS

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Other Income (Expens
Interest Expense, Net of Capitalization

Total Other Income (Expense)
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAX PROVISION

NET INCOME

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAX

Unrealized Gains on Marketable Securities (Nékat of $109,000 for the year ended
December 31, 201:
Reclassification of Derivative Instruments Incldde Income (Net of Tax of $39,000 a

$448,000

for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 28%fectively)

Total Other Comprehensive Income

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Net Income Per Common Share — Basic

Net Income Per Common Share — Diluted
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding — Basic
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding — Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statement
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FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012, AND 201

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
$369,187,12 $296,637,85 $159,439,50
(12,198,63) (391,420  (13,407,87)
(21,259,01)  15,147,12 3,072,22!
44, 40: 179,33 285,23
335,773,87 311572,89 _ 149,389,09
41,859,13 32,382,31 13,043,63
34,958,97 2848559  14,300,72
16,575,44 22,645,31 13,624,89
124,383,337 9892324  41,169,61
217,776,92  182,436,45 _ 82,138,86
117,996,94  129,136,43  67,250,23
(453,24 24,87 782,54
(32,709,05)  (13,874,90) (585,98:)
(33,162,29) _ (13,850,03) 196,56:
84,834,65  115286,39  67,446,79
31,767,61  43,001,77 26,835,30
$ 53,067,038 $ 72,284,622 $ 40,611,49
] - 173,84(
- 62,30¢ 709,77
- 62,30¢ 883,62
$ 53,067,03 $ 72,346,93 $ 41,49511
$ 0.8 $ 1.1€ $ 0.6¢
$ 0.88 $ 115 $ 0.6¢
62,364,95 62,485,83 61,789,28
62,747,29 62,869,07 62,195,34




NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012, AND 201

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Income
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Casivided by
Operating Activities
Depletion, Depreciation, Amortization and Aetion
Amortization of Debt Issuance Co
Amortization of Senior Unsecured Notes Prem
Loss on the Sale of Other Property & Equipn
Deferred Income Taxt
Net (Gain) Loss on Sale of Available for S&kcurities
Loss (Gain) on the Ma-to-Market of Derivative Instrumen
Amortization of Deferred Re
Share- Based Compensation Expet
Changes in Working Capital and Other Ite
Trade Receivabl
Prepaid Expenses and O
Accounts Payak
Accrued Intere
Accrued Expenses

Net Cash Provided By Operating Atids

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of Oil and Natural Gas Properties anvélDpmeniCapital Expenditure

Advances to Operato

Proceeds from Sale of Oil and Natural Gas Progs
Proceeds from Sale of Available for Sale Secw
Proceeds from Sale of Other Property and Equipi
Purchase of Available for Sale Securit

Purchases of Other Property and Equipment

Net Cash Used For Investing Acti\a!

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Advances on Revolving Credit Facili
Repayments on Revolving Credit Facil

Issuance of Senior Unsecured Nc

Debt Issuance Costs P«

Repurchases of Common Stc

Proceeds from Exercise of Warra

Proceeds from Exercise of Stock Options

Net Cash Provided by Financing Atitad
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALEN TS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING OF PERIOD

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF PERIOD

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Informatior
Cash Paid During the Period for Interest

Cash Paid During the Period for Income Taxes

Nor-Cash Financing and Investing Activitie
Oil and Natural Gas Properties Included in Acceupdyable

Capitalized Asset Retirement Obligations
Non-Cash Compensation Capitalized in Oil and Gagétties

The accompanying notes are an integral part citlfieancial statementi

Year Ended December 31

2013

2012

2011

$ 53,067,03 $ 72,284,622 $ 40,611,49

124,383,37 98,923,24 41,169,61
2,625,241 1,527,19. 430,76
(960,17 - -
473,91 (23,617 -
31,763,00 42,984,00 26,833,00
- - (215,09:)
2125901  (15,147,12)  (3,072,22)
(19,547) (33,23() (19,795
4,798,97  12,381,75 6,164,32.
(16,597,31)  (18,800,83)  (29,385,18)
28,35( 4,79: 17,78:
2,006,51! (63,025 2,486,66
(245,08:) 2,081,61 98,79¢
191,09: 2,407,21 29,38t
222,774,40  198,526,61  85,149,52

(360,058,12)

(531,954,97)

(341,363,95)

- (4,304,82)

908,00! 5 5,027,16;

- - 58,606,32
1,003,02! 39,00( -
- - (18,381,69)
(389,31) (256,441 (450,82:)

(358,536,41)

(532,172,42)

(300,867,80)

133,000,00  475,600,00 79,900,00
(182,000,00) (421,500,00)  (10,000,00)
210,500,00  300,000,00 -
(7,072,49)  (11,854,02) (449,83)
(26,366,32)  (1,546,14)  (1,081,13)
1,500,001

: 54,39( 18,13(
128,061,18  340,754,21 69,887,16
(7,700,83) 7,108,41  (145,831,11)
13,387,99 6,279,58°  152,110,70
$ 5,687,160 $ 13,387,999 $ 6,279,58
$ 35761,11 $ 1557914 $ 286,71
$ 1361 $ 877: $ -
$162,884,22 $ 91,776,11 $ 106,024,21
$ 185258 $ 539,720 $ 40124
$ 214341 $ 6,37827. $ 1311413
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NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012, AND 201

Accumulated

Other
Additional  Comprehensive Total
Common Stock Paid-In Income Retained Stockholders
Shares Amount Capital (Loss) Earnings Equity

Balance - December 31, 2010 62,129,42. $ 62,12¢ $428,484,09 $ (945,93) $ 7,759,19. $ 435,359,48

Net Issuance of Common Sto 1,200,99 1,201 4,770,711 - - 4,771,91

Share Based Compensati - - 14,943,54 - - 14,943,54

Net Change in Cash Flow Hedge

Derivatives - - - 709,77t - 709,77t

Net Change in Unrealized Gain(Lo

on Shor-term Investment - - - 173,84¢ - 173,84t

Net Income - - - - 40,611,49 40,611,49
Balance- December 31, 201 63,330,42 $ 63,33( $448,198,35 $ (62,309 $ 48,370,68 $ 496,570,05

Net Issuance of Common Sto 202,20: 202 (1,491,961 - - (1,491,75)

Share Based Compensat| - - 18,760,03 - - 18,760,03

Net Change in Cash Flow Hedge

Derivatives - - - 62,30¢ - 62,30¢

Net Income - - - - 72,284,62 72,284,62
Balance - December 31, 2012 63,532,62 $ 63,53: $465,466,42 $ - $120,655,30 $ 586,185,26

Net Issuance of Common Sto 361,96( 362 (252,99) - - (252,63)

Share Based Compensati - - 6,942,02 - - 6,942,02!

Repurchases of Common Stc (2,036,38) (2,036 (26,111,28) - - (26,113,32)

Net Income - - - - 53,067,03 53,067,03
Balance - December 31, 2013 61,858,19 $ 61,85¢ $446,044,15 $ - $173,722,34 $ 619,828,36

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthes
financial statement:




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2013

NOTE1l ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS
Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. (t*Company,” “Northern,” “our”and words of similar import), a Minnesota corparatiis an independent ene
company engaged in the acquisition, exploratiorplatation, development and production of crude aild natural gas properties.
Company’s common stock trades on the NYSE MKT ntaukeler the symbol “NOG”.

Northerr's principal business is crude oil and natural ggdoeation, development, and production with opera in North Dakota ar
Montana that primarily target the Bakken and ThiFeeks formations in the Williston Basin of the Uit States. The Company acqt
leasehold interests that comprise of mmerated working interests in wells and in drillipgojects within its area of operations. As
December 31, 2013, approximately 58% of Northei8%,044 total net acres were developed. As akbDer 31, 2012, approximate&ip%
of Northern’s 179,131 total net acres were develope

NOTE 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been preparedcordance with accounting principles generally ategpn the United States of Amer
(“GAAP”). In connection with preparing the financial statetsdor the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynipas evaluated subseqt
events for potential recognition and disclosuretigh the date of this filing and determined thar¢hwere no subsequent events which req
recognition or disclosure in the financial statetaghrough the date of this filing.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements under GAéduires management to make estimates and assmphiat affect the reported amot
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of corgimtgassets and liabilities at the date of the firrstatements and the reported amoun
revenues and expenses during the reporting pefiibd. most significant estimates relate to provedieroil and natural gas reserve volur
future development costs, estimates relating ttarecrude oil and natural gas revenues and expefee value of derivative instruments,
deferred income taxes. Actual results may diffenf those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Northern considers highly liquid investments witisignificant interest rate risk and original maties to the Company of three months or
to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consisaply of interest-bearing bank accounts and nyomerket funds. The Compasytas
positions represent assets held in checking andeynorarket accounts. These assets are generallgldgzon a daily or weekly basis and
highly liquid in nature. Due to the balances begmgater than $250,000, the Company does not hB\€ Eoverage on the entire amoun
bank deposits. The Company believes this risk ii@mal. In addition, the Company is subject to &dg Investor Protection Corporati
(“SIPC") protection on a vast majority of its fingal assets.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are carried on a gross basib, mo discounting. The Company regularly reviewsaged accounts receivable
collectability and establishes an allowance as swang for individual customer balances.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the allowance faibtfal accounts was $1,050,000 and $0, respectivEhe amount charged to operati
for doubtful accounts was $1,050,000, $0, and $@hfe years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 28ddectively.
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Advances to Operators

The Company participates in the drilling of crudeamd natural gas wells with other working intdrpartners. Due to the capital intensi
nature of crude oil and natural gas drilling a¢tdg, the working interest partner responsiblecfamducting the drilling operations may req!
advance payments from other working interest pasti@r their share of the costsThe Company expects such advances to be appli
working interest partners against joint interefitrtgs for its share of drilling operations with@® days from when the advance is paid.

Other Property and Equipment

Property and equipment that are not crude oil atdral gas properties are recorded at cost anadieped using the straighitre method ove
their estimated useful lives of three to seven ye&xpenditures for replacements, renewals, attérbeents are capitalized. Maintenance
repairs are charged to operations as incurredglivad assets, other than crude oil and naturalpgagerties, are evaluated for impairmer
determine if current circumstances and market ¢wrdi indicate the carrying amount may not be recable. The Company has
recognized any impairment losses on non-crude il matural gas lontived assets. Depreciation expense was $325,8539,888, an
$298,137 for the years ended December 31, 2012 @0d 2011, respectively.

Full Cost Method

Northern follows the full cost method of accountifog crude oil and natural gas operations wherdbgasts related to the exploration
development of crude oil and natural gas propeegresinitially capitalized into a single cost centéull cost pool”). Such costs include la
acquisition costs, geological and geophysical egpencarrying charges on nproducing properties, costs of drilling directlylated tc
acquisition, and exploration activities. Intermalsts that are capitalized are directly attribugatiol acquisition, exploration and developn
activities and do not include costs related toghmduction, general corporate overhead or simitéivities. Costs associated with produc
and general corporate activities are expensedeipéniod incurred. Capitalized costs are summarézefbllows for the years ended Decen
31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Capitalized Certain Payroll and Other Internal & $ 329542 $ 8,477,670 $ 16,952,99
Capitalized Interest Costs 5,976,98. 5,929,47. 405,98
Total $ 9,272,400 $ 14,407,15 $ 17,358,97

As of December 31, 2013, the Company held leaseimdatests in the Williston Basin on acreage lodate North Dakota and Monta
targeting the Bakken and Three Forks formations.

Proceeds from property sales will generally be iteedto the full cost pool, with no gain or losstegnized, unless such a sale wi
significantly alter the relationship between cdptd costs and the proved reserves attributablbdse costs. A significant alteration wc
typically involve a sale of 25% or more of the pedweserves related to a single full cost poolthényears ended December 31, 2013, 201
2011, the Company sold acreage and interests thupiog properties for $0, $908,000, and $5.0 mmilliespectively. The proceeds for tt
sales were applied to reduce the capitalized afstside oil and natural gas properties.

Capitalized costs associated with impaired progerind capitalized costs related to propertiesnigguioved reserves, plus the estimated fi
development costs and asset retirement costs eatetdd and amortized on the unitgbduction method based on the estimated gross¢
reserves as determined by independent petroleuinesrg. The costs of unproved properties are withfrom the depletion base until si
time as they are either developed or abandonedenVgloved reserves are assigned or the propectnsidered to be impaired, the cost of
property or the amount of the impairment is addedasts subject to depletion and full cost ceiliagrulations. For the years ended Decel
31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Company transferredtfire full cost pool costs related to expired ésasf $14.1 million, $7.1 million, and $!
million, respectively.
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Capitalized costs of crude oil and natural gas @rigs (net of related deferred income taxes) natyemceed an amount equal to the pre
value, discounted at 10% per annum, of the estiunateire net cash flows from proved crude oil ardural gas reserves plus the cos
unproved properties (adjusted for related incomedffiects). Should capitalized costs exceed tlifing, impairment is recognized. T
present value of estimated future net cash flonsmputed by applying the IBenth average price of crude oil and natural gasstomate
future production of proved crude oil and naturas geserves as of perietid, less estimated future expenditures to be iedun developin
and producing the proved reserves and assumingnoatibn of existing economic conditions. Suchserg value of proved reservdgture
net cash flows excludes future cash outflows aasediwith settling asset retirement obligationst thave been accrued on the bal:
sheet. Should this comparison indicate an excasging value, the excess is charged to earningsmampairment expense. During the tl
year period ended December 31, 2013, the Compapdtaealized any impairment of its propert

Asset Retirement Obligations

Asset retirement obligation is included in othenaarrent liabilities and relates to future costsoafated with the plugging and abandonme
crude oil and natural gas wells, removal of equipmand facilities from leased acreage and returnihg land to its origin
condition. Estimates are based on estimated réngalives of those wells based on reserve estimataernal estimates to plug and abar
the wells in the future, inflation, credit adjustdiscount rates and federal and state regulatayyirements. The liability is accreted to
present value each period, and the capitalizedisakspreciated over the useful life of the relaeset.

Debt Issuance Costs

Deferred financing costs include origination, legad other fees to issue debt in connection with @ompanys credit facility and seni
unsecured notes. These debt issuance costs ag dmortized over the term of the related finanaisgng the straighline method, whic
approximates the effective interest method (see Mpt

The amortization of debt issuance costs for thesyeaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was %2482 $1,527,194 and $430,7
respectively.

Bond Premium on Senior Notes

At December 31, 2013, the Company had recordechd peemium of $10.5 million in connection with tt8% Senior Notes Due 2020%¢¢
Note 4). This bond premium is being amortized awerterm of the related financing using the sti-line method, which approximates
effective interest method.

The amortization of the bond premium for the yearded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $96(%Q&nd $0, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes crude oil and natural ganrees from its interests in producing wells wheodpction is delivered to, and title |
transferred to, the purchaser and to the exterdelimg price is reasonably determinable. The gamy uses the sales method of accountin
natural gas balancing of natural gas productionwaadld recognize a liability if the existing proveeserves were not adequate to cove
current imbalance situation. As of December 31132®012 and 2011, the Compasyiatural gas production was in balance, meana
cumulative portion of natural gas production takenl sold from wells in which it has an interestalgd its entitled interest in natural
production from those wells.

Concentrations of Market and Credit Risk

The future results of the Compasycrude oil and natural gas operations will beciéfé by the market prices of crude oil and natges. Th
availability of a ready market for crude oil andural gas products in the future will depend on etwos factors beyond the control of
Company, including weather, imports, marketing ofpetitive fuels, proximity and capacity of crudéand natural gas pipelines and ot
transportation facilities, any oversupply or undgggy of crude oil, natural gas and liquid producke regulatory environment, the econc
environment, and other regional and political esgnbne of which can be predicted with certainty.

The Company operates in the exploration, developraed production sector of the crude oil and natges industry. The Comparsy’
receivables include amounts due from purchaseits afude oil and natural gas production. Whiletaie of these customers are affecte:
periodic downturns in the economy in general atheir specific segment of the crude oil or natgad industry, the Company believes the
level of credit-related losses due to such econdimnictuations has been and will continue to be ineral to the Companyg’ results ¢
operations over the long-term. Trade receivablegianerally not collateralized.
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The Company manages and controls market and cpamntgicredit risk. In the normal course of businesdlateral is not required for financ
instruments with credit risk. Financial instrumentkich potentially subject the Company to credskrconsist principally of temporary ci
balances and derivative financial instruments. Thenpany maintains cash and cash equivalents in tepésit accounts which, at times, 1
exceed the federally insured limits. The Company @ experienced any significant losses from soebstments. The Company attempt
limit the amount of credit exposure to any one fiicial institution or company. The Company belietles credit quality of its customers
generally high. In the normal course of businesiefs of credit or parent guarantees may be redqdor counterparties which managen
perceives to have a higher credit risk.

StockBased Compensation

The Company records expense associated with thedhie of stockhased compensation. For fully vested stock antdicts] stock grants tl
Company calculates the stock based compensatioans&pbased upon estimated fair value on the datgast. For stock options, 1
Company uses the Blac&eholes option valuation model to calculate stoakeldl compensation at the date of grant. Optiatingrimodel
require the input of highly subjective assumptidnsjuding the expected price volatility. Changeshese assumptions can materially a
the fair value estimate.

Stock Issuance

The Company records the stock-based compensatiardawssued to noemployees and other external entities for goodssandces at eith
the fair market value of the goods received orises/rendered or the instruments issued in exchéorgsuch services, whichever is m
readily determinable.

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities arerdeted based upon differences between the finamef@rting and tax bases of assets
liabilities and are measured using the enactedat®s and laws that will be in effect when theati#hces are expected to reverse. Accou
standards require the consideration of a valualtmwance for deferred tax assets if it is “mokely than not'that some component or all
the benefits of deferred tax assets will not bédized. No valuation allowance has been recordeaf &ecember 31, 2013 and 2012.

Net Income Per Common She

Basic earnings per share (“EPSie computed by dividing net income (the numeraltgrthe weighted average number of common s
outstanding for the period (the denominator). @¢UEPS is computed by dividing net income by theghted average number of comr
shares and potential common shares outstandirtjlifve) during each period. Potential commonrskanclude stock options and warr:
and restricted stock. The number of potential camishares outstanding relating to stock optionsveartlants and restricted stock is comp
using the treasury stock method.

The reconciliation of the denominators used towate basic EPS and diluted EPS for the years eBéedmber 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Weighted average common shares outstan- basic 62,364,95 62,485,83 61,789,28
Plus: Potentially dilutive common shai
Stock options, warrants, and restricted stock 382,34 383,24 406,05:
Weighted average common shares outstanding —dilute 62,747,29 62,869,07 62,195,34
Restricted stock excluded from EPS due to the-dilutive effect 7,33( 18,34¢ 29,87¢
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As of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, potentigijtive shares from stock options were 241,8731,263, and 262,4€
respectively. These options are all exercisabl@esember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, at an exerdse @f $5.18.

The Company also has potentially dilutive sharemfrestricted stock grants outstanding of 592,569,437, and 1,216,992, at Decembe
2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

In January 2011, 300,000 warrants that were isguednjunction with the February 2009 revolvingditdacility were exercised at a price
$5.00 per share.

Derivative Instruments and Price Risk Management

The Company uses derivative instruments to manaay&enrisks resulting from fluctuations in the mscof crude oil. The Company en
into derivative contracts, including price swapapg and floors, which require payments to (or msefrom) counterparties based on
differential between a fixed price and a varialiiegfor a fixed quantity of crude oil without tlegchange of underlying volumes. The noti
amounts of these financial instruments are basedxpected production from existing wells. The Camyp has, and may continue to
exchange traded futures contracts and option austta hedge the delivery price of crude oil ati@ife date.

On November 1, 2009, due to the volatility of pritiferentials in the Williston Basin, the Compadg-designated all derivatives that w
previously classified as cash flow hedges and iditeh, the Company has elected not to designayesaisequent derivative contract:
accounting hedges. As such, all derivative pasitiare carried at their fair value on the balaf@esand are marked-toarket at the end
each period. Any realized gains and losses arded to gain (loss) on settled derivatives andkra@market gains or losses are recorde
(loss) gain on the mark-tmarket of derivative instruments on the statemehtacome and comprehensive income rather thama@smponel
of accumulated other comprehensive income (lossjter income (expense). See Note 14 for a degunripf the derivative contracts wh
the Company has entered into.

Prior to November 1, 2009, the Company, at theptioe of a derivative contract, designated the\ddive as a cash flow hedge. For
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, thep@oynformally documented the relationship betwédenderivative contract and the hed
items, as well as the risk management objectivefdering into the derivative contract. To be greated as a cash flow hedge transactior
relationship between the derivative and the hedigeas must be highly effective in achieving thesetfof changes in cash flows attributabl
the risk both at the inception of the derivativel@m an ongoing basis. The Company historicallasneed hedge effectiveness on a qual
basis and hedge accounting would be discontinuesppctively if it determined that the derivativeswa longer effective in offsetting chan
in the cash flows of the hedged item. Gains asdde deferred in accumulated other comprehensieenia (loss) related to cash flow he
derivatives that become ineffective remain unchdngetil the related production was delivered. He tCompany determined that it \
probable that a hedged forecasted transaction woatdoccur, deferred gains or losses on the dévivatere recognized in earnir
immediately.

Derivatives, historically, were recorded on theabak sheet at fair value and changes in the faiewaf derivatives were recorded each pe
in current earnings or other comprehensive incdoss), depending on whether a derivative was daséghas part of a hedge transaction
if it was, depending on the type of hedge transactiThe Compang' derivatives historically consisted primarily odst flow hedg
transactions in which the Company was hedging #y&@bility of cash flows related to a forecastezhaction. Period to period changes i
fair value of derivative instruments designatedcash flow hedges were reported in accumulated atberprehensive income (loss)
reclassified to earnings in the periods in whioh ledged item impacts earnings. The ineffectivtigqoof the cash flow hedges were refle
in current period earnings as gain or loss fronivdéives. Gains and losses on derivative instrusmérat did not qualify for hedge accoun
were included in income or loss from derivativegha period in which they occur. The resultinghclisws from derivatives were reportec
cash flows from operating activities.
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Impairment

Longived assets to be held and used are required tevi@wed for impairment whenever events or chamgegcumstances indicate that
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverabtade oil and natural gas properties accounteddimg the full cost method of account
(which the Company uses) are excluded from thisirement but continue to be subject to the fullteosthods impairment rules. There v
no impairment recorded at December 31, 2013, 281@2011.

New Accounting Pronouncemer

From time to time, new accounting pronouncemeragsissued by FASB that are adopted by the Compary te specified effective date.
not discussed, management believes that the ingbaietently issued standards, which are not yetcéffe, will not have a material impact
the Company’s financial statements upon adoption.

Recently Adopte

Balance Sheet Offsettir — In December 2011, the FASB issued Balance Sflemtic 210) —Disclosures about Offsetting Assets
Liabilities (ASU No. 2011%1), which requires disclosures regarding nettimgrajements in agreements underlying derivativexsain financie
instruments and related collateral amounts, andettient to which an entitg’ financial statement presentation policies reldtedhetting
arrangements impact amounts recorded to the finhatatements. These disclosure requirements taffext the presentation of amount
the balance sheets, and are effective for annpaktiag periods beginning on or after January 1,@nd interim periods within those anr
reporting periods. The implementation of this flisare guidance did not have a material impachendompany'’s financial statements.

NOTE 3 CRUDE OIL AND NATURAL GAS PROPERTIES

The value of the Comparg/crude oil and natural gas properties consistilacreage acquisition costs (including cash edjteres and tt
value of stock consideration), drilling costs anlkler associated capitalized costs. Acquisitioesaacounted for as purchases and, accord
the results of operations are included in the ag@mying statements of income and comprehensiveniacsom the closing date of |
acquisition. Purchase prices are allocated to iemtfjlassets based on their estimated fair valudeatime of the acquisition. In the pi
acquisitions have been funded with internal cast flbank borrowings and the issuance of equity es1 Purchases of properties :
development capital expenditures that were in attsopayable and not yet paid in cash at DecembeP@13 and 2012 were approxima
$163 million and $92 million, respectively.

2013 Acquisitions

During 2013, the Company acquired approximately9@0,net acres, for an average cost of approxim&i#|279 per net acre, in its |
prospect areas in the form of effective leasesringuhe same period, the Company separately aadjuworking interests in 70 gross (7.0
wells in undrilled locations in which it does natlth the underlying leasehold interests, for a totat of approximately $9.0 million.

2012 Acquisitions

During 2012, the Company acquired approximatelyb69@d,net acres, for an average cost of approximai&|y88 per net acre, in its |
prospect areas in the form of effective leases,eamded an additional 6,450 net acres through faranrrangements.

2011 Acquisitions

During 2011, the Company acquired approximately233,net acres, for an average cost of approxim&i&|$32 per net acre, in its |
prospect areas in the form of effective leases.
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Divestitures

In April 2011, the Company sold its interest in thevil project for $5.0 million. As of the date shle, the Compang’'cost basis in the An'
project was $1.8 million. The Company sold itemast in the project along with Slawson Explorati@smpany, Inc. (* Slawson”)who alst
desired to sell its entire interest in the projestawson had drilled and completed one well in fhgiect area prior to the divestiturethe
Mayhem #1-19H well -and the Company retained its interest in that veedin connection with the divestiture. The proce&dm the sal
were applied to reduce the capitalized costs adeil and natural gas properties. In the fourthrter of 2012, the Company sold its intere
certain North Dakota and Montana properties coge8i85 net acres for $0.9 million in consideration.

From time-totime the Company may also trade leasehold interehsoperators to balance working interests incgma units to facilitate ar
encourage a more expedited development of the Coyigacreage.

Unproved Properties

Unproved properties not being amortized compriggr@pmately 60,600 net acres and 63,000 net adresdeveloped leasehold interest
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The @omppelieves that the majority of its unproved sostll become subject to deplet
within the next five years by proving up reservefating to the acreage through exploration and ldpweent activities, by impairing t
acreage that will expire before the Company canoegpor develop it further or by determining thatther exploration and developm
activity will not occur. The timing by which all other properties will beceraubject to depletion will be dependent upon itméng of future
drilling activities and delineation of its reserves

Excluded costs for unproved properties are accuiedilay year. Costs are reflected in the full qgustl as the drilling costs are incurred o
costs are evaluated and deemed impaired. The Gongmdicipates these excluded costs will be indluidethe depletion computation over
next five years. The Company is unable to pretliet future impact on depletion rates. The follogvis a summary of capitalized cc
excluded from depletion at December 31, 2013 by yearred.

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 Prior Years
Property Acquisitior $ 19,608,86 $ 18,629,122 $ 33,133,41 $ 30,971,70
Development - 193,01
Total $ 19,608,86 $ 18,822,13 $ 33,133,41 $ 30,971,70

All properties that are not classified as provedperties are considered unproved properties and, the costs associated with such prope
are not subject to depletion. Once a propertyaissified as proved, all associated acreage afithgltosts are subject to depletion.

The Company historically has acquired its properbig purchasing individual or small groups of lesadiectly from mineral owners or frc
landmen or lease brokers, which leases historidalye not been subject to specified drilling prigeand by purchasing lease packag:
identified project areas controlled by specific gers. The Company generally participates ididglactivities on a heads up basis by elec
whether to participate in each well on a well-by#easis at the time wells are proposed for drijlin

NOTE 4 REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY AND LONG TERM DEBT

Revolving Credit Facility

In February 2012, the Company entered into an apteadd restated credit agreement providing fovalveng credit facility (the Revolving
Credit Facility”), which replaced its previous revolving credit fagilivith a syndicated facility. The Revolving CreBacility, which is secure
by substantially all of the Comparsyassets, provides for a commitment equal to theeleof the facility amount or the borrowing base
December 31, 2013, the facility amount was $750ionil the borrowing base was $450 Hidn and there was a $75 million outstanc
balance, leaving 875 million of borrowing capacity available undéretfacility. Under the terms of the Revolving CteBacility, the
Company may issue an unlimited amount of permisgditional indebtedness, as defined, providedttraborrowing base will be reduced
25% of the stated amount of any such permittedtaddil indebtedness. The $500 million in Notescdbgd below is permitted additioni
indebtedness” as defined in the Revolving Creddilfa
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The Revolving Credit Facility matures on Septeni®r2018 and provides for a borrowing base suldgeotdetermination senainnually eac
April and October and for evedtiven unscheduled redeterminations. Borrowingdeurthe Revolving Credit Facility can either bettad
Alternate Base Rate (as defined) plus a spreadmgifiggm 0.5% to 1.5% or LIBOR borrowings at thejédsted LIBOR Rate (as defined) pl.
spread ranging from 1.5% to 2.5%. The applicapltead at any time is dependent upon the amounbwbwings relative to the borrowi
base at such time. The Company may elect, frora tartime, to convert all or any part of its LIBA#ans to base rate loans or to convert ¢
any of the base rate loans to LIBOR loans. A commait fee is paid on the undrawn balance basedhaanaual rate of either 0.375%
0.50%. At December 31, 2013, the commitment fee W875%and the interest rate margin was 1.5% on LIBORdaamd 0.5% on base r
loans.

The Revolving Credit Facility contains negative eoants that limit the Comparsyability, among other things, to pay any cashddimds, incL
additional indebtedness, sell assets, enter intainehedging contracts, change the nature oflitsness or operations, merge, consolidate, or
make investments. In addition, the Company isirequo maintain a current ratio (as defined in¢hedit agreement) of no less than 1.0 to

All of the Company’s obligations under the Revotyi@redit Facility are secured by a first priorigcsrity interest in any and all assets of the
Company.

8.000% Senior Notes Due 2020

On May 18, 2012, the Company issued at par val@® $3llion aggregate principal amount of 8.000%isennsecured notes due June 1, :
(the “Original Notes”).On May 13, 2013, the Company issued at a priceD6f26% an additional $200 million aggregate priatgmount ¢
8.000% senior unsecured notes due June 1, 2020Hdew-on Notes” and, together with the Origindbtes, the “Notes”).Interest is payab
on the Notes sen@nnually in arrears on each of June 1 and Decefnb&he Company currently does not have any sudrgidi and, as a res!
the Notes are not currently guaranteed. Any sidosésd the Company forms in the future may be meglio unconditionally guarantee, joir
and severally, payment obligation under the Notes @enior unsecured basis. The issuance of tigin@rNotes resulted in net proceed
the Company of approximately $291.2 million and tleuance of the Follown Notes resulted in net proceeds to the Compal
approximately $200.1 million, which are in use tmd the Companyg exploration, development and acquisition progeard for gener:
corporate purposes (including repayment of borrgwithat were outstanding under the Revolving Crediility at the time the Notes wi
issued).

At any time prior to June 1, 2015, the Company maieem up to 35% of the Notes at a redemption pfid®8% of the principal amount, p
accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption @ath,the proceeds of certain equity offerings|aog as the redemption occurs within
days of completing such equity offering and at ieg5% of the aggregate principal amount of the Blatmains outstanding after s
redemption. Prior to June 1, 2016, the Company radgem some or all of the Notes for cash at ametlen price equal to 100% of th
principal amount plus an applicable makkele premium and accrued and unpaid interestéad¢demption date. On and after June 1, :
the Company may redeem some or all of the Notesd®mption prices (expressed as percentages afigalramount) equal to 104% for
twelve-month period beginning on June 1, 2016, 13a@ethe twelvemonth period beginning June 1, 2017 and 100% béeginon June :
2018, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the rpiemdate.

The Notes are governed by an Indenture (the “Indgef), dated as of May 18, 2012, by and among the CompaudyWilmington Trus
National Association, as trustee ("“Trustee”).

The Indenture restricts the Compasgbility to: (i) incur additional debt or entetdrsale and leaseback transactions; (ii) pay tigions or
redeem or, repurchase equity interests; (iii) mad®ain investments; (iv) incur liens; (v) entetoiiransactions with affiliates; (vi) merge
consolidate with another company; and (vii) transfed sell assets. These covenants are subjecttamber of important exceptions .
qualifications. If at any time when the Notes ated investment grade by both Moody’s InvestonyiBe, Inc. and Standard & PoerRating
Services and no Default (as defined in the Inde)thas occurred and is continuing, many of sucteants will terminate and the Comp
and its subsidiaries (if any) will cease to be subjo such covenants.

The Indenture contains customary events of defandiding:

« default in any payment of interest on any Note wtlee, continued for 30 days;

« default in the payment of principal of or premiufrany, on any Note when due;
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« failure by the Company to comply with its otherigbtions under the Indenture, in certain casesestilp notice and grace periods;

« payment defaults and accelerations with respedther indebtedness of the Company and certainsaofubsidiaries, if any, in t
aggregate principal amount of $25 million or mc

« certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reoizmtion of the Company or a significant subsidiarygroup of restricted subsidiar
that, taken together, would constitute a significarbsidiary.

« failure by the Company or any significant subsidiar group of restricted subsidiaries that, takegether, would constitute
significant subsidiary to pay certain final judgneaggregating in excess of $25 million within &3s; anc

« any guarantee of the Notes by a guarantor ceadss ito full force and effect, is declared null arad in a judicial proceeding or
denied or disaffirmed by its make
NOTE5 COMMON AND PREFERRED STOCK
The Companys Articles of Incorporation authorize the issuaatep to 100,000,000 shares. The shares are fodaksi two classes, consisti
of 95,000,000 shares of common stock, par valuel$ger share, and 5,000,000 shares of preferreld, gtar value $.001 per share. The b
of directors is authorized to establish one or neeses of preferred stock, setting forth the deeign of each such series, and fixing
relative rights and preferences of each such sefiiee Company has neither designated nor issugdtares of preferred stock.

Common Stock

The following is a schedule of changes in the nunabehares of common stock since the beginnin20afL:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Beginning Balanc: 63,532,62 63,330,42 62,129,42

Stock Based Compensat 57,37 53,14( 161,62!

Stock Options Exercise 10,09: 10,50¢( 3,50(

Restricted Stock Grants (Note 353,59t 837,23¢ 786,26.

Warrants Exercise - - 300,00t

Stock Repurchas (2,036,38) - -

Other Surrenders (59,099 (698,67¢) (50,399
Ending Balance 61,858,19 63,532,62 63,330,42
2013 Activity

In 2013, the Compang’Chief Executive Officer received shares of commsimek as compensation in lieu of any cash baseysaln 2013, th
Company issued 57,371 shares valued at approxiy#@b,000 to the Chief Executive Officer as congagion in lieu of any cash base sal

In 2013, 16,585 shares of common stock were suereddby certain employees of the Company to cawembligations in connection w
their restricted stock awards. The total valu¢hele shares was approximately $253,000, whichbassd on the market price on the dat
shares were surrendered.

In 2013, 39,049 shares of restricted common staaewurrendered by employees who terminated emgoymith the Company.

In 2013, a director of the Company exercised armegggge of 10,091 stock options, which were grame2D07. Of those stock options, 3,

shares were surrendered to cover the aggregateisx@rice of approximately $52,000, based on theket price on the date the shares
surrendered.
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2012 Activity

In 2012, a director of the Company exercised ameggage of 10,500 stock options granted in 2007.

In 2012, the Company issued 53,140 shares of conmstumk in aggregate to executives and employeg¢seo€Company as compensation
their services. The shares were fully vested endiite of the grant. The fair value of the st@dued was approximately $1.3 million. -
value of the stock was between $19.34 and $24.8%Ipare, the market value of the shares of comntock son the date the stock v
issued. The Company expensed approximately $alBmin sharebased compensation related to these fully vestatkshn the year end
December 31, 2012. The remainder of fair value eegutalized into the full cost pool.

In 2012, 70,128 shares of common stock were suerexddby certain employees of the Company to cawembligations in connection w
their restricted stock awards. The total valugheke shares was approximately $1.5 million, whiels based on the market price on the
the shares were surrendered.

In 2012, 628,550 shares of common stock were sdered by certain employees who terminated employmvih the Company in connecti
with their restricted stock awards.

2011 Activity

In January 2011, CIT exercised the 300,000 warrduwatiswere issued as part of a prior revolving itrieatility. Total proceeds to the Comp:
from the exercise of these warrants were $1.5anilli

In 2011, the Company issued 161,628 shares of comshack in aggregate to executives, employees amdtdrs of the Company
compensation for their services. The shares wehleviested on the date of the grant. The faiueadf the stock issued was approximately
million. The value of the stock was between $1aBd $27.98 per share, the market value of theestidrcommon stock on the date the s
was issued. The Company expensed approximatedy réillion in sharebased compensation related to these fully vestadeshin the ye
ended December 31, 2011. The remainder of fairevalas capitalized into the full cost pool.

In October 2011, a director of the Company exetc&8&00 stock options granted to him in 2007.
In 2011, 50,394 shares of common stock were suereddby certain employees of the Company to cawembligations in connection w
their restricted stock awards. The total valu¢heSe shares was approximately $1.1 million, whvels based on the market price on the

the shares were surrendered.

Stock Repurchase Program

In May 2011, the Company’'s board of directors apptba stock repurchase program to acquire up t® $aflion of the Companyg
outstanding common stock. The stock repurchasgrano allows the Company to repurchase its shaoes fime to time in the open mark
block transactions and in negotiated transactions.

During the third quarter of 2013, the Company repased 2,036,383 shares of its common stock uhdestock repurchase prograni.hest
shares are now included in the Comparyool of authorized but unissued shares. Thiskdtad a cost of approximately $26.1 million.
Companys accounting policy upon the repurchase of sharesdeduct its par value from Common Stock anefiect any excess of cost o
par value as a deduction from Additional Paid-irpiGd.

NOTE 6 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Carter Stewart, a former director of the Companyti{tAugust 2011), owned a 25% interest in Galld®asources, LLC (“Gallatin”)Lega
counsel for Gallatin informed the Company that Btewart did not have the power to control Gallattause each member of Gallatin ha
right to vote on matters in proportion to theirpestive membership interest in the company and eompnatters are determined by a vot
the holders of a majority of membership interegtarther, Mr. Stewart was neither an officer natirector of Gallatin. As such, Mr. Stew
did not have the ability to individually control mpany decisions for Gallatin. In 2011, the Companaid Gallatin a total of approximat
$6,500 related to previously acquired leaseholér@dts. In 2012, the Company paid Gallatin a tofabpproximately $500 related
previously acquired leasehold interests. Thereewersuch payments for the year ended Decemb&033B,
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The Company is a non-operating participant in alemof wells in North Dakota that are operated byeEald Oil, Inc. (“Emerald”)by virtue
of leased acreage held by the Company in drillingsuwperated by Emerald. As of December 31, 28w8h wells included 14 gross (3.1 |
producing wells, and an additional 3 gross (0.7 wetls that were drilling or awaiting completioBased on authorizations for expenditure
AFEs) provided by Emerald with respect to eachhefwells, the total drilling and completion costs fhese 17 gross wells was estimate
approximately $176 million, approximately $40 nahi of which is attributable to Northern Gilworking interest in the wells. James Ru:
(J.R.) Reger is a director, executive officer aggbklthan 5% shareholder of Emerald, which is aigyittaded company. J.R. Reger is alsc
brother of Northern Oil's Chairman and Chief ExéeaitOfficer, Michael Reger. At December 31, 208 Companys accounts receivat
and accounts payable balances with Emerald weferidlion and $23.2 million, respectively. Therem no outstanding accounts receiv
or accounts payable balances with Emerald at Deee®ib, 2012. The Company recorded total reventi&s.8 million, $0 million, and $
million from Emerald for the years ended Decemidgr2®13, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

All transactions involving related parties were ayed or ratified by the Company’s board of direstor Audit Committee.
NOTE7 STOCK OPTIONS/STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND WARRANTS

On April 5, 2013, the board of directors approvied €Company’s 2013 Incentive Plan (the “2013 Plawhich was subsequently approve
the 2013 annual meeting of shareholders. 1,50065888es were authorized for grant under the 2048, Pllus the number of shares remai
available for future grants under the Compangredecessor 2009 Equity Incentive Plan on the tle# shareholders approved the :
Plan. The 2013 Plan is intended to provide a medmeseby the Company may be able, by granting ya@uitl other types of awards, to attr
retain and motivate capable and loyal employeer;emaployee directors, consultants and advisors ofGbmpany, for the benefit of t
Company and its shareholders.

Restricted Stock Awards

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@ahd, the Company issued 353,596, 837,239 and GB6r@spectively, restricted she
of common stock as compensation to officers, eng#syand directors of the Company. Unvested cestirshares vest over various terms
all restricted shares vesting no later than Fepra@d7. As of December 31, 2013, there was apprataly $5.4 million of total unrecogniz
compensation expense related to unvested reststbed. This compensation expense will be recogh@aeer the remaining vesting perioc
the grants. The Company has assumed a zero pdocégiture rate for restricted stock due to the Bmamber of officers, employees ¢
directors that have received restricted stock asvard

The following table reflects the outstanding ret&d stock awards and activity related theretdtieryears ended December 31, 2013, 201,
2011:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 201 December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Number Weighted- Number Weighted- Number Weighted-
of Average Of Average Of Average
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Restricted Stock Award:
Restricted Shares Outstanding at th
Beginning of the Yea 777,43 $ 18.9: 1,216,99. $ 19.87 1,135,62. $ 13.2¢
Shares Grante 353,59t 15.3¢ 837,23 19.91 786,26 27.11
Shares Forfeite (39,049 16.7¢ (628,55() 19.0¢ - -
Lapse of Restrictions (499,419 19.0:¢ (648,24 21.8: (704,897 17.3:
Restricted Shares Outstanding at 1
End of the Year 592,56! $ 16.8¢ 777,43 $ 18.9: 1,216,99. $ 19.81
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Stock Option Awards

On November 1, 2007, the board of directors grantgibns to purchase 560,000 shares of the Compamyhmon stock under the Company’
2006 Incentive Stock Option Plan. The Company tgaioptions to purchase 500,000 shares of the Qoylppaommon stock to members
the board and options to purchase 60,000 sharethefCompanys common stock to one employee pursuant to an emeo
agreement. These options were granted at a pfi$8.08 per share and the optionees were fullyeeksen the grant date. As of Decembel
2013, options to purchase a total of 241,872 shafrdee Companys common stock remain outstanding but unexerci3ée board of directo
determined that no future grants will be made pamsiio the 2006 Incentive Stock Option Plan. Alufe stock compensation will be iss
under the 2013 Plan.

The Company used the Black-Scholes option valuatiodel to calculate stodkased compensation at the date of grant. Opticimgrmodel.
require the input of highly subjective assumptiomgluding the expected price volatility. The Canp used the simplified method
determine the expected term of the options duéeadéck of sufficient historical data. Changeshiase assumptions can materially affec
fair value estimate. The total fair value of thgtions is recognized as compensation over the nggieriod. There were no stock opti
granted by the Company in 2013, 2012 and 2011 exdlcises of options during 2013, 2012 and 20Mkte® to 2007 grants.

Changes in stock options for the years ended DeeeB1h 2013, 2012, and 2011 were as follows:

Weighted Remaining

Number Average Contractual
of Exercise Term Intrinsic
Shares Price (in Years) Value

2013:

Beginning Balanci 251,96. $ - - $ =
Grantec - - - -
Exercisec (20,099 5.1¢ - -
Forfeited - - - -
Outstanding at December 241,87 5.1¢ 3.8 2,392,001
Exercisable 241,87. 5.1¢ 3.8 2,392,001
Ending Vested 241,87 5.1¢ 3.8 2,392,001
Weighted Average Fair Value of Options Granted BgirtY ear $ -

2012:

Beginning Balanci 262,46. $ - - $ -
Grantec - - - -
Exercisec (20,500 5.1¢ - -
Forfeited - - - -
Outstanding at December 251,96: 5.1¢ 4.8 2,933,001
Exercisable 251,96: 5.1¢ 4.8 2,933,001
Ending Vested 251,96: 5.1¢ 4.8 2,933,00!
Weighted Average Fair Value of Options Granted BgirtY ear $ s

2011:

Beginning Balanci 265,96. $ - - $ =
Grantec - - - -
Exercisec (3,500 5.1¢ - -
Forfeited - - - -
Outstanding at December 262,46: 5.1¢ 5.8 4,934,00
Exercisable 262,46: 5.1¢ 5.8 4,934,00!
Ending Vested 262,46: 5.1¢ 5.€ 4,934,00
Weighted Average Fair Value of Options Granted BgirY ear $ -
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Currently Outstanding Options

« No options were forfeited during the years endeddbeber 31, 2013, 2012, and 20

« No options expired during the years ended Dece®bg?013, 2012, and 201

« Options covering 241,872 shares were exercisaldeatstanding at December 31, 2013.

« The Company recorded no compensation expenseddataese options for the years ended Decembe2®R, 2012, and 2011. ,
of the compensation expense was reported in 20@ wie options vested. There is no further congt@rs expense that will |
recognized in future periods relative to any opditimat had been granted as of December 31, 20t3ube the Company recogni
the entire fair value of such compensation upoting®f the options

» There were no unvested options at December 31, 2012, and 2011.

Warrants Granted February 2009

On February 27, 2009, in conjunction with the algsof a prior revolving credit facility, the Comparssued warrants to purchase a tot:
300,000 shares of common stock exercisable at §&e0&hare. The total fair value of the warramés calculated using the Bla8chole
valuation model based on factors present at the tia warrants were issued. The fair value ofwhgants is included in debt issuance ¢
and is being amortized over the term of the faciliThe warrants were exercised in January 2011.

NOTE8 COMMITMENTS & CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

The Company is engaged in proceedings incidentahéonormal course of business. Due to their Batsuch legal proceedings invc
inherent uncertainties, including but not limitex tourt rulings, negotiations between affectedigarand governmental intervention. Be
upon the information available to the Company aisdussions with legal counsel, it is the Compamgpinion that the outcome of the vari
legal actions and claims that are incidental tditsiness will not have a material impact on tharicial position, results of operations or «
flows. Such matters, however, are subject to maroertainties, and the outcome of any matter ipredictable with assurance.

The Company is party to a quiet title action in thdbakota that relates to its interest in certairde oil and natural gas leases. In the evel
action results in a final judgment that is adveiséhe Company, the Company would be required terse approximately $1.5 million
revenue (net of accrued taxes) that has been atsmiee the second quarter of 2008 based on thep@uyis purported interest in the crude
and natural gas leases at issue, $0.3 million, $0lbn and $0.2 million of which relates to thears ended December 31, 2013, 201Z
2011, respectively. The Company fully maintains Halidity of its interest in the crude oil and ural gas leases, and is vigorously defen
such interest.

NOTE9 ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION

The Company has asset retirement obligations (“ARB%ociated with the future plugging and abandonrakptoved properties and rela
facilities. Initially, the fair value of a liabtly for an ARO is recorded in the period in whichsitincurred and a corresponding increase i
carrying amount of the related long lived assdte Tability is accreted to its present value epeliod, and the capitalizezbst is depreciat:
over the useful life of the related asset. Iflibbility is settled for an amount other than tleearded amount, a gain or loss is recognized.
Company has no assets that are legally restrictecpdirposes of settling asset retirement obligatiodo settlements of asset retiren
obligations have occurred during the periods preskn

Inherent in the fair value calculation are numerasisumptions and judgments including the ultimatgement costs, inflation factors, credit:
adjusted discount rates, timing of retirement, ahdnges in the legal, regulatory, environmental political environments. To the ext
future revisions to these assumptions impact tlesent value of the existing ARO, a correspondingisichent is made to the oil and
property balance. For example, as the Companyaemhctual plugging and abandonment informatioe Gompany may revise its estimat
current costs, the assumed annual inflation otdsts and/or the assumed productive lives of ilssw®uring 2013, the Company increase:
existing ARO by $1.1 million or approximately 71%tbe ARO liability at December 31, 2012. Thisrease was due to an increase ir
estimated costs to plug and abandon the Comparefls and a decrease in the productive life of éeréits oil and gas properties.
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The following table summarizes the compangsset retirement obligation transactions recodiethg the year ended December 31, 201:
2012.

Year Ended December 3:

2013 2012
Beginning Asset Retirement Obligati $ 154254 $ 916,62:
Liabilities Incurred for New Wells Placed in Prodioa 755,48 539,72
Revision of Estimate 1,097,09 -
Accretion of Discount on Asset Retirement Obligatio 428,87 86,19:
Ending Asset Retirement Obligation $ 3,824,000 $ 1,542,54

NOTE 10 INCOME TAXES

The Company utilizes the asset and liability appho®m measuring deferred tax assets and liabiliieesed on temporary differences existir
each balance sheet date using currently enacterhtes. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuatiowatioe when, in the opinion
management, it is more likely than not that sometiqgno or all of the deferred tax assets will notrealized. Deferred tax assets and liabil
are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax amgsrates on the date of enactment.

In 2013, the State of North Dakota lowered its ooape income tax rate. The impact of this ratengeavas to lower the Compasydeferre
state income tax expense by approximately $0.5amitluring the year ended December 31, 2013.

The income tax provision for the year ended DecerBhe2013, 2012, and 2011 consists of the follgwin

2013 2012 2011
Current Income Taxe $ (8,380 $ 17,77 $ 2,30(
Deferred Income Taxe
Federa 29,826,00 39,850,00 22,982,00
State 1,950,00! 3,134,001 3,851,001
Total Expense $ 31,767,61 $ 43,001,77 $ 26,835,30

The following is a reconciliation of the reportegh@unt of income tax expense for the years endeeibber 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 tc
amount of income tax expenses that would resuth fapplying the statutory rate to pretax income.

Reconciliation of reported amount of income taxenge:

2013 2012 2011

Income Before Taxes and NC $ 84,834,65 $115,286,39 $ 67,446,79
Federal Statutory Rate X 35% X 35% X 35%
Taxes Computed at Federal Statutory R 29,692,00 40,350,00 23,606,00
State Taxes, Net of Federal Ta: 909,61 2,086,77. 2,408,30!
Executive Compensation Deductibility Lim 987,00( 523,00( 617,00(
Other 179,00( 42,00( 204,00(

Reported Provision $ 31,767,61 $ 43,001,77 $ 26,835,30

At December 31, 2013, the Company had a net opgraiss carryforward for Federal income tax purpasfe$850.1 million. If unutilized, tt
federal net operating losses will expire in 202320
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The components of the Company’s deferred tax dkakility) were as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012
Deferred Tax Assel
Current:
Share Based Compensat $ 1,834,000 $ 2,384,00
Accrued Interes 1,241,00! 751,00(
Derivative Instrument 7,094,001 -
Other 391,00( 201,00(
Total Current 10,560,00 3,336,00!I
Non-Current:
Net Operating Loss Carryforwards (NOL 316,266,00 256,473,00
Derivative Instrument - 295,00(
Other 69,00( 65,00(
Total Non-Current 316,335,00 256,833,00
Total Deferred Tax Asset $ 326,895,000 $ 260,169,00
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Current:
Derivative Instrument - (1,538,00i)
Other (129,00() (103,000
Total Current $ (129,000 $ (1,641,000
Nor-Current:
Crude Oil and Natural Gas Properties and Otherd?tp (432,596,00) (333,008,00)

Derivative Instruments
Total Non-Current

Total Deferred Tax Liability

Total Net Deferred Tax Liability

(413,000)

(433,009,00)

(333,008,00)

(433,138,00)

(334,649,00)

$(106,243,00)

$ (74,480,00)

The balances in the components of deferred tax #dssaility) table above were corrected to incredbe deferred tax asset for net oper:
losses and the deferred tax liability for crudeamitl natural gas properties and other propertyppyaximately $62 million. The adjustment |
no impact to the total net deferred tax liability.

Tax benefits are recognized only for tax posititre are more likely than not to be sustained upamination by tax authorities. The amc
recognized is measured as the largest amount ogfibethat is greater than 50 percent likely to bealized upon ultima
settlement. Unrecognized tax benefits are taxfifsreaimed in the Compang’tax returns that do not meet these recognitionna@asureme
standards.

The Company has no liabilities for unrecognizedhbarefits.

The Companys policy is to recognize potential interest and ghees accrued related to unrecognized tax benefithin income ta
expense. For the years ended December 31, 2013,8@ 2011, the Company did not recognize argreést or penalties in its statement
comprehensive income, nor did it have any intecgspenalties accrued in its balance sheet at Deeer@b, 2013 and 2012 relating
unrecognized benefits.

The tax years 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010 remain ¢opegxamination for federal income tax purposes bgdthe other major taxii
jurisdictions to which the Company is subje
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NOTE 11 OPERATING LEASES
Vehicles

The Company leases vehicles under noncancelableitofe leases. Total lease expense under the ragriée was approximately $28,0
$48,000 and $63,000 for the years ended Decemb@038, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

Minimum future lease payments under these vehéaeds are approximately $27,000 in 2014.
Building

Effective November 2011, the Company extended theginal operating lease agreement on 3,044 sdiggteof office space and addec
additional 1,609 square feet of office space, fdotal of 4,653 square feet. The two leases requitial gross monthly lease payment:
$18,612. The monthly payments increase by 4% oh amniversary date. The leases expire in Nove@®&5. The Company also has an
and month to month lease agreements related taggoand parking spaces. Total rent expense uhdeadreements was approxima
$249,000, $217,000 and $150,000 for the years eDdedmber 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

The Company has prepaid the last three monthsnmeéhe amount of $53,553. Minimum future leasemayts under the building leases ar
follows:

Year Ended December 31, Amount
2014 $ 278,00!
2015 177,00(

Total $ 455,00(

The Company received $91,320 of landlord incentweder the original lease agreement and an addlti®58,620 under the lease for
additional 1,609 square feet. The Company hagdedoa deferred rent liability for these amountt tire being amortized over the term of
leases.

NOTE 12 FAIR VALUE

Fair value is defined as the exchange price thatidvioe received for an asset or paid to transfiabdity (an exit price) in the principal or mc
advantageous market for the asset or liability minoaderly transaction between market participanisttte measurement date. Valua
techniques used to measure fair value must maxithzeise of observable inputs and minimize theafismobservable inputs. The Comp
uses a fair value hierarchy based on three le¥eigpats, of which the first two are considered @lysble and the last unobservable, that m:
used to measure fair value which are the following:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for ideaitassets or liabilities.

Level 2 -Inputs other than Level 1 that are observablégeitlirectly or indirectly, such as quoted pricesdimilar assets of liabilities; quot
prices in markets that are not active; or otheuiaghat are observable or can be corroboratedobgraeable market data for substantially
full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supportetlitthy or no market activity and that are signéfitt to the fair value of the assets or liabilities

The following schedule summarizes the valuatiofiraincial instruments measured at fair value ora@imring basis in the balance sheet «
December 31, 2013 and 2012.
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Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2013 Using

Quoted
Prices In
Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable  Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Commodity Derivative— Current Asset (crude oil swaps and coll: $ - % 62,89( $ =
Commodity Derivative— Current Liability (crude oil swaps and colla - (19,119,64) -
Commodity Derivative— Non-Current Asset (crude oil swaps and coll: - 1,745,40! -
Commodity Derivatives — Non-Current Liability (creiil swaps and collars - (637,209 -
Total - $ (17,94855) $ =
Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2012 Using
Quoted
Prices In
Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable  Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Commodity Derivative— Current Asset (crude oil swaps and coll: $ - $ 409,19 $ =
Commodity Derivative— Non-Current Asset (crude oil swaps and coll: - 1,763,00: -
Commodity Derivatives — Non-Current Liability (creidil swaps and collars - (2,547,74) -
Total $ - $ 3,310,461 $ -

Level 2 assets and liabilities consist of derivatassets and liabilities (see Note 14), the Rerngl@Gredit Facility (see Note 4) and the N
(see Note 4). The fair value of the Companglerivative financial instruments is determineddazhupon future prices, volatility and time
maturity, among other things. Counterparty statdmame utilized to determine the value of the comlityoderivative instruments and
reviewed and corroborated using various methodetgand significant observable inputs. The Compargd the counterparties’
nonperformance risk is evaluated. The fair valtialbderivative contracts is reflected on the Ipaka sheet. The current derivative asse
liability amounts represent the fair values expedie be settled in the subsequent year. The badbkevof the Revolving Credit Facil
approximates fair value because of its floating sdtucture. The fair value of our 8% senior n@gdsased on an end of period market quote.

The Company’s longerm debt is not measured at fair value on thergalasheets and the fair value is being provideddieclosur
purposes. At December 31, 2013, the Company h@d gbllion of senior unsecured notes and $75 nmilimder the Revolving Credit Facil
outstanding with a fair value of $527.5 million a®id5 million, respectively. At December 31, 20ftg2 Company had $300 million of ser
unsecured notes and $124 million under the Revgl@nedit Facility outstanding with a fair value $810.5 million and $124.0 millio
respectively. The estimated fair value of debt Wased upon quoted market prices and, where suckspniere not available, other observ
inputs regarding interest rates available to then@any at the end of each respective period.

Though the Company believes the methods used itmatstfair value are consistent with those usedtiner market participants, the use

other methods or assumptions could result in &wdfft estimate of fair valu&here were no transfers of financial assets oilii@s betwee
Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 inputs for the yearslett December 31, 2013 and 2012.
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NOTE 13  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company’s nowterivative financial instruments include cash aagshcequivalents, and credit facility and are noasneed at fair value
the balance sheets. The carrying amount of theselarivative financial instruments approximateirtifar values (See Note 12).

The Companys accounts receivable relate to crude oil and abfyas sold to various industry companies. Creins, typical of indust
standards, are of a short-term nature and the Caoyngh@es not require collateral. Management betiglie Companyg accounts receivable
December 31, 2013 and 2012 do not represent significredit risks as they are dispersed across roamyterparties. As of December
2013, outstanding derivative contracts with comnaédzanks participating in the revolving credit ifag represent all of the Compars/crud:
oil volumes hedged. These commercial banks havestment-grade ratings from Moodyand Standard & Poor and are lenders unde
Company’s revolving credit facility and managemieelieves this does not represent a significantitrisit.

NOTE 14 DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND PRICE RISK M ANAGEMENT

The Company utilizes commodity swap contracts argdless collars (purchased put options and writt#hoptions) to (i) reduce the effects
volatility in price changes on the crude oil comiitied it produces and sells, (ii) reduce commodgitize risk and (iii) provide a base leve
cash flow in order to assure it can execute at e@ertion of its capital spending.

On November 1, 2009, due to the volatility of pritiferentials in the Williston Basin, the Compadg-designated all derivatives that w
previously classified as cash flow hedges andduiteon, the Company has elected not to designajesabsequent derivative contracts as
flow hedges. Beginning on November 1, 2009, ativdd¢ive positions are carried at their fair valole the balance sheet and are marked-t
market at the end of each period. Any realizedgyaimd losses on settled derivatives are recordgditoor loss on settled derivatives and ¢
or losses on the mark-to-market of derivative unstents are recorded to (loss) gain on the markdd<et of derivative instruments on
statement of comprehensive income rather tharcas@onent of other comprehensive income (loss}lwrancome (expense).

The Company has master netting agreements on dhdilvicrude oil contracts with certain counterparéad therefore the current asset
liability are netted on the balance sheet and tbe-current asset and liability are netted on the hadasheet for contracts with th
counterparties.

Crude Oil Derivative Contracts Caflow Hedge

Prior to November 1, 2009, all derivative positidghat qualified for hedge accounting were desighatethe date the Company entered int
contract as a hedge against the variability in ¢lsts associated with the forecasted sale of uttrude oil production. The cash flow hec
were valued at the end of each period and adjussterthe fair value of the contract prior to sattent were recorded on the stateme
stockholders’equity as other comprehensive income. Upon settientiee gain (loss) on the cash flow hedge wasrdetbas an increase
decrease in revenue on the statements of compigbansome. The Company reports average crudarml natural gas prices and revei
including the net results of hedging activities.

The net mark-to-market loss on the Compamgmaining swaps that qualified for cash flow heedgcounting at the date the decision was |
to discontinue hedge accounting totaled approxilye$@01,000 as of December 31, 2011. The Compaasy recorded that amount
accumulated other comprehensive income in stockngldquity and the entire amount was amortized intemeres as the original forecas
hedged crude oil production occurred in the fitsiger of 2012.

Crude Oil Derivative Contracts Caflow Not Designated as Hedges

The Company recorded realized losses on settledatiges of $12.2 million, $0.4 million and $13.4llon as a loss on settled derivative:
the statement of comprehensive income for the yeraded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respiyctiVie Company recorded (loss
gains of $(21.3) million, $15.1 million and $3.1lloin as (losses) gains on the markra@rket of derivatives in the statement of comprehe
income for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2682011, respectively. Mark-toarket gains and losses represent changes indie:
of derivatives that have not been settled.
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The following table reflects open commodity swaptcacts as of December 31, 2013, the associateainasl and the corresponding fixed pi

Settlement Period Qil (Barrels) Fixed Price

Swap-Crude Oil

01/01/14- 06/30/14 300,00 $ 89.5(
01/01/14- 06/30/14 240,00( 90.0(
01/01/14- 06/30/14 240,00( 100.0(
01/01/14-12/31/14 240,00( 91.6¢
01/01/14- 12/31/14 345,00( 88.5¢
01/01/14- 12/31/14 345,00( 88.6(
01/01/14- 12/31/14 345,00( 88.4(
01/01/14- 12/31/14 345,00( 88.5(
01/01/14- 12/31/14 120,00( 91.3¢
01/01/14- 12/31/14 120,00( 90.0(
01/01/14- 12/31/14 240,00( 90.1¢
01/01/14-12/31/14 240,00( 91.0(
01/01/14- 12/31/14 120,00( 93.0(
07/01/14- 12/31/14 120,00( 90.0(
07/01/14- 12/31/14 120,00( 90.0(
07/01/14- 12/31/14 120,00t 93.5(
07/01/14- 12/31/14 30,00( 90.5¢
01/01/14- 06/30/15 480,00( 89.1¢
01/01/15- 06/30/15 60,00( 90.5(
01/01/15- 06/30/15 180,00( 88.5¢
01/01/15- 06/30/15 180,00( 88.0(
01/01/15- 06/30/15 60,00( 90.7¢
01/01/15- 06/30/15 60,00( 90.2¢
01/01/15- 06/30/15 90,00( 89.0(
01/01/15- 06/30/15 90,00( 89.0(
01/01/15- 12/31/15 720,00( 89.0(
01/01/15-12/31/15 360,00( 89.0(
01/01/15-12/31/15 360,00( 89.0:
01/01/15-12/31/15 180,00( 89.0(
01/01/15-12/31/15 180,00( 89.0(

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had a totlinve on open commodity swaps of 6.6 million barais weighted average price
approximately $ 89.84 .

The following table reflects the weighted averagi&eg of open commodity derivative contracts as @c@mber 31, 2013, by year w
associated volumes.

Weighted Average Price
Of Open Commodity Swap Contracts

Weighted
Volumes Average
Year (Bbl) Price
2014 3,750,000 $ 90.4¢
2015 2,880,001 89.07

In addition to the open commodity swap contraces@ompany has entered into costless collars. dsess collars are used to establish -
and ceiling prices on anticipated crude oil prothrct There were no premiums paid or received lgyGompany related to the costless ¢
agreements. The following table reflects openlesstcollar agreements as of December 31, 2013.

Floor/Ceiling
Term Qil (Barrels) Price Basis
Costless Collar— Crude Qil
01/01/14- 12/31/14 240,000 $ 90.00/$99.0 NYMEX
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We determine the estimated fair value of derivathn&ruments using a market approach based on aefegtors, including quoted mar
prices in active markets and quotes from thirdipsytamong other things. The Company also perfaménternal valuation to ensure
reasonableness of third party quotes. In condideraof counterparty credit risk, the Company asedsthe possibility of whether 1
counterparty to the derivative would default byrajlto make any contractually required paymentddifionally, the Company considers th:
is of substantial credit quality and has the finahmesources and willingness to meet its potemgahyment obligations associated with
derivative transactions. For further details relgag our derivative contracts see Note 12, Faiugah the Notes to the Financial Statements.

The following table sets forth the amounts, on @sgrbasis, and classification of the Comparttstanding derivative financial instrument
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Ceamiounts may be presented on a net basis on thelictated financial statements when s
amounts are with the same counterparty and sutgjectaster netting arrangement;

December 31
Estimated Fair Value

Type of Crude Oil Contract Balance Sheet Locatior 2013 2012

Derivative Assets

Swap Contract Current assets/liabilitie $ 62,89( $ 680,64

Swap Contract Non-current assel 1,745,40! 1,977,72.

Costless Collar Current assets/liabilitie - 11,769,41

Costless Collars Non-current asset/liabilities - 5,629,99i
Total Derivative Assets $ 1,808,29' $ 20,057,78
Derivative Liabilities:

Swap Contract Current assets/liabilitie $ (19,111,82) $ (2,037,071

Swap Contract Non-current assel (637,209 (3,170,94)

Costless Collar Current assets/liabilitie (7,82¢) (6,317,79)

Costless Collars Non-current assets/liabilities - (5,221,511
Total Derivative Liabilities $ (19,756,85) $ (16,747,32)

The following disclosures are applicable to the @any’s financial statements, as of December 31320012 and 2011:

Location of Loss for Effective and Amount of Loss Reclassified from AOCI into
Derivative Type Ineffective Portion of Derivative in Income Income
Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011
Commodity— Cash Flow Loss on Settled Derivative $ - $ 101,30¢ $ 1,157,77

The use of derivative transactions involves thk tligt the counterparties will be unable to meetfthancial terms of such transactions. W
the Company has netting arrangements with its evpatties that provide for offsetting payables agiareceivables from separate derive
instruments these assets and liabilities are nettethe balance sheet. The tables presented bmiovide reconciliation between the gr
assets and liabilities and the amounts reflectedhenbalance sheet. The amounts presented exdemiative settlement receivables
payables as of the balance sheet dates.
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Offsetting of Derivative Asset:
Current Asset
Non-Current Assets

Total Derivative Assets

Offsetting of Derivative Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities

Total Derivative Liabilities

Offsetting of Derivative Asset:
Current Asset
Non-Current Assets

Total Derivative Assets

Offsetting of Derivative Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities

Total Derivative Liabilities

NOTE 15 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Estimated Fair Value at December 31, 2013

Gross Net Amounts
Gross Amounts of Assets
Amounts of Offsetinthe  Presented in
Recognized Balance the Balance
Assets Sheet Sheet
$ 629,17¢ $ (566,289 $ 62,89(
2,589,07! (843,679 1,745,40!

$ 321825 $ (1,409,96) $ 1,808,29

$ (19,685,93) $ 566,28t $ (19,119,64)
(1,480,88) 843,67 (637,20%)
$ (21,166,81) $ 1,409,96. $ (19,756,85)

Estimated Fair Value at December 31, 201

Gross Net Amounts
Gross Amounts of Assets
Amounts of Offsetinthe  Presented in
Recognized Balance the Balance
Assets Sheet Sheet

$ 12,450,06 $ (8,354,86) $ 4,095,19
7,607,71 (5,844,71)) 1,763,00:
$ 20,057,78 $ (14,199,57) $ 5,858,20:

$ (8,354,86) $ 835486 $ -
(8,392,45) 5,844, 71 (2,547,74)
$ (16,747,32) $ 1419957 $ (2,547,74)

The following is a reconciliation of the numeratord denominator used to calculate basic earningshage and diluted earnings per shar
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011:

2013 2012 2011
Net Net

Income Shares Per Share Income Shares Per Share Net Income Shares Per Share
Basic EPS $53,067,03 62,364,95 $ 0.8t $72,284,62 62,485,83 $ 1.1¢ $40,611,49. 61,789.28 $ 0.6¢€
Dilutive
Effect of
Options - 382,34 - - 383,24 (0.07) - 406,05: (0.07)
Diluted EPS $53,067,03 62,747,29 $ 0.8 $72,284,62 62,869,07 $ 1.1 $40,611,49. 62,195,34 $ 0.6k

For the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012ctedtstock of 7,330 and 18,348 shares of commarkswere excluded from EPS du

the anti-dilutive effect.
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NOTE 16 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

| n 2009, the Company adopted a defined contribudidoh(k) plan for substantially all of its employe€ghe plan provides for Compe
matching of employee contributions to the plan.ribgi2013, 2012 and 2011, the Company provided @mzontribution equal to 100% of
eligible employee’s deferral contribution, up to 88b the employees earnings up to the maximum allowable amount. Tenpan
contributed approximately $240,000, $189,000 an@3§100 to the 401(k) plan for the years ended Déeen3l, 2013, 2012 and 20
respectively.

NOTE 17 SEVERANCE ARRANGEMENTS

The Companys former president, Ryan Gilbertson, resigned &ffedOctober 1, 2012. In connection with his resition, the Company a
Mr. Gilbertson entered into a separation and releagreement and a consulting agreement (collegtithe “New Agreements”)which
terminate and supersede his prior employment agreemith the Company (except for certain survivipgvisions). Pursuant to the N
Agreements, Mr. Gilbertsos’outstanding and unvested restricted stock awaittlsontinue to vest on their original vesting sclules, so lor
as Mr. Gilbertson does not terminate the consuliggeement and the Company does not terminatedihgulting agreement for cause
defined). In addition, pursuant to the New Agreetaghe Company (i) provided Mr. Gilbertson witlprated portion of his 2012 yeanc
bonus (based on predetermined performance metittas determined by the Compasaigompensation committee following the end of 2(
(i) bought out the lease and transferred titleMn Gilbertson on his Companrgased vehicle, and (iii) is reimbursing Mr. Giltsam fo
continuation coverage pursuant to COBRA on the Guomgjs health plans for up to 18 months.

In connection with the New Agreements, the Compamycluded the unvested restricted stock awards wedified in connection with ti
change in Mr. Gilbertson’s employment status amuise requirements. Because the Company expect&Mrertsons awards will vest und
the modified conditions but his period of activeviee in substance has concluded, $4.3 millionhafre based compensation costs was refl
in general and administrative expense during thd tiuarter of 2012 related to the modified awardsdditionally, the cash expenses estim
for Mr. Gilbertson’s prorated 2012 bonus, Comp#gsed vehicle and continuation coverage pursuan€C®BRA was estimated
approximately $0.6 million and was reflected in gexh and administrative expense during the thiraregn of 2012.

On October 16, 2012, the Company terminated thdamyent of its Chief Operating Officer, James Rnl8avitz. Mr. Sankovitz terminatio
was “not for causelinder his existing employment agreement with then@any, and as a result he was entitled to cermmrance benef
which included a single lumgam payment of one times his $325,000 base salaraddition, the Company agreed to buy out tlesdean
transfer title to Mr. Sankovitz on his Compalegsed vehicle, and reimburse Mr. Sankovitz fortiooration coverage pursuant to COBRA
the Company’s health plans for up to 18 months.
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SUPPLEMENTAL OIL AND GAS INFORMATION
(UNAUDITED)

Oil and Natural Gas Exploration and Production Activities

Oil and gas sales reflect the market prices opneduction sold or transferred with appropriateuatipents for royalties, net profits interest,
other contractual provisions. Production expemselside lifting costs incurred to operate and maimiproductive wells and related equipn
including such costs as operating labor, repaits maintenance, materials, supplies and fuel condurReoduction taxes include produci
and severance taxes. Depletion of crude oil andralagas properties relates to capitalized costsirned in acquisition, exploration, ¢
development activities. Results of operations dbinclude interest expense and general corporatauats. The results of operations for
company’s crude oil and natural gas productiorviis are provided in the Company’s related statets of income.

Costs Incurred and Capitalized Costs

The costs incurred in crude oil and natural gasistgpn, exploration and development activities highlighted in the table below.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Costs Incurred for the Yee
Proved Property Acquisition and Ott $ 29,404,63 $ 24,791,82 $ 53,497,19
Unproved Property Acquisitio 20,207,84 27,304,42 57,867,66
Development 389,491,63 485,392,50 302,594,651
Total $439,104,11 $537,488,75 $413,959,37

Excluded costs for unproved properties are accuendilby year. Costs are reflected in the full castl@s the drilling costs are incurred o
costs are evaluated and deemed impaired. The Gongudicipates these excluded costs will be indluidethe depletion computation over
next five years. The Company is unable to prethet future impact on depletion rates. The folloyvis a summary of capitalized cc
excluded from depletion at December 31, 2013 by yearred.

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 Prior Years
Property Acquisitior $ 17,086,14 $ 8,076,27 $ 22,87509 $ 22,110,83
Development - - - -
Total $ 17,086,14 $ 8,076,27 $ 2287509 $ 22,110,83

Oil and Natural Gas Reserves and Related Financidata

Information with respect to the Compasyrude oil and natural gas producing activitiggrésented in the following tables. Reserve qgtias
as well as certain information regarding futureduation and discounted cash flows, were determime&yder Scott Company, indepenc
petroleum consultants based on information provigdethe Company.

Oil and Natural Gas Reserve Data

The following tables present the Company’s indeangetroleum consultantestimates of its proved crude oil and natural gaemves. TF
Company emphasizes that reserves are approximagiotisare expected to change as additional infoomatecomes available. Reser
engineering is a subjective process of estimatimdetground accumulations of crude oil and natueal hat cannot be measured in an ¢
way, and the accuracy of any reserve estimatduscion of the quality of available data and ofjereering and geological interpretation
judgment.
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Proved Developed and Undeveloped Reserves at Decedthp2010

Revisions of Previous Estimat
Extensions, Discoveries and Other Additic
Production

Proved Developed and Undeveloped Reserves at Decedhp2011

Revisions of Previous Estimat
Extensions, Discoveries and Other Additic
Production

Proved Developed and Undeveloped Reserves at Decedthp2012

Revisions of Previous Estimat
Extensions, Discoveries and Other Additit
Production

Proved Developed and Undeveloped Reserves at Decedthp2013

Proved Developed Reservi
December 31, 2010
December 31, 2011
December 31, 201
December 31, 201

Proved Undeveloped Resen
December 31, 2010
December 31, 2011

December 31, 201
December 31, 201

Natural Gas Oil
(MCF) (BBLS)
10,449,96 13,993,69
(940,069 924,43:
20,959,47. 28,750,82
(800,207 (1,791,97)
29,669,16 41,876,97.
(1,410,54) 812,37:
14,788,38 21,490,24
(1,768,87) (3,465,31)
41,278,12 60,714,228
(8,634,68) (12,749,04)
20,096,94 31,880,59
(2,572,25) (4,046,70)
50,168,13 75,799,12
3,513,42 5,840,74!
8,452,65: 14,338,57
17,350,16 27,345,82
20,642,96 32,043,40
6,936,53! 8,152,95;
21,216,51 27,538,40
23,927,96 33,368,45
29,525,16 43,755,72

Proved reserves are estimated quantities of crildmd natural gas, which geological and enginepdata indicate with reasonable certaini
be recoverable in future years from known resesvoirder existing economic and operating conditi®meved developed reserves are pri
reserves that can be expected to be recoveredgthrexisting wells with existing equipment and opiega methods. Proved undevelo
reserves are included for reserves for which tlieer@ high degree of confidence in their recoveiigbdnd they are scheduled to be dri

within the next five years.




Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cdsflows and Changes Therei

The following table presents a standardized measudéscounted future net cash flows relating toved crude oil and natural gas reserves
the changes in standardized measure of discountecefnet cash flows relating proved crude oil aatlral gas were prepared in accord
with the provisions of ASC 932-23555. Future cash inflows were computed by applyngrage prices of crude oil and natural gas fotak
12 months to estimated future production. Futuredpction and development costs were computed hiynatihg the expenditures to
incurred in developing and producing the provedierail and natural gas reserves at the end ofehe ased on year end costs and assl
continuation of existing economic conditions. Fatincome tax expenses were calculated by appbppgopriate year end tax rates to fu
pretax cash flows relating to proved crude oil aatlural gas reserves, less the tax basis of prepénvolved and tax credits and loss ¢
forwards relating to crude oil and natural gas pridg activities. Future net cash flows are disted at the rate of 10% annually to derive
standardized measure of discounted future castsfléwtual future cash inflows may vary considerahlyd the standardized measure doe
necessarily represent the fair value of the Comisaryde oil and natural gas reserves.

Year Ended December 31

Future Cash Inflow

Future Production Cos
Future Development Cos
Future Income Tax Expense

Future Net Cash Inflows

10% Annual Discount for Estimated Timing of Cashv#

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Eashs

2013 2012 2011
$6,932,701,50 $ 5,353,167,00 $3,959,403,50
(2,093,282,68) (1,436,711,06) (925,165,65)
(1,281,664,75)  (846,363,50) (624,607,50)
(952,120,00)  (817,296,32) (740,132,74)
$ 2,605,634,06 $ 2,252,796,11 $1,669,497,60

(1,381,267,23) (1,211,441,32) (830,800,21)

$1,224,366,82 $1,041,354,79 $ 838,697,38

The twelve month average prices were adjustedftecteapplicable transportation and quality difietials on a well-bywell basis to arrive
realized sales prices used to estimate the Compamgerves. The price of other liquids is includednatural gas. The prices for

Company’s reserve estimates were as follows:

December 31, 201
December 31, 201
December 31, 201

Natural Gas (@]
MCF Bbl

$ 52 % 88.0(

$ 47¢ $ 84.9:

$ 6.1¢ $ 90.17%

Changes in the Standardized Measure of DiscountadéNet Cash Flows at 10% per annum follow:

Beginning of Perio(

Sales of Oil and Natural Gas Produced, Net of Rrtvoin Costs

Extensions and Discoveri

Previously Estimated Development Cost Incurred iuthe Perioc

Net Change of Prices and Production C
Change in Future Development Cc
Revisions of Quantity and Timing Estima
Accretion of Discoun

Change in Income Taxt

Other

End of Period

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011
$1,041,354,79 $ 838,697,38 $ 210,612,79
(292,369,01) (235,769,95) (132,095,15)

640,467,84  455,623,03  756,304,28
139,069,809  193,669,70  23,941,19
16,693,04  (179,505,19) 140,217,58
4558360 (112,995,35) (11,285,15)
(454,39524)  15,687,42  13,491,95
128,740,63  110,133,32  29,551,14
(50,871,55)  16,584,30 (177,737,16)
10,092,80  (60,769,87)  (14,304,10)

$1,224,366,82 $1,041,354,79 $ 838,697,38
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QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

Quarterly data for the years end December 31, 20832012 is as follow:

2013

Total Revenue

(Losses) Gains on the Mito-Market of Derivative Instrument
Expense:

Income from Operatior

Other Income (Expens

Income Tax Provisio

Net Income

Net Income Per Common Sh& Basic

Net Income Per Common Shé& Diluted

2012

Total Revenue

(Losses) Gains on the Mito-Market of Derivative Instrument
Expense@

Income from Operatior

Other Income (Expens

Income Tax Provisio

Net Income

Net Income Per Common Sh& Basic

Net Income Per Common Shé& Diluted

Quarter Ended

September December

March 31, June 30, 30, 31,
$ 67,898,08 $ 96,161,80 $ 69,784,20 $101,929,78
(14,910,65) 17,009,66 (29,353,16) 5,995,13i
47,234,01 48,432,75 57,671,15 64,439,00
20,664,06 47,729,05 12,113,04 37,490,78
(6,107,93) (8,087,37) (9,382,14) (9,584,84))
5,604,61. 14,630,00 1,028,001 10,505,00
8,951,51! 25,011,67 1,702,90. 17,400,94
0.14 0.4C 0.0 0.2¢
0.14 0.3¢ 0.0: 0.2¢

Quarter Ended

September December

March 31, June 30, 30, 31,
$ 50,522,99 $119,207,60 $ 60,09561 $ 81,746,68
(9,364,91) 49,799,31 (22,308,47) (2,978,80)
35,695,83 44,013,80 54,376,31 48,350,51
14,827,16 75,193,80 5,719,29! 33,396,17
(195,899 (2,727,40) (5,205,71) (5,721,01)
5,825,35! 28,840,00 213,42. 8,123,00!
8,805,91. 43,626,39 300,16: 19,552,15
0.14 0.7C - 0.31
0.14 0.7C - 0.31

(1) General and administrative expenses include $5lli5bmand $0.6 million in severance expenses inneation with the departures of «
president and our chief operating officer in thiedland fourth quarters of 2012, respectiv
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Exhibit 12
Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Northern Oil and Gas, Inc.

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Earnings Before Income Taxes $ 4,264,995 $ 11,336,30 $ 67,446,79 $115,286,39 $ 84,834,65
Add:
Fixed Charge 1,169,43! 655,11t 1,006,301 19,819,59 38,688,30
Subtract:
Capitalized Interest 624,71 59,71: 405,98: 5,929,47. 5,976,98
Total Earnings Before Fixed Charg 4,809,67! 11,931,70 68,047,11 129,176,52 117,545,96
Fixed Charges
Interest Expens 535,09« 583,37¢ 585,98: 13,874,90 32,709,05
Capitalized Interes 624,71 59,71: 405,98: 5,929,47. 5,976,98
Estimated Interest Component of Rent 9,624 12,02¢ 14,34( 15,21¢ 2,26:
Total Fixed Charge 1,169,43! 655,11t 1,006,301 19,819,59 38,688,30
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges® 4.1x 18.2x 67.6x 6.5x 3.0x

(1) The Company had no preferred stock outstandingrigrperiod presented, and accordingly, the ratieanhings to combined fixed char
and preferred stock dividends is the same as tieabearnings to fixed charge



EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement Nos. 333-146596, 333-15832@3;138779, 333-167049, and 333
188423 on Form S-3 and Nos. 333-148333, 333-1608682,175100, and 333-188999 on Forr8 &f our reports dated March 3, 2014, rele

to the financial statements of Northern Oil and 3as., and the effectiveness of Northern Oil amas@nc.5 internal control over financ
reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on FAiOrK of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. for the year eddecember 31, 2013.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 3, 2014



EXHIBIT 23.2
CONSENT OF RYDER SCOTT COMPANY, L.P.

Northern Oil and Gas, In
315 Manitoba Avenue — Suite 200
Wayzata, Minnesota 55391

Gentlemen:

The undersigned hereby consents to the referencasrtfirm in the form and context in which theypapr in the Annual Report
Form 10-K of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. for the yemded December 31, 2013 (the “Annual Report)e hereby further consent to
inclusion in the Annual Report of estimates ofasill gas reserves contained in our report datedu&sbfi1l, 2014, and to the inclusion of s
report as an exhibit to the Annual Report. Wehertconsent to the incorporation by reference tifeio Northern Oil and Gas, Ine.’
Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-138333-160602, 333-175100 and 333-188999) and om %3 (Nos. 333-146596, 333-
158320, 333-163779, 333-167049 and 333-188423).

RYDER SCOTT COMPANY, L.P.
/sl Ryder Scott Company, L.P.

Denver, Colorado
February 28, 2014



EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Michael L. Reger, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. for the year en@stember 31, 201«

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortdénstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danare responsible for establishing and maintgimisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proess or caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b) Designed such internal control over finahmporting, or caused such internal control owariicial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atauce with generally accepted accounting princijy

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissatisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyaport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in #gstrant’s internal control over financial repogdithat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)daihhave disclosed, based on our most recent ev@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of registrant’s board of directors p@rsons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and materialakeess in the design or operation of internal @mtver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpzahcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalwes management or other employees who have disag role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Dated: March 3, 2014 By: /s/Michael L. Rege

Michael L. Reger
Chief Executive Office



EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Thomas W. Stoelk, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. for the year en@stember 31, 201«

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatommny untrue statement of a material fact ortdénstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danare responsible for establishing and maintgimisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proess or caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b) Designed such internal control over finahmporting, or caused such internal control owariicial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atauce with generally accepted accounting princijy

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissatisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyaport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in #gstrant’s internal control over financial repogdithat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)daihhave disclosed, based on our most recent ev@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of registrant’s board of directors p@rsons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and materialakeess in the design or operation of internal @mtver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpzahcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalwes management or other employees who have disag role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Dated: March 3, 2014 By: /s/ Thomas W. Stoel

Thomas W. Stoelk
Chief Financial Office



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Northerrl énd Gas, Inc., on Form H-or the period ended December 31, 2013, as
with the United States Securities and Exchange Gessiom on the date hereof, (the “Repor&ach of the undersigned officers of our comj

hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01235 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasaxiey Act of 2002, that to the best
his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctiodi and results «
operations of our compan

Dated: March 3, 2014 By: [s/Michael L. Rege

Michael L. Reger
Chief Executive Officer and Direct

Dated: March 3, 2014 By: /s/ Thomas W. Stoel
Thomas W. Stoelk
Chief Financial Office

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2082 been provided to our
company and will be retained by our company andisined to the Securities and Exchange Commissidts staff upon request.



EXHIBIT 99.1
REPORT OF RYDER SCOTT COMPANY, LP
February 11, 2014

Northern Oil and Gas, In
315 Manitoba Avenue, Suite 200
Wayzata, Minnesota 55391

Gentlemen:

At your request, Ryder Scott Company, L.P. (Rydeot$ has prepared an estimate of the proved resgfuture production, a
income attributable to certain leasehold intere$tsorthern Oil and Gas, Inc. (Northern) as of Daber 31, 2013. The subject properties
located in the states of Montana and North Dakdtae reserves and income data were estimated lmsede definitions and disclosi
guidelines of the United States Securities and Brgh Commission (SEC) contained in Title 17, Coideealeral Regulations, Modernizat
of Oil and Gas Reporting, Final Rule released Jgnuid, 2009 in the Federal Register (SEC regula)io®ur third party study, completed
February 11, 2014 and presented herein, was piépargublic disclosure by Northern in filings madéh the SEC in accordance with
disclosure requirements set forth in the SEC reigusa.

The properties evaluated by Ryder Scott repres@dtpercent of the total net proved liquid hydrocarbeserves and 100 percen
the total net proved gas reserves of Northern &@ecember 31, 2013.

The estimated reserves and future net income ammquesented in this report, as of December 31, 20&3elated to hydrocarb
prices. The hydrocarbon prices used in the préparaf this report are based on the average pdcesg the 12nonth period prior to tt
ending date of the period covered in this repaterdmined as the unweighted arithmetic averagdiseoprices in effect on the first-day-of-the-
month for each month within such period, unlessgwiwere defined by contractual arrangements,casreel by the SEC regulations. Act
future prices may vary significantly from the psceequired by SEC regulations; therefore, volumeseserves actually recovered and
amounts of income actually received may differ gigantly from the estimated quantities presentethis report. The results of this study
summarized below.

SEC PARAMETERS
Estimated Net Reserves and Income Data
Certain Leasehold Interests of
Northern Oil and Gas, Inc.
As of December 31, 2013

Proved
Developed Total
Non-
Producing Producing Undevelopec Proved

Net Remaining Reserve

Oil/Condensat— Barrels 26,150,05 5,893,35! 43,755,72 75,799,12

Gas- MMCF 16,53¢ 4,10¢ 29,52¢ 50,16¢
Income Data (M$)

Future Gross Revent $ 213365 $ 480,55! $ 3,561,111 $ 6,175,32

Deductions $ 563,08! $ 182,01: $ 1,872,47' $ 2,617,57

Future Net Income (FN $ 157056 $ 298,54: $ 1,688,64. $ 3,557,75

Discounted FNI @ 10¢ $ 881,69¢ $ 151,08( $ 488,51: $ 1,521,29

Liquid hydrocarbons are expressed in standard 4i@rgharrels. All gas volumes are reported on as $old basisexpressed
millions of cubic feet (MMCF) at the official tempure and pressure bases of the areas in whiaatheeserves are located. In this repor
revenues, deductions, and income data are exprasgbdusands of U.S. dollars (M$).




The estimates of the reserves, future productiod,iacome attributable to properties in this repeere prepared using the econa
software package Aried! System Petroleum Economic Evaluation Software,mygghted program of Halliburton.The program was used
the request of Northern. Ryder Scott has founsl phogram to be generally acceptable, but notdscréain summaries and calculations
vary due to rounding and may not exactly matchstima of the properties being summarized. Furthezmmme line economic summaries t
vary slightly from the more detailed cash flow gajons of the same properties, also due to rogndithe rounding differences are
material.

The future gross revenue is after the deductigprefluction taxes. The deductions incorporate tirenal direct costs of operating
wells, completion costs, development costs, anthiceabandonment costs net of salvage. The futeteincome is before the deduct
of state and federal income taxes and generalrastmgitive overhead, and has not been adjustedufistanding loans that may exist, nor ¢
it include any adjustment for cash on hand or unbiged income. Liquid hydrocarbon reserves aotdor approximately 96 percent and
reserves account for the remaining 4 percent af fature gross revenue from proved reserves.

The discounted future net income shown above wasuleted using a discount rate of 10 percent patuam compounde
monthly. Future net income was discounted at father discount rates which were also compoundedtimonThese results are showr
summary form as follows.

Discounted Future Net Income (M$)
As of December 31, 201

Discount Rate Total
Percent Proved
5 $2,203,30(
8 $1,746,147
12 $1,340,66¢
15 $1,129,517

The results shown above are presented for yourrirgtion and should not be construed as our estiofdtér market value.
Reserves Included in This Repc

The proved reserves included herein conform todgfeition as set forth in the Securities and ExafeaCommissiors Regulation
Part 210.4-10(a). An abridged version of the S&serves definitions from 210.4-10(a) entitled “Bletum Reserves Definitionss included a
an attachment to this report.

The various proved reserve status categories dieedeunder the attachment entitleBetroleum Reserves Status Definitions
Guidelines” in this report. The proved developed+producing reserves included herein consist@®stiut-in category.

No attempt was made to quantify or otherwise acttarmany accumulated gas production imbalancesrtizy exist. The provedyas
volumes presented herein do not include volumegmesfconsumed in operations as reserves.

Reserves areestimated remaining quantities of oil and gas asldted substances anticipated to be economicatiguaible, as of
given date, by application of development projeotknown accumulations.All reserve estimates involve an assessment ofitfeertaint
relating the likelihood that the actual remainingagtities recovered will be greater or less thanetstimated quantities determined as of the
the estimate is made. The uncertainty dependdlytia the amount of reliable geologic and engiirggrdata available at the time of
estimate and the interpretation of these data. réladive degree of uncertainty may be conveyeglbging reserves into one of two princi
classifications, either proved or unproved. Unpbveserves are less certain to be recovered ttoweg reserves, and may be further sul
classified as probable and possible reserves totégrogressively increasing uncertainty in thecaverability. At Northerrs request, th
report addresses only the proved reserves atthlauta the properties evaluated herein.

Proved oil and gas reserves atteo’se quantities of oil and gas which, by analg§igeoscience and engineering data, can be est
with reasonable certainty to be economically prdalecrom a given date forward.The proved reserves included herein were estimaged
deterministic methods. The SEC has defined reddemartainty for proved reserves, when based oermiénistic methods, as &igh degre
of confidence that the quantities will be recoveted




Proved reserve estimates will generally be revised onhadditional geologic or engineering data becomelabla or as econom
conditions change. For proved reserves, the S&€ssthat &s changes due to increased availability of genseiégeological, geophysical, ¢
geochemical), engineering, and economic data adernmthe estimated ultimate recovery (EUR) withetj reasonably certain EUR is m
more likely to increase or remain constant thardecrease."Moreover, estimates of proved reserves may be edvis a result of futu
operations, effects of regulation by governmentgsneies or geopolitical or economic risks. Themefdhe proved reserves included in
report are estimates only and should not be coedtas being exact quantities, and if recoveredrakienues therefrom, and the actual ¢
related thereto, could be more or less than thmattd amounts.

Northerns operations may be subject to various levels eEgumental controls and regulations. These cantmol regulations m
include, but may not be limited to, matters relgtin land tenure and leasing, the legal rightsrtmlpce hydrocarbons, drilling and produc
practices, environmental protection, marketing priding policies, royalties, various taxes and éasvincluding income tax and are subjet
change from time to time. Such changes in goventaheegulations and policies may cause volumgza¥ed reserves actually recovered
amounts of proved income actually received to déignificantly from the estimated quantities.

The estimates of proved reserves presented hergia based upon a detailed study of the propentieghich Northern owns ar
interest; however, we have not made any field eratiin of the properties. No consideration wasegivn this report to potent
environmental liabilities that may exist nor wergyaosts included for potential liabilities to rest and clean up damages, if any, cause
past operating practices.

Estimates of Reserve

The estimation of reserves involves two distindiedainations. The first determination results lie £stimation of the quantities
recoverable oil and gas and the second determimagisults in the estimation of the uncertainty asged with those estimated quantitie
accordance with the definitions set forth by theuigies and Exchange Commission’s Regulations PE0t4410(a). The process of estimal
the quantities of recoverable oil and gas reseredies on the use of certain generally acceptedytitel procedures. These analyt
procedures fall into three broad categories or puh(1) performance-based methods; (2) volumétised methods; and (3) analogy. T
methods may be used singularly or in combinatiorth®y reserve evaluator in the process of estimdtiegquantities of reserves. Resi
evaluators must select the method or combinatiomethods which in their professional judgment isstappropriate given the nature
amount of reliable geoscience and engineering datglable at the time of the estimate, the establisor anticipated performar
characteristics of the reservoir being evaluatad,tae stage of development or producing matufithe property.

In many cases, the analysis of the available genseiand engineering data and the subsequentrittgipn of this data may indici
a range of possible outcomes in an estimate, ieds@ of the method selected by the evaluatoreid range in the quantity of reserve
identified, the evaluator must determine the ummiety associated with the incremental quantitieshefreserves. If the reserve quantities
estimated using the deterministic incremental aggiipthe uncertainty for each discrete incremeqtahtity of the reserves is addressed b
reserve category assigned by the evaluator. Torexett is the categorization of reserve quantiissproved, probable and/or possible
addresses the inherent uncertainty in the estimguedtities reported. For proved reserves, unogytés defined by the SEC as reason
certainty wherein the “quantities actually recodeage much more likely than not to be achievedie BEC states thapfobable reserves ¢
those additional reserves that are less certale tieecovered than proved reserves but which, tegettih proved reserves, are as likely as
to be recovered.” The SEC states thmisSible reserves are those additional reservesithdess certain to be recovered than probabbrve
and the total quantities ultimately recovered fr@amproject have a low probability of exceeding pwvalus probable plus possi
reserves.” All quantities of reserves within tlaene reserve category must meet the SEC definiismoted above.

Estimates of reserves quantities and their asswtiegserve categories may be revised in the fuasredditional geoscience
engineering data become available. Furthermotienat®s of reserves quantities and their associatselve categories may also be revisec
to other factors such as changes in economic dondijt results of future operations, effects of tagon by governmental agencies
geopolitical or economic risks as previously ndtedein.

The proved reserves for the properties includedihevere estimated by performance methods or apal@gme hundred percent of
proved producing reserves attributable to produciuedls were estimated by performance methods ologya These performance meth
include decline curve analysis which utilized eptriations of historical production and pressuredatailable through November 2013 in tt
cases where such data were considered to be definithe data utilized in this analysis were fsh@d to Ryder Scott by Northern and v
considered sufficient for the purpose thereof.




One hundred percent of the proved developedproducing and undeveloped reserves included hevene estimated by analc
methods. The data utilized from the existing pridg wells to develop analogues were considereficgiit for the purpose thereof.

To estimate economically recoverable proved oil gad reserves and related future net cash flowsgamsider many factors a
assumptions including, but not limited to, the o$eeservoir parameters derived from geologicabpiwysical and engineering data that ca
be measured directly, economic criteria based orecticosts and SEC pricing requirements, and &stsoof future production rates. Undet
SEC regulations 210.206(a)(22)(v) and (26), proved reserves must becipatied to be economically producible from a gidate forwar
based on existing economic conditions including frices and costs at which economic producibilitpnf a reservoir is to |
determined. While it may reasonably be anticipated the future prices received for the sale ofdpction and the operating costs and ¢
costs relating to such production may increaseearahse from those under existing economic comditisuch changes were, in accord
with rules adopted by the SEC, omitted from consitien in making this evaluation.

Northern has informed us that they have furnishedluof the material accounts, records, geologaca engineering data, and rep
and other data required for this investigation.pheparing our forecast of future proved productéod income, we have relied upon ¢
furnished by Northern with respect to property iagts owned, production and well tests from exathinells, normal direct costs of opera
the wells or leases, other costs such as transiportgroduction taxes, completion and developnwrsts, abandonment costs after sah
product prices based on the SEC regulations, ad@rgs or differentials to product prices, geolobsteuctural and isochore maps. Ryder £
reviewed such factual data for its reasonablenkssiever, we have not conducted an independenticeatidn of the data furnished
Northern. We consider the factual data used is typort appropriate and sufficient for the purpospreparing the estimates of reserves
future net revenues herein.

In summary, we consider the assumptions, data, adstland analytical procedures used in this repaptapriate for the purpo
hereof, and we have used all such methods and qguoe® that we consider necessary and approprigpeefmare the estimates of rese
herein. The proved reserves included herein weterghined in conformance with the United StatesuSges and Exchange Commiss
(SEC) Modernization of Oil and Gas Reporting; FiRaile, including all references to Regulation Sl &egulation 3K, referred to here
collectively as the “SEC Regulationsli our opinion, the proved reserves presentedigréport comply with the definitions, guidelinesd
disclosure requirements as required by the SEQatgns.

Future Production Rates

For wells currently on production, our forecastdudfire production rates are based on historicdlopmance data. If no producti
decline trend has been established, future pramlucsites were held constant, or adjusted for tfeeisf of curtailment where appropriate, un
decline in ability to produce was anticipated. éstimated rate of decline was then applied to dieplef the reserves. If a decline trend
been established, this trend was used as thefbagistimating future production rates.

Test data and other related information were ugabstimate the anticipated initial production rétasthose wells or locations that
not currently producing. For reserves not yet andpction, sales were estimated to commence at rdicigated date furnished
Northern. Wells or locations that are not curnergtoducing may start producing earlier or latearthanticipated in our estimates du
unforeseen factors causing a change in the tingingitiate production. Such factors may includéagle due to weather, the availability of r
the sequence of drilling, completing and/or recatipfy wells and/or constraints set by regulatorglies.

The future production rates from wells currently pmoduction or wells or locations that are not eatly producing may be more
less than estimated because of changes includirtgpdd limited to, reservoir performance, operataunditions related to surface faciliti
compression and artificial lift, pipeline capacityd/or operating conditions, producing market dedreamd/or allowables or other constraints
by regulatory bodies.




Hydrocarbon Prices

The hydrocarbon prices used herein are based orp8E&£parameters using the average prices dunemd2month period prior to tt
ending date of the period covered in this repaterdmined as the unweighted arithmetic averagdiseoprices in effect on the first-day-of-the-
month for each month within such period, unlessqziwere defined by contractual arrangements. hiydrocarbon products sold un
contract, the contract prices, including fixed alederminable escalations, exclusive of inflatiojuatinents, were used until expiration of
contract. Upon contract expiration, the pricesenajusted to the 12-month unweighted arithmeteragye as previously described.

Northern furnished us with the above mentioned average piiteffect on December 31, 2013. These initiadC3Edrocarbon price
were determined using the 12-month average firgtadlahe-month benchmark prices appropriate to the geogcapihea where ti
hydrocarbons are sold. These benchmark pricepraoeto the adjustments for differentials as dimsat herein. The table below summar
the “benchmark prices” and “price referencsed for the geographic area included in the refartertain geographic areas, the price refel
and benchmark prices may be defined by contraetwahgements.

The product prices that were actually used to ddter the future gross revenue for each propertgeceédjustments to the benchmr
prices for gravity, quality, local conditions, gating and transportation fees and/or distance frowarket, referred to herein
“differentials.” The differentials used in the preparation of tleipart were furnished to us by Northern. The déffeials furnished to us we
accepted as factual data and reviewed by us far th@sonableness; however, we have not conducteddependent verification of the d
used by Northern to determine these differentials.

In addition, the table below summarizes the netima weighted benchmark prices adjusted for diffémémnand referred to herein
the “average realized pricesThe average realized prices shown in the tablenbalere determined from the total future gross rerecbefor
production taxes and the total net reserves fogugraphic area and presented in accordance &ithdisclosure requirements for each of
geographic areas included in the report.

Average
Price Benchmark Average Realizec
Geographic Area Product Reference Prices Prices
North America
United State QOil/Condensati WTI Cushing $96.78/Bbl $88.00/Bbl
Gas Henry Hub $3.67/MMBTU $5.23/MCF

The effects of derivative instruments designategrase hedges of oil and gas quantities are ndéctfd in our individual propet
evaluations.

Costs

Operating costs for the leases and wells in thp®ntewere furnished by Northern and are based erpfferating expense reports
Northern and include only those costs directly malle to the leases or wells. Certain water Hagdind disposal costs are included in
operating costs. The operating costs include digmoof general and administrative costs allocad@@ctly to the leases and wells. -
operating costs for nooperated properties include the COPAS overhead tbat are allocated directly to the leases antswelder terms «
operating agreements. The operating costs furdigh@s were accepted as factual data and revibyed for their reasonableness; howe
we have not conducted an independent verificatioth® operating cost data used by Northern. Naidiéoh was made for loan repayme
interest expenses, or exploration and developmepiayments that were not charged directly to theds or wells.

Development costs were furnished to us by Nortlaewh are based on authorizations for expenditur¢hmiproposed work or acti
costs for similar projects. The development césteished to us were accepted as factual data ewidwed by us for their reasonablen
however, we have not conducted an independenticagidn of these costs. The estimated net coabahdonment after salvage was inclt
for properties where abandonment costs net of galwgere significant. The estimates of the net dbament costs furnished by Northern v
accepted without independent verification.

The proved developed ngmmeducing and undeveloped reserves in this repave hbeen incorporated herein in accordance
Northerr's plans to develop these reserves as of Decenthe2@ 3. The implementation of Northesrdevelopment plans as presented -
and incorporated herein is subject to the apprpr@tess adopted by Northesmhanagement. As the result of our inquiries dytire course
preparing this report, Northern has informed ug¢ tha development activities included herein hagerbsubjected to and received the inte
approvals required by Northemnmanagement at the appropriate local, regionabamarporate level. In addition to the internppeovals a
noted, certain development activities may stillsbdject to specific partner AFE processes, Joirdr&ting Agreement (JOA) requirement:
other administrative approvals external to Northefwlditionally, Northern has informed us that thee not aware of any legal, regulat
political or economic obstacles that would sigrafidy alter their plans.

Current costs used by Northern were held constaatghout the life of the properties.




Standards of Independence and Professional Quaéfion

Ryder Scott is an independent petroleum engineeamgulting firm that has been providing petroletonsulting services throught
the world for over seventy-five years. Ryder S@tmployesswned and maintains offices in Houston, Texas; Ben@olorado; and Calga
Alberta, Canada. We have over eighty engineersgaudcientists on our permanent staff. By virtighe size of our firm and the lar
number of clients for which we provide services,simgyle client or job represents a material portboour annual revenue. We do not sen
officers or directors of any privately-owned or jidly-traded oil and gas company and are separate argdndent from the operating
investment decisiomaking process of our clients. This allows usriadthe highest level of independence and objégtte each engageme
for our services.

Ryder Scott actively participates in industefated professional societies and organizes anaamublic forum focused on the sub
of reserves evaluations and SEC regulations. Médmur staff have authored or emthored technical papers on the subject of reseplate:
topics. We encourage our staff to maintain anchaoé their professional skills by actively partatipg in ongoing continuing education.

Prior to becoming an officer of the Company, Ry8entt requires that staff engineers and geoscisritimve received professio
accreditation in the form of a registered or citifprofessional engineer’s license or a registerezkrtified professional geoscientssticense
or the equivalent thereof, from an appropriate goveental authority or a recognized self-regulafngfessional organization.

We are independent petroleum engineers with redpeblorthern. Neither we nor any of our employbase any interest in t
subject properties and neither the employment tthidowork nor the compensation is contingent onestimates of reserves for the prope
which were reviewed.

The results of this study, presented herein, ageda@n technical analysis conducted by teams ofajeutists and engineers fr
Ryder Scott. The professional qualifications &f tmdersigned, the technical person primarily resjide for overseeing the evaluation of
reserves information discussed in this reportjrmsikided as an attachment to this letter.

Terms of Usage

The results of our third party study, presentedejoort form herein, were prepared in accordanchk thié disclosure requirements
forth in the SEC regulations and intended for putlisclosure as an exhibit in filings made with 8#C by Northern.

Northern makes periodic filings on Form KOwith the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act@84. Furthermore, Northern |
filed certain registration statements with the SEfer the Securities Act of 1933 into which anysaguently filed Form 18 is incorporate
by reference. We have consented to the incormardty reference in the registration statementsa@mFS-3 and Form 8-of Northern of th
references to our name as well as to the referdnomsr third party report for Northern, which appein the December 31, 2013 annual re
on Form 10-K of Northern. Our written consent$ach use is included as a separate exhibit talthgs made with the SEC by Northern.

We have provided Northern with a digital versiortted original signed copy of this report letten the event there are any differer
between the digital version included in filings realdy Northern and the original signed report letthe original signed report letter si
control and supersede the digital version.

The data and work papers used in the preparatiothisf report are available for examination by adttes parties in ot
offices. Please contact us if we can be of furigevice.

Very truly yours,

RYDER SCOTT COMPANY, L.P.
TBPE Firm Registration No. F-1580

\s\ James L. Baird

James L. Baird, P.E.

Colorado License No. 41521
Managing Senior Vice President




Professional Qualifications of Primary Technical Peson

The conclusions presented in this report are theltref technical analysis conducted by teams okgientists and engineers from Ryder ¢
Company L.P. James Larry Baird was the primaryri@eth person responsible for overseeing the estirobithe reserves.

Mr. Baird, an employee of Ryder Scott Company L(Ryder Scott) since 2006, is a Managing Senior \Recesident and also serves
Manager of the Denver office, responsible for camting and supervising staff and consulting engiiaef the company in ongoing reser
evaluation studies worldwide. Before joining Rydmott, Mr. Baird served in a number of engineefogitions with Gulf Oil Corporatic
(1970-73), Northern Natural Gas (1973-75) and QueBkploration & Production (1975-2006). For monéormation regarding Mr. Baird’
geographic and job specific experience, please tefine Ryder Scott Company website at www.rydsttstom/Experience/Employees

Mr. Baird earned a Bachelor of Science degree tnoReim Engineering from the University of MissoatiRolla in 1970 and is a registe
Professional Engineer in the States of Coloradoltati. He is also a member of the Society of Petnol Engineers.

In addition to gaining experience and competeneputh prior work experience, the Colorado and UBmlard of Professional Engine
recommend continuing education annually, includibd¢east one hour in the area of professional sthibich Mr. Baird fulfills. As part of h
2011 continuing education hours, Mr. Baird attendednternally presented sixteehours of formalized training as well as an eighairhjublic
forum. Mr. Baird attended the 2010 and 2011 RSCeRes Conference and various professional societyeptations specifically on the r
SEC regulations relating to the definitions anctidisure guidelines contained in the United StatssuBties and Exchange Commission 1
17, Code of Federal Regulations, Modernization dfa@d Gas Reporting, Final Rule released Janudry?2@09 in the Federal Register.
Baird attended an additional sixteen hours of fdized in-house training during 2011, 2012 and 2013 covesngh topics as tl
SPE/WPC/AAPG/SPEE Petroleum Resources ManagemesterBy reservoir engineering, geoscience and patroleconomics evaluati
methods, reserve reconciliation processes, ovesvigwhe various productive basins of North Amerie@aluations of resource play reser
procedures and software and ethics for consultdhtsBaird was a keynote speaker, presenting then@img Landscape of the SEC Repor
at the 2009 Unconventional Gas International Camnfee held in Fort Worth, Texas.

Based on his educational background, professioaadihg and more than 40 years of practical expegen the estimation and evaluatior
petroleum reserves, Mr. Baird has attained theggsibnal qualifications as a Reserves EstimatoRasegrves Auditor set forth in Article 111
the “Standards Pertaining to the Estimating andittagl of Oil and Gas Reserves Informatiopfomulgated by the Society of Petrole
Engineers as of February 19, 2007.



